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PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW

A summary of the financial performance and other notable events
for the year ended 31 December 2024 include:

e A much-reduced loss attributable to shareholders of the
Company of approximately US$4.48 million, which was
mainly attributable to the Group’s operating and R&D
expenses of approximately US$4.99 million.

e A major milestone was achieved during the year when
Wanbang Biopharmaceutical submitted the NDA to NMPA
at the end of 2024, with approval expected 12 months
thereafter. In addition, Wanbang Biopharmaceutical received
confirmation from NMPA on 24 March 2025 that the NDA
registration dossier previously submitted has passed the first
stage of the NMPA review process where the dossier has met
all the regulatory requirements. NMPA will now proceed to
the next stage of the review process where it will undertake
a technical evaluation of the data submitted in the NDA, with
approval expected within 12 months from the submission
date. If the NMPA grants an import licence for Senstend™,
US$5 million (before deduction of PRC withholding tax) shall
be payable to the Group from Wanbang Biopharmaceutical.
In addition, upon first commercial sale of Senstend™ in
China, US$2 million (before deduction of PRC withholding
tax) shall be payable to the Group from Wanbang
Biopharmaceutical.

e  Signing of the manufacturing and supply agreement by
Wanbang Biopharmaceutical, Genetic S.p.A. (“Genetic”)
and Plethora Solutions Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company whereby Genetic will manufacture and supply
Senstend™ to Wanbang Biopharmaceutical for the PRC
market.

e As announced by the Company on 26 July 2024, the Group
has “out licensed” the rights to Fortacin™ to Kobayashi
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. for the Japanese market.

e In respect of the progress being made with Fortacin™ in
the US, the Company has completed the evaluation of two
proposals from reputable clinical research organisations in
respect of undertaking the Phase 3 clinical studies in the US.
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e  Recordati continues to receive uninterrupted supply of
Fortacin™ and the leading markets for the product are Italy
and Germany.

e In respect of the other territories, being certain countries in
South-East Asia, our licensees are continuing their discussions
with the new manufacturer on terms for (i) regulatory
support for submitting a variation to the relevant health
authority for the appointment of the new manufacturer;
and (i) commercial terms for the manufacture and supply of
Fortacin™ for their respective territories.

e  From a business development standpoint, the Group has
continued to implement and integrate Deep Longevity with
our existing business. Deep Longevity is continuing its growth
journey with multiple initiatives around building out the
team, product, technology and commercial models. Deep
Longevity is committed to building and commercialising
various aging clocks using its leading Al led deep learning
technology.

With a streamlined focus, the Company remains excited about
the future prospects for the Group and the Shareholders and
will: (i) continue to pursue the successful commercialisation of
Fortacin™/Senstend™ in the remaining key markets of China,
the US, South-East Asia, Japan, Latin America and the Middle
East; (i) commercialise its deep learning aging clock technology
and MindAge® offering, together with partnering with clinics,
laboratories and insurance companies by offering its AgeMetric™
reports and access to its online software as a service (SaaS)®
platform; and (iii) continue with its existing strategy of pursuing
strategic and value-led investments in the healthcare and life
sciences sectors.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERWBS

Dear Shareholders

2024 was another year for strategic progress for our Company,
it marked several significant milestones in our strategic journey.
Our commercial strategic partner, Wanbang Biopharmaceutical,
submitted the NDA to the NMPA in China at the end of the year.
In addition, Wanbang Biopharmaceutical received confirmation
from NMPA on 24 March 2025 that the NDA registration dossier
previously submitted has passed the first stage of the NMPA
review process where the dossier has met all the regulatory
requirements. NMPA will now proceed to the next stage of the
review process where it will undertake a technical evaluation of the
data submitted in the NDA. Wanbang Biopharmaceutical expects
to receive marketing authorisation within 12 months from the
submission date provided that there are no deficiencies received
from the NMPA. Once approved, the Group expects to receive
US$5 million (before withholding tax) and a further US$2 million
(before withholding tax) on commercialisation in China. We also
out licensed the rights to Fortacin™ to Kobayashi Pharmaceutical
for the Japanese market and finalised the phase 3 clinical study
budgets with our contract research organisation (CRO) for the
US market. Our R&D at Deep Longevity has yielded a new large
language model (“LLM") that is being well received by our
customers. We are now looking to bring on new customers during
this year and beyond.

We remain excited about the future potential of Senstend™
where the drug has the potential to help an initial target market of
approximately 9 million patients in China in its first year of launch,
growing to over 170 million patients by its tenth year. We have
a strong partner in Wanbang Biopharmaceutical, that benefits
from being part of the Fosun's network. This company has the
marketing expertise, established e-commerce platforms and an
unrivalled national distribution network of hospitals, clinics and
pharmacies to help ensure the commercial success of Senstend™
in China.

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R A F ¥ EEEBERAE

RS SRR

“ETNFEERAARB—RESHEBHER
N—F BEZERMNEBEZRPERSE T

BEEB - RMOEEERSEBHIIEH
BARBRENEREATBREERERGEEEER
RXIMERFWLIN T IHEABEEN _-Z
“THE=ZRTHHRIBEREmREEEE
Bz s kAR MEFRFEIMERZER
BEREREEEERIBREFFEF KR
ZERE R EMEEERE BAREREE
EERRBEBET T BENTERR
HG S #PAmiE XN BB E TR Tt o
HEREREEEER L BBV AGRAE
IEEMEEATBRTABEI1I2EERNE
BEHFY B/ ER AEBEFHER
REIR 1 #185,000,000% 5T (FAIOIR
A1) K #E41M2,000,0003% 7t (FRIDIRAD) ° FAITR
EffFortacin™iEFHINEEF B AT HH
Kobayashi Pharmaceutical > i £2 3 f89 & B B
I B(CRO)BE E B M5 A 5% = HAER PR A 58
FEE o Ff9r Deep LongevityRIFF 25 > AR THEE &
HFNARBEEBSRE (TLLM))  BREFRFR
WeHMRESKNEAFERKREKSIATE
o

F ¥ Senstend ™I R R BN RA TR MIE L
ZEEY) ] BETE LT S — ERLAE E B R EIA9900
BREENVREZEMIS UWEHEHFEME
B17RZEBEZ -HMBRANGIEBRHILIE
BB FABEEREN -0 IEEH
BEBZEEEENTISEHAM UANETE
BEEUKRELAMBLLNEEERT 52 P RS
DI HBLE > BB R {RSenstend ™7 R ER S
[GEIo2EK



We have a clear strategic plan to drive robust value enhancing
growth by generating royalties and milestones from existing “out
licensing” agreements and unlocking the remaining key market —
the US by “out licensing” the US rights to Fortacin™, which we
expect would fund the phase 3 clinical study.

And lastly, Deep Longevity, a company that has Al enabled
aging clocks for helping extend health span and lifespan, has
made further progress in 2024 on several initiatives including
the launch of our new LLM and acquiring additional customers,
with the onboarding of our first customer in China. Our mission
at Deep Longevity is to revolutionise the journey of longevity by
providing advanced, scientifically backed reliable ageing clocks and
preventative health solutions. The market is massive, worth over
US$6 trillion, and our Al enabled technology provides entry into
this large and growing longevity and global wellness market.

From a business development standpoint, we will continue to
pursue our growth journey at Deep Longevity with multiple
initiatives around building out the team, products, technology and
commercial models across our business. Our efforts will focus on
revenue growth by connecting with various industries, primarily
providers, insurers, hospitals, software & apps makers, and
governments.

OUR PERFORMANCE

During the year, the Group recorded a much-reduced loss
attributable to shareholders of the Company of approximately
US$4.48 million as compared to last year, which was mainly
attributable to the Group’s operating and R&D expenses of
approximately US$4.99 million.

Overall, we are pleased with the performance of our business in
2024 and our performance is also linked to the hard work of our
team. The Group has a commitment to sustainability.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFEERS

OUTLOOK RE

Looking ahead, in 2025 we will continue to build on our strengths. BERK > HARFNR S _ A FEEZEE
We remain cautiously optimistic about market conditions while 2 HFIH T RITE BLBEE [ K H M5

staying alert to the geopolitical and macroeconomic uncertainties. AR AEREENTREEREEIR - KMEK
Our strategic priorities for the coming year include: R—ENBIREREIE .

e Seeking a commercial strategic partner for “out licensing” ¢ FXEEBRBRSIEBMH  LUITHIMNEE)
the US rights to Fortacin™ Fortacin ™ 2 B R F|

.

e Assisting Wanbang Biopharmaceutical in obtaining the NDA ¢ #BENIHBHBESEREREEEE
from NMPA and with their pre-commercialisation activities BESHER R WEITE X RS E

e Driving revenue growth at Deep Longevity and expanding its ®  #&Deep LongevityBIW ALE RITIEAH

presence in China RARENHER
e  Further enhancing operational efficiency s E—IDIRESEEMX
e  Continuing our commitment to sustainable practices . EEEITHRMAN T REZRERNES

The Company wishes to thank our Shareholders for their HRABROLRHBRZIFEST TRBHETL
continued support and our employees for their hard work in  EX —E7 mPE R EIR 2 FEIBH B EA
another challenging but rewarding year. Bkl

We enter the new financial year with confidence in our strategy ?JMFN% EH BB HE 0 e B R 2R IS R B 5

and excitement about the opportunities that lie ahead. BEFTNMBEE -
James Mellon =

Chairman James Mellon

27 March 2025 “EZHRFE=RBZ+tH
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The Directors of the Company are pleased to present their report
and the audited financial statements of the Company and the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Consolidated
Financial Statements”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company's principal activity is investment holding, and the
Group's principal activities consist of investments in biopharma
companies and other corporate investments. Details of the
principal activities of the principal subsidiaries of the Group are set
out in note 19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

RESULTS

The Group's results for the year ended 31 December 2024 are
set out in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income on pages 119 and 120.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil). No interim
dividends were paid for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
nil).

The Board will evaluate its dividend policy and distributions made
in any particular year in light of its financial position, the prevailing
economic climate and expectations about the future macro-
economic environment and business performance and may adopt
changes as appropriate. Details of the dividend policy are set out in
the “Corporate Governance Report” of the 2024 Annual Report.
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY hFEHBHE
The results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for the AEEXRFERBENBEMBFEZXER
current year and the last four financial years (extracted from the EBEHRSEME > NHEECERUBRE
audited financial statements and reclassified as appropriate) are set I B@E M E/M DT ¢
out below:
Results: 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
E 3 ZEIME 2= ZEBICHf B4 ZEITF
US$°000 Us$'000 US$'000 Us$'000 US$'000
FEx FET FE FET FET
Total revenue and fair value gain/(loss) B ARER/IEZ
on financial instruments AREERT
(&518) 656 (539) (4,020 18,235 2,149
Revenue less expenses before reversal/ W AR #[El,/ CR{EES

(impairment losses) and provision 1B MBI 2 H (4,337) (27,713) (34,995) (13,873) (24,880)
Reversal of impairment BEREE] - - - = 6,126
Impairment losses BERE - (2,670) = = (5,700)
Operating loss after reversal/ BEl/ (RESE &

(impairment loss) and provision BEREBERE (4,337) (30,383) (34,995) (13,873) (24,454)
Finance costs RE A (171) (80) (1,013) (1,218) (1,706)
Loss before taxation PRIR AR 1B (4,508) (30,463) (36,008) (15,091) (26,160)
Income tax credit/(expense) PRSI %,/ ) 26 5414 419 2,493 1,764
Loss for the year EEERHE (4,482) (25,049) (36,427) (12,598) (24,396)
Non-controlling interests ElS 2 - - = = 1
Loss attributable to shareholders KABIRRIELEIE

of the Company (4,482) (25,049) (36,427) (12,598) (24,395)

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R A F ¥ EEEBERAE



DIRECTORS' REPORT

= &=
ERGRE
FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY (conTinuED) IEMBHEE @
Assets and liabilities: 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
BERAE: ZEmE —F-=-f CE-"F T -fF _—Z°TF
UsS$'000 Us$'000 US$'000 UsS$'000 Us$'000
FEr = T=n FTEx T=rn
Property, plant and equipment EN Y 8 10 27 38 16
Right-of-use assets FREEE - - 276 746 1,192
Intangible assets BVEE - - 23,702 48,654 72,418
Interests in an associate BENBER 1 = 1 1 1
Financial assets at fair value through other /A RBET AEM
comprehensive income FENAZEREE - =* —* =* =*
Asset classified as held-for-sale NRAREHEEE - 1 = = =
Current assets REEE 601 2,784 2,312 12,790 6,683
Total assets BEMRE 610 2,795 26,318 62,229 80,310
Current liabilities nEEE (5,649) (3,581) (18,316) (10,923) (9,105)
Non-current liabilities EISTE) =X (862) (765) (5,405) (12,537) (20,900)
Total liabilities =NEREE (6,511) (4,346) (23,721) (23,460) (30,005)
Net (liabilities)/Net assets (Bf) FE/EE
FE (5,901) (1,551) 2,597 38,769 50,305

*  Amount is less than US$1,000.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group during the year, a
discussion and analysis of the Group's business development and
performance during the year and any significant events since the
end of the financial year, the principal risks and uncertainties that
the Group maybe facing, an analysis of the Group’s performance
during the year using financial key performance indicators, the
material factors underlying the results and financial position,
and the likely future development of the business of the Group
are set out in the “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of the Group’s Performance” of the 2024
Annual Report. The financial risk management objectives and
policies of the Group are shown in note 37 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Discussions on the Group's environmental and social policies
and performance, relationships with its key stakeholders and
compliance with relevant laws and regulations which have a
significant impact on the Group are set out in the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” and the “Corporate Governance
Report” of the 2024 Annual Report.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
ERTHRS

BUSINESS REVIEW (continueD)

The Group has complied in all material aspects with relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the operations of
the Group. Policies and practices are regularly reviewed to ensure
adherence to applicable laws, rules and regulations, in particular,
those with significant impact on the Group.

The Group believes that Directors, senior management and
employees are instrumental to the success of the Group. The
Share Option Scheme (2016) was adopted by the Company for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to the eligible
participants who contributed to the success of the Group. The
Group also provides a safe and pleasant working environment
and facilitates trainings for career development of employees
to encourage improvement. To value the health and well-being
of employees, the Group also provides employees with medical
insurance benefits.

The Group also believes that maintaining good relationships with
key stakeholders including customers and suppliers is one of the
key contributors to the success of its businesses. The Group is
satisfied that a stable and long-term relationships with a number
of key customers and suppliers is maintained.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group are set
out in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of the Group's
Performance” of the 2024 Annual Report.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Group are set out in
note 19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 14 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

GOODWILL

Goodwill of the Group was fully impaired in prior years.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND OPTIONS

As at 31 December 2024, the total issued ordinary share capital of
the Company consisted of 228,438,619 Shares. Subsequent to the
year ended 31 December 2024 and prior to the date of this report,
the total issued ordinary share capital of the Company consisted of
228,438,619 Shares. Details of the authorised issued share capital
and Options of the Company for the year are set out in notes 25
and 31 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(1) Share capital

As at 1 January 2024, the total issued ordinary share capital
of the Company consisted of 228,392,286 Shares.

On 14 July 2024, the Company issued and allotted 46,333
new Shares for the share award granted to Dr Eric Verdin,
MD and Dr Vadim N. Gladyshev, PhD under the then general
mandate pursuant to the relevant consulting agreements. Full
details are set out in the Company’s announcements dated
14 July 2021, 26 July 2021, 29 March 2023, 1 June 2023,
the Company’s circular dated 27 April 2023 and notes 25(f)
and 31(2) to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

As at 31 December 2024, the total issued ordinary share
capital of the Company consisted of 228,438,619 Shares.
Subsequent to the year ended 31 December 2024 and as at
the date of this report, the total issued ordinary share capital
of the Company consisted of 228,438,619 Shares.

As at 31 December 2024 and as at the date of this report,
the Company did not have any Treasury Shares.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 December
2024 and as at the date of this report, there were no
changes in the authorised share capital of the Company and
no Shares were repurchased by the Company.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ERTHRS
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SHARE CAPITAL AND OPTIONS (continuep)

(2) Share Option Scheme (2016)

A summary of the terms of the Share Option Scheme (2016)
adopted by the Company on 10 June 2016 and other details
are set out in note 31(1) to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

As of 1 January 2024, 31 December 2024 and the date of
this report, the number of Options available for grant under
the Scheme was 1,956,532 Options, 2,456,532 Options and
2,456,532 Options respectively, subject to refreshment of the
scheme mandate limit.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no Options were
granted or exercised.

A summary of the particulars and movements of the Options
for the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out below:

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R A F ¥ EEEBERAE

RARERRE @
(2) EERRHEE (ZZ—7N)

KRABRZF—AREBTHRMZE
REE (CT—70) 2R EREM
SHBEN RS MBRERMEE31(1)e

RIEZMNFE—B—H-ZZZOAF
+ZBE=+—BREAKREBH RE
HEAREEZEREHE DA
1,956,53217 BE A& #E ~ 2,456,53217 BE A& 1
$22,456,53217 BB IG #E > M AT @B 5T 8%
TEPREE BT LA

RBEE_Z_NF+__A=+—HLF
B WEEHSITERRE-

BE_Z_NFE+-A=+—HLFE
ZREREFBEREHBEHIIWT



DIRECTORS' REPORT

= (=
EEEHRE
SHARE CAPITAL AND OPTIONS (continueD) BeAs R FE A1 o)
(2) Share Option Scheme (2016) (Continued) (2) HBRESE (CZS—N) @
Number of OEtions
e
Number of
Exercised Options vested/
Date of Adjusted  Outstanding Granted during Lapsed  Outstanding Vesting (unvested)
rant exercise price asat during the year durin asat date  Expirydate asat31.12.204
Name or Category of Grantees ?note 1) (HKS)  01.01.2024* the year (note 2) theyear  31.12.204 (note 2) (note 2) - (not.e é)
- KoBomE +=AZ1-87
R ) 128 2R, (480
. btz e -A-B EhiT =t-B  BERR  EXEN FiiEE
REAERFER (Haz1) (Bm)  BXO EAEY (W2  FRXH HEG 1§ (Ha2) li2) (i2)]
Directors
James Mellon 14102020 3.000 91,557 - - - 91557 1410201 13.10.2030 30519
14102022 13102030 30519
1410203 13102030 30519
Jamie Gibson 14.10.2020 3.000 915,564 - - - 915564  14.10.2021 13.10.2030 305,188
14102022 13102030 305,188
14102023 13102030 305,188
Jayne Sutdliffe 14102020 3.000 91,557 - - - 91557 14102021 13.10.2030 30519
14.10.2022 13.10.2030 30,519
14102023 13102030 30519
Mark Searle 14102020 3.000 91,557 - - - 91557 14102021 13.10.2030 30519
14102022 13102030 30519
14102023 13102030 30519
1EEm‘L)onees 14102020 3.000 697,762 - - - 697,762 14.10.2021 13.10.2030 232,586
8
14102022 13102030 232,586
14102023 13102030 232,590
Emgloyees 17.12.2020 3680 897,125 = = = 897,125 Note 1(b)  16.12.2030 (897,125)
&g Hz1(b)
glo Te;s (n(;te 1(e) 03.05.2023 1560 2,400,000 - - - 2400000 03052024 02.05.2033 799,997
1
03052025  02.05.2033 (799,997)
03052026 02.05.2033 (800,006)
Other (notes 1(e) and 5) 03.05.2023 1560 500,000 - - (500,000 - 03052024 02052033 -
Bt (53F1(e)55)
03052025  02.05.2033 -
03052026 02.05.2033 =
Other (note 5) 07.06.2021 3720 124,601 = = = 124,601 07062022 06.06.2031 41,533
£t (5z£)
07.06.2023  06.06.2031 41533
07.06.2024  06.06.2031 41,535
Other (note 5) 03.05.2023 1.560 920,000 = = = 920000  03.052024  0205.2033 306,666
At (5z£)
03052025  02.05.2033 (306,666)
03052026  02.05.2033 (306,668)
Total 6,729,123 - - (500,0000  6,229.723
Eh

* Adjusted number of outstanding Options after Rights Issue
and Share Consolidation during the year ended 31 December

2023.

* REECFC=H+_A=T—BLE
ERBRBH A GHRATERREZC
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SHARE CAPITAL AND OPTIONS (continuep)

(2) Share Option Scheme (2016) (Continued)

Notes:

1.

Acceptance of an offer of the grant of an Option shall be
completed by the delivery of a form of acceptance together
with a remittance for HK$10.00 (or such higher or lower
amount as the Directors may from time to time determine) by
the Eligible Participant, by way of consideration for the grant.

Details of the adjustments to the exercise price and the
number of outstanding Options immediately after the
completion of the Rights Issue on 12 January 2023 and the
completion of the Share Consolidation on 5 June 2023 are set
out in the Company’s announcements dated 11 January 2023
and 1 June 2023, and the 2023 Annual Report.

(@ On 14 October 2020, the Company granted
62,718,000 Options to Directors and employees
(comprising 25,718,000 Options for Directors and
37,000,000 Options for employees) with an exercise
price of HK$0.149 per Share (adjusted to HK$0.150 per
Share upon completion of the Rights Issue and further
adjusted to HK$3.000 per Share upon completion of
the Share Consolidation). The closing price immediately
before the date on which the Options were granted
was HK$0.156 per Share. Further details are set out in
the announcements of the Company dated 15 October
2020 and 20 October 2020.

(b) On 17 December 2020, the Company granted
18,000,000 Options to an employee, formerly a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Group at the time of the
grant, with an exercise price of HK$0.183 per Share
(adjusted to HK$0.184 per Share upon completion of
the Rights Issue and further adjusted to HK$3.680 per
Share upon completion of the Share Consolidation).
The closing price immediately before the date on which
the Options were granted was HK$0.183 per Share.
The Options granted are exercisable after one year
but not exceeding 10 years from the date of the grant
and subject to fulfilment of the various targets. Upon
vesting and within such exercise period, the Option
holder is entitled to exercise:

(i) as to one-third after the first anniversary date
of the date of grant, provided that the FDA has
approved the start of the Phase Il clinical trial for
Fortacin™;
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SHARE CAPITAL AND OPTIONS (continuep)

(2) Share Option Scheme (2016) (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

1.

(Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

(i) as to one-third after an “out-licencing deal” for
the US has been signed and announced; and

(i) as to one-third on the successful completion of
Study 008 (defined to mean it meets its primary
and secondary end points) and the FDA has
granted the NDA for Fortacin™.

As at 31 December 2024, the targets were not fulfilled
and no Option was vested. Further details are set
out in the announcements of the Company dated
18 December 2020 and 30 December 2020.

On 7 June 2021, the Company granted 2,500,000
Options to a consultant of a subsidiary of the
Company, namely Leverage IQ lberica SL, of which
Mr Lars Gehrmann is a director as well as the only and
ultimate shareholder and who is not a director of the
Group, for the services rendered pursuant to the terms
of the consulting agreement, with an exercise price
of HK$0.185 per Share (adjusted to HK$0.186 per
Share upon completion of the Rights Issue and further
adjusted to HK$3.720 per Share upon completion of
the Share Consolidation). The closing price immediately
before the date on which the Options were granted
was HK$0.179 per Share. Further details are set out
in the announcements of the Company dated 8 June
2021 and 15 June 2021.

On 3 May 2023, the Company granted a total of
76,400,000 Options to employees of the Group and
a consultant of a subsidiary of the Company with an
exercise price of HK$0.078 per Share (adjusted to
HK$1.560 per Share upon completion of the Share
Consolidation). Out of which, (i) 58,000,000 Options
were granted to certain eligible employees of the
Group; (ii) 18,400,000 Options were granted to FOKI
Limited, of which Mr Deepankar Nayak is a director as
well as the only and ultimate shareholder and who is
not a director of the Group, for the services rendered
pursuant to the terms of the consulting agreement.
The closing price immediately before the date on which
the Options were granted was HK$0.056 per Share.
Further details are set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 4 May 2023 and 18 May 2023.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND OPTIONS (continuep)

(2) Share Option Scheme (2016) (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

1.

(Continued)

(e)

Out of the 58,000,000 Options granted to certain
eligible employees of the Group on 3 May 2023, an
employee of the Group, as at the date of grant, who
was granted 10,000,000 Options at an exercise price
of HK$0.078 per Share on the date of grant (adjusted
to 500,000 Options at an exercise price of HK$1.560
per Share upon completion of the Share Consolidation),
resigned as an employee of the Group and entered into
a consulting agreement with DLL dated 1 November
2023 to act as a consultant to DLL (the “Consultant”)
with effect from 1 November 2023. The Remuneration
Committee and the Board were of the view that since
the Consultant, who is not a director of the Group,
shall provide consultancy services to DLL under the
consulting agreement, mainly on the provision of
scientific advice, product development, marketing
and business development which are regarded as a
continuation of his services rendered during his tenure
with the Group, therefore, his Options remain aligned
with the purpose of the Scheme; he shall remain an
Eligible Participant as a consultant under the Scheme
with effect from the date of the consulting agreement;
and all his Options shall not lapse but continue to be
exercisable until the expiry of the Option period. On
1 September 2024, the 500,000 Options were lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the Scheme following the
termination of his consulting agreement.

Save as disclosed herein, no Options were granted to or held
by (i) any Directors, chief executive or substantial shareholders
of the Company, or their respective associates; (i) any
participants in excess of the 1% individual limit referred to
under the Listing Rules; (iii) any related entity participant or
service provider (as defined under the Listing Rules) in any
12-month period exceeding 0.1% of the relevant class of
shares in issue; or (iv) other employee participants, related
entity participants and service providers during the year ended
31 December 2024 and up to the date of this report.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND OPTIONS (continuep)

(2) Share Option Scheme (2016) (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

2.

The exercise periods of the Options start from the respective
vesting dates and end on the respective expiry dates.

Except for 1(b) above, the Options shall vest over a period
of three years starting from the date of the grant, entitling
the holders to exercise one-third of the Options at each of
the first, second and third anniversary dates after the date of
the grant. The Options granted are exercisable after one year
but not exceeding 10 years from the date of the grant. Any
entitlements unexercised in any prior period may be carried
forward to the following periods but, in any event, must be
exercised within 10 years from the date of the grant of the
Options. All entitlements then remain unexercised will lapse.

On 3 May 2024, (i) 799,997 Options granted to employees;
(ii) 166,666 Options granted to a consultant to DLL, formerly
an employee of the Group at the time of the grant; and (iii)
306,666 Options granted to a consultant of a subsidiary of
the Company, namely FOKI Limited, of which Mr Deepankar
Nayak is a director as well as the only and ultimate
shareholder and who is not a director of the Group, were fully
vested and exercisable in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme. None of the above Options were exercised during
the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this
report.

On 7 June 2024, 41,535 Options granted to a consultant of a
subsidiary of the Company, namely Leverage IQ Iberica SL, of
which Mr Lars Gehrmann is a director as well as the only and
ultimate shareholder and who is not a director of the Group,
were fully vested and exercisable in accordance with the terms
of the Scheme. None of the above Options were exercised
during the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date
of this report.

Save as disclosed herein, no Options were vested or exercised
during the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date
of this report.

Save as disclosed herein, no Options were lapsed or cancelled
during the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date
of this report.

Besides Directors, chief executive and employees, other
eligible participants of the Scheme include consultants and
service providers of the Group.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to Shareholders by paying out of share premium
account, calculated in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act (Revised) of the Cayman Islands and subject to
the provisions of the Company’s Article of Association, amounted
to approximately US$294 million (2023: approximately US$294
million), which may be distributed provided that immediately
following the date on which a dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts
as and when they fall due in the ordinary course of business, in
accordance with the Company's Articles of Association.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in the Consolidated
Statement of Changes in Equity and note 32(b) to the
Consolidated Financial Statements respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company's Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

For the year ended 31 December 2024, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities (including Treasury Shares).

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company did not have
any Treasury Shares.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
report, there is public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s
issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R A F ¥ EEEBERAE

IRt i3t 4

R_BE_WME+_B=+—H REWNESEHS
NENE @B BGTERERABABER
HAMESCAIRE T AR B BRMREIRTX
A 27Kk T B BR AV (5 49 23294,000,000F 7T
TE T =4 49294,000,000% 7T) 0 A5
KOHEREBEZSRREBRE AARAE
BREDREBEAABDABKERZMAEZRELNE
BESBETISENES-

FEBREIRBDNRERZEFEESFIBEDR
FRGo oS8R RES M HRERMEE
32(b)e

BAMEE

ARAEEBERMANHAESEHBEFIER
EXRRBDLABRBRRZ LA ZEEMRND
ZBSIRERIR

fBEl - & R B Rl E g 5

HE_ZE_NE+_BA=+—HLIEFE &AQ
BIRET A B AT EBERL - B E kB A
NEEM EHES (BEEEFERG) o

BE_Z-MET-B=+—ALEFE AA
=) AT B B o
ABFFRE

REBEXARBAIREZAREN RIEESPIA
BEARSHE BEBHRBE 2272
BITRNZ RABFREFDI25%



THE CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted its own Securities Dealing Code
regarding securities transactions by Directors and relevant
employees on terms no less exacting than the required standards
set out in the Model Code. Reminders are sent to the Directors
and relevant employees that they should comply with the
restriction on dealing of the securities of the Company during the
blackout periods as specified in the Securities Dealing Code. The
Securities Dealing Code is available on the Company’s website.

Having made specific enquiries with the Directors, the Company
confirmed that all Directors have complied with the required
standards set out in the Securities Dealing Code and the Model
Code during the year ended 31 December 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has
applied all of the principles of the CG Code and complied with the
applicable Code Provisions of the CG Code. Further details of the
corporate governance practices of the Company are set out in the
“Corporate Governance Report” of the 2024 Annual Report.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year ended 31 December
2024 and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Director:

Jamie Gibson (CEO)

NEDs:

James Mellon (Chairman)
Jayne Sutcliffe

INEDs:

Mark Searle
Adrian Chan
Ihsan Al Chalabi
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DIRECTORS (conTinuED)

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in section
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” of the
2024 Annual Report.

Pursuant to Article 87 of the Articles of Association, at each annual
general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being shall
retire from office by rotation and, pursuant to Code Provision B.2.2
of the CG Code set out in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules, every
director, including those appointed for a specific term, should be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
Thus, Jamie Gibson and Adrian Chan shall retire from office by
rotation at the 2025 AGM, and being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election.

In accordance with Article 86(3) of the Articles of Association,
any Director so appointed at any time shall hold office only
until the first annual general meeting of the Company after his
appointment and shall then be eligible for election. Ihsan Al
Chalabi who was appointed as an INED on 15 August 2023 retired
and was re-elected at the 2024 AGM.

The Board has considered the opinion of the Nomination
Committee and agreed with the Nomination Committee’s
recommendation for the re-election of Mark Searle, who has
served as an INED for more than nine years, as an INED, at
the 2024 AGM. Details of the opinion of the Board and the
Nomination Committee required to be disclosed under Code
Provision B.2.3 of the CG Code set out in Appendix C1 of the
Listing Rules was set out in the Company’s circular dated 25 April
2024.

Pursuant to Rule 13.74 of the Listing Rules, the biographical details
of the Directors who are proposed to be re-elected at the 2025
AGM will be set out in the Company’s circular to the Shareholders
and/or explanatory statement accompany the notice of the 2025
AGM. All retiring Directors have confirmed that there is no other
information to be disclosed pursuant to the requirements of Rule
13.51(2) of the Listing Rules and there are no other matters that
need to be brought to the attention of the Shareholders.

The Company considers all INEDs are independent and
has received from each of the INEDs a confirmation of his
independence during their tenure for the year ended 31 December
2024.
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DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors (including those proposed for re-election
at the 2025 AGM) has a service contract with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation), except that: (i) the advisory agreement
of James Mellon specifies that his appointment as an advisor of
the Company may be terminated by either party giving one year’s
written notice and (i) the service agreement of Jamie Gibson may
be terminated by either party giving one year's written notice.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the Directors had the following
beneficial interests in the shares, underlying shares (in respect of
positions held pursuant to equity derivatives) and debentures of
the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO), which were recorded in the Register of
Directors’ and Chief Executive's Interests and Short Positions
required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO
or which were otherwise notified to the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including those
interests which the Directors were deemed or taken to have under
such provisions of the SFO) or pursuant to the Model Code as set
out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules:
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (conTinuED)

EFRETEITHASRRG 18R
RREFZEGRRE @

BmEBEA

a. Shares
Number of
Shares held Approximate % of
Name of Director Capacity (notes 1 and 2) issued Shares
#FEN
RIZHE (EBRITRKGZ
S &5 (PsE1%2) Baatt
James Mellon Beneficial owner 40,380,607
(note 3) EmEEA
(M5E3) Interests held by controlled corporations 88,772,977
ERABMEA 2 Em
129,153,584 56.56%
Jamie Gibson Beneficial owner 6,939,674 3.04%
BmEBA
Jayne Sutcliffe Beneficial owner 85,802 0.04%
EmBEEA
Mark Searle Beneficial owner 23,561
(note 4) BEREAA
(M5E4) Family interest 31,415
e g
Beneficiary of a trust 163,778
EstRmA
218,754 0.10%
Adrian Chan - - -
PRoh &
lhsan Al Chalabi Beneficial owner 15,750 0.01%
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (conTinuED)

a. Shares (Continued)

Notes:

1. Directors’ personal interests in Shares as stated above are long
positions interests. There are no short position interests held
by any Director.

2. These numbers do not include the number of Shares to be
issued upon exercise of Options, if any, held by the Directors
as disclosed below.

3. As at 31 December 2024, an aggregate of 88,772,977 Shares
were held by Indigo and Galloway which are beneficially
wholly-owned by Mr James Mellon, each holding 2,579,190
Shares and 86,193,787 Shares respectively.

4. As at 31 December 2024, 163,778 Shares were held to the
order of a pension fund, of which Mr Mark Searle was the
sole beneficiary and 31,415 Shares were held by his spouse,
Juliet Mary Druce Searle.

b. Options

Details of the Directors’ interests in the Options under the
Share Option Scheme (2016) are set out in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme (2016)” and note 31(1) to
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024 and the date
of this report, none of the Directors or chief executive of the
Company had any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares (in respect of positions held pursuant to equity
derivatives) or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO or pursuant to the Model Code as set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules.
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3. RZE_ONFE+ZA=+—H &#
88,772,9778% i& 15 HJames Mellonst 4
BmEE¥AE ZIndigokGalloway$F
B &EEDHHFE2,579,190R KR MD K&
86,193,787 &% °

4. RIZ_ME+"HA=+—H163,778
BB ThH—BEARESFE  Mark
Searlet £ AZBRAREE 2 H—T @
A T31,4158% 8815 Th EEMark  Searlest 4=
2 Fic fBJuliet Mary Druce Searlef¥ 7 °

b. EERGHE
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31(1)e
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTORS'
INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS

No connected transactions, arrangement or contract of
significance in which a Director or an entity connected with a
Director is or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly,
were conducted or subsisted during the year ended 31 December
2024.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE RIGHTS ISSUE

The Rights Issue was completed on 12 January 2023. The gross
proceeds from the Rights Issue (before the Set Off and expenses)
were approximately HK$170.08 million (or approximately
US$21.67 million) and the net proceeds from the Rights Issue
(before the Set Off and after deducting the estimated expenses
of approximately HK$6.28 million (or approximately US$0.80
million)) were approximately HK$163.80 million (or approximately
US$20.87 million). In its announcement of 26 September
2022, the Company mentioned that it intended to apply the
net proceeds to (i) approximately 63.63% (up to approximately
HK$104.23 million, or approximately US$13.28 million) for the
Set Off upon completion of the Rights Issue; (ii) approximately
26.37% (up to approximately HK$43.19 million, or approximately
US$5.50 million) for implementation of business development
plan as described under the paragraph headed “Business
development” in the prospectus dated 13 December 2022; and
(iii) the remaining 10.00% (up to approximately HK$16.38 million,
or approximately US$2.09 million) as general working capital of
the Group.

As at 31 December 2024, the net proceeds from the Rights Issue
had been fully utilised as follows:

Proposed use of net proceeds
as disclosed in the announcement
on 11 January 2023
—E_ZE-At+-HAKRKE

Actual use of net proceeds
up to 31 December 2024
EEZ¥_ME+ZA=+-H

MEXZREENRS RHREE
Rz

REEZZ-NFE+_B=+—HILEE #
BECTHFEEFTNAESTEHENERE
BYBEERETHAEARGNRERS  Z
BFREEEY-

R ZFRSRIRFERRAR

HRENR S _=ZF—HBA+_H=m i
ZHTISRIB4EEE R RINBEXA) N5
170,080,0007 7t (204921,670,000% 7T) K i
2 Fri8 7B F 5 (R al I BREE X
#96,280,00078 7t (3¢ 49800,0003=7T) &) 495
163,800,00078 75 (8(4920,870,000FE 7T) ° A7
NBEHBA_Z__FAB_+/BHNAM
Frat » E#E i FTiS sIEF 88 (1)4963.63% (&
2%#9104,230,00078 7530 4913,280,000% 70) i
ST R AR IEE ;(i1)4926.37% (RZ L
43,190,000/ 7530 495,500,000%& 75) AR H
AT "E+_A+=-HZHRERIE
BRI —KREBETARTERERESE &
(iR 10.00% (5% #%916,380,00078 753047
2,090,000%7T) BIEAERN—REEES

A TEIME+ " A=+—H HRZAEMR
HFHETHIANT

Unutilised net proceeds
as of 31 December 2024
BE_T_mE+-A=1+—-H

ZEERIERENEERE ZEERIERENER AR ZREARRRIEFE

HK$ million US$ million HK$ million US$ million HK$ million US$ million

BEAT BEBET BEET BEBET BEET BEBET

Set Off 104.23 13.28 (104.23) (13.28) - -

Biiie

Business development 43.19 5.50 (43.19) (5.50) = =

General working capital 16.38 2.09 (16.38) (2.09) - -
—REEES

163.80 20.87 (163.80) (20.87) - -
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group had certain
related parties transactions under the applicable accounting
standards, while there were no related parties transactions
disclosed in note 39 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
which constituted a connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction which should be disclosed pursuant to
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company confirmed that it
has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

Details of the Directors’ and senior management’s emoluments
and of the five highest paid individuals in the Group are set out in
notes 10 and 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements and the
“Corporate Governance Report” as applicable.

The remuneration payable to Directors will depend on
their respective contractual terms under their employment
contracts or service contracts as approved by the Board on the
recommendation of the Remuneration Committee, having regard
to the Company's operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics. Key employees will be rewarded by
a combination of salaries, profit related discretionary bonuses and
share options, where appropriate. For employees below Board
level, remuneration is determined by the Director(s) responsible
for the division whilst, for NEDs (including INEDs), remuneration
is recommended by the Remuneration Committee and approved
by the Board. For individual Executive Director and senior
management, the Remuneration Committee determines, with
delegated responsibility, their remuneration packages. No Directors
should be involved in deciding his or her own remuneration. In
all cases, profit related discretionary bonuses and grants of share
options will be agreed by the Remuneration Committee.

DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Share Option
Scheme (2016)" and “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests
and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures”
of this report, at no time during the year ended 31 December
2024 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of the Shares in or debentures of the Company
and none of the Directors, their spouses or children under 18 years
of age, had any rights to subscribe for securities of the Company,
or had exercised any such rights.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has purchased and maintained Directors and officers
liability insurance throughout the year, which provides appropriate
cover for the Directors and officers of the Group against their
potential legal liabilities to third parties that may be incurred in
the course of performing their duties. The level of the insurance
coverage is subject to review annually.

MANAGEMENT’S CONTRACT

Save for contracts of service with any Director or any person
engaged in the full-time employment of the Company, no other
contracts of the Company were entered into or subsisted during
the year.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date
of this report, none of the Directors and their respective close
associates (within the meaning of the Listing Rules) had any
interests in businesses which compete or are likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group,
other than those businesses where the Directors were appointed
as directors to represent the interests of the Company and/or the
Group, save that the following companies may pursue investment
opportunities that may compete against the Company:

(1) Compedica Holdings Limited (“Compedica®)

Compedica is a private single product medical device
company based near Oxford, in the UK, focusing on the
treatment of diabetic foot ulcers, which are a comorbidity of
diabetic mellitus:

(i) James Mellon and through his associate held
approximately 50.38% of the total issued share capital of
Compedica; (ii) as a non-executive director and chairman
of Compedica, Jamie Gibson held approximately 6.98%
of the total issued share capital of Compedica; and (iii) the
Company did not hold any interests in the total issued share
capital of Compedica.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES (continueD)

(2) Juvenescence Limited (“Juvenescence”)

Juvenescence is a private and multinational healthcare
science company based in the Isle of Man that focuses in
human ageing and longevity, aiming to build a platform and
pipeline of affordable quality products targeting ageing, age-
related issues and cell regeneration:

(i) as a director and chairman of the board of Juvenescence,
James Mellon and through his associate held approximately
17.20% of the total issued share capital of Juvenescence;
and (i) the Company did not hold any interests in the total
issued share capital of Juvenescence.

(3) Portage Biotech Inc (“Portage Biotech”)

Portage Biotech (CSE: PBT.U and OTCBB: PTGEF) is dually
listed on the NASDAQ of the US and the Canadian Securities
Exchange, focusing on discovering and developing innovative
cell permeable peptide therapies and developing drug
therapies:

(i) as a non-executive director of Portage Biotech, James
Mellon and through his associates held approximately
13.80% of the total issued share capital of Portage Biotech;
and (i) the Company did not hold any interests in the total
issued share capital of Portage Biotech.

Currently, the existing businesses of the above companies do not
compete against the Company’s existing businesses. Should the
Company and any of the above companies come into competition
in the future, no Director of the Company shall vote on any board
resolution of the Company approving any contract or arrangement
or any other proposal in which they or any of their close associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules) have a material interest, nor shall
they be counted in the quorum present in the meeting, in each
case if, and to the extent, required under Rule 13.44 of the Listing
Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As far as the Directors are aware, as at 31 December 2024,
the following entity or person (other than James Mellon, being
a Director), whose interests are set out in the section headed
"Directors’” and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” of this report, had
interests or short positions in the Shares or the underlying shares
of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Stock Exchange and the Company pursuant to
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

FERRMNIRDBRARRMRRG Z R
HKE

BEERMANE R_T_ME+_B=+—
B> U TFEED AL BRlames MellonfEAZEE
(EEGZHENEAREEERFETHRAER
BEAD ~ ABRA D B (B35 2 e 5k ek B ) — &) S
BEALBRNAABRESSMPEKRAE
3BHEMEEBEZE Mo HRIFES &
ERPISEXVERE2 KR E37 M BN B
RENBZEHRKE .

Total interests Derivative

(Number of Approximate interests

Class of Capacity Long/Short Shares held) percentage (Number of

Name of Shareholder Shares in Shares position (note) holding Shares held)
EnaE

(BERHHE) BasR (k) 53

RRAH TR {n R HERNhZER B/ %8 (M%) Bt BERGHEE)

Galloway Limited Ordinary shares ~ Beneficial owner  Long position 86,193,787 37.74% nil

EER BaEAA fre =

Save for such interests, the Directors are not aware of any other
persons, who, as at 31 December 2024 or the date of this report,
had any interests or short positions in the Shares or the underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Stock Exchange and the Company
pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

As the Group’s major customers (i.e. the distributors/licensees)
order the medical products directly from the manufacturers, and
then sell the medical products by themselves, the amount of “cost
of goods sold” or “purchase” will only be recorded in the books
of the major customers. Thus, there are no cost of goods sold and
major suppliers of the Group.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS (conTinueD)

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the percentage of revenue
accounted for by the largest customer amounted to 69.52%
(2023: 58.88%).

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the percentage of revenue
contributed by the five largest customers amounted to 96.06%
(2023: 85.06%).

At no time during the financial year ended 31 December 2024,
the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholders (which
to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the
Company’s issued shares) had any interest in these customers.

AUDITOR

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company in
relation to the change of Auditor dated 21 June 2023. The Board
had conducted an external audit tender process in accordance
with good corporate governance practice as BDO Limited
("BDO"), the resigning external auditor of the Company, has
provided auditing services to the Company for 12 financial years.
As a result of this process, the Company announced that BDO had
resigned as the Auditor with effect from 21 June 2023 and RSM
Hong Kong (“RSM™) had been appointed as the Auditor with
effect from 21 June 2023. BDO had confirmed in its resignation
letter to the Company and the Audit Committee that there were
no matters in respect of its resignation that needed to be brought
to the attention of the holders of securities of the Company.

The Board, with the recommendation of the Audit Committee,
had resolved to appoint RSM with effect from 21 June 2023 as
the new Auditor to fill the casual vacancy following the resignation
of BDO, and to hold office until the conclusion of the next annual
general meeting of the Company subject to appointment by the
Shareholders in accordance with the Articles of Association of the
Company by way of ordinary resolution. The ordinary resolution
to re-appoint RSM as the Auditor had been passed by the
Shareholders at the 2024 AGM.
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AUDITOR (conTinueD)

Reference is also made to the announcement of the Company
in relation to the change of Auditor dated 16 July 2024. The
Company announced that RSM had resigned as the external
Auditor with effect from 16 July 2024 as the Board and RSM could
not reach a consensus on the audit fee for the financial year ended
31 December 2024. The Audit Committee of the Company had
reviewed the audit fee proposal provided by RSM and considered
that the proposed audit fee might not be appropriate considering
the current operation scale of the Group and the prevailing market
rates from other professional accounting firms of a similar scale.
RSM had confirmed in its resignation letter to the Company and
the Audit Committee that there were no matters in respect of
its resignation that needed to be brought to the attention of the
holders of securities of the Company.

The Board, with the recommendation of the Audit Committee,
had resolved to appoint Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited (“Baker
Tilly”) with effect from 16 July 2024 as the new Auditor to fill
the casual vacancy following the resignation of RSM, and to hold
office until the next annual general meeting of the Company,
which is tentatively scheduled to be held in June 2025.

The Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended
31 December 2024 have been audited by Baker Tilly. Baker Tilly,
which has indicated its willingness to continue in office, shall
retire at the 2025 AGM and, being eligible, has offered itself for
re-appointment. An ordinary resolution will be proposed at the
2025 AGM to re-appoint Baker Tilly as the Auditor.

On Behalf of the Board

James Mellon
Chairman

27 March 2025
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFNREREREZEEFS

UTHARAREAPZEEESTREREE

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management who
hold office as at the date of this report are as follows:

DIRECTORS

1.

James Mellon (alias: Jim Mellon), Non-Executive Director
and Chair of the Board, aged 68, British, was appointed as
an Executive Director of the Company in July 1991, and was
re-designated as a Non-Executive Director in May 2002, and
is currently Non-Executive Chair of the Board of Directors.
He holds a Master's degree in Politics, Philosophy and
Economics from Oxford University and, since graduating in
1978, his entire career has been spent in asset management.
Mr Mellon worked for GT Management Plc from 1978 to
1984. In July 1984, he joined the Thornton Group where he
was Managing Director of the Asian operation. From 1988
to 1990, he was an executive director of Tyndall Holdings
Plc responsible for business expansion and corporate
development. In 1990, Mr Mellon co-founded and became
Chief Executive of the Company. In 1994, he became Chair
of the Company. Mr Mellon has over 30 years' investment
experience in Asia. He specialises in the development and
restructuring of international investment vehicles, and travels
extensively across the region on company visits and fact-
finding missions. He is also a director of a subsidiary of
the Company. Mr Mellon is also: (i) the executive chair of
Agronomics Limited and the executive chair of the board
of Manx Financial Group plc, both are listed on the London
Stock Exchange AIM (“AIM”); (i) the non-executive chair
of Bradda Head Lithium Limited; and (iii) a non-executive
director of Portage Biotech Inc (which is dually listed
on the NASDAQ of the US and the Canadian Securities
Exchange), of which Mr Mellon resigned as a non-executive
director on 14 August 2020 and re-joined the board on
15 February 2022. He was formerly: (i) the non-executive
chair of the board of FastForward Innovations Limited (an
AIM-listed company); (ii) the non-executive chair of the board
of Rivington Street Holdings Limited (which was delisted
from ICAP Securities and Derivatives Exchange (ISDX) in the
UK on 3 April 2014 and was dissolved on 20 October 2017);
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DIRECTORS (conTinuED)

(iii) the non-executive chair of the board of SalvaRx Group Plc
(which was de-listed from AIM on 9 January 2020), which,
following a group re-structuring in March 2017, disposed
of all its investments and business interests to its subsidiary,
namely SalvaRx Limited; (iv) the executive chair of the board
of Speymill plc (which was de-listed from AIM on 2 February
2015 and was dissolved on 20 October 2017); (v) a non-
executive director of West African Minerals Corporation
(then an AlM-listed company, and now listed on the London
Stock Exchange Standard as Okyo Pharma Limited); and
(vi) resigned as the non-executive chair of Condor Gold plc
(an AIM-listed company) with effect from 15 January 2025,
which was acquired by Metals Exploration plc (also an AlM-
listed company) on 15 January 2025 and delisted on the
same date.

Jamie Alexander Gibson, Executive Director and Chief
Executive Officer, aged 59, British, joined the Group in April
1996 and was appointed as an Executive Director and Chief
Operating Officer of the Company in January 2002. In May
2002, he became Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
Mr Gibson has spent most of his professional career with
the Company specialising in corporate finance, direct equity
investments and structuring emerging market investment
products. Prior to joining the Company, he worked at Clifford
Chance, Coopers & Lybrand and KPMG. Mr Gibson has a
law degree from Edinburgh University. He is also a director
of a number of subsidiaries of the Company, including:
(i) Amerinvest Coal Industry Holding Company Limited, which
in turn holds a 25% equity interest in West China Coking &
Gas Company Limited; (ii) Plethora; and (iii) Deep Longevity.
Mr Gibson is a non-executive director and chairman of
Compedica Holdings Limited, a private company of which he
holds approximately 6.98% interest and Galloway Limited is
the major shareholder.
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3.

Jayne Allison Sutcliffe (maiden name: Jayne Allison
Wigley), Non-Executive Director, aged 61, British, was
appointed as the Group Corporate Finance Director in
August 1991 and was re-designated as a Non-Executive
Director in June 2000. Mrs Sutcliffe has spent most of
her professional career in the fund management industry
specialising in sales and marketing initially at Thornton
Management and then at Tyndall Holdings Plc. Mrs Sutcliffe
co-founded the Group in 1990 where she established,
and was responsible for, the Group's corporate finance
activities. She has a Master’s degree in Theology from
Oxford University. Mrs Sutcliffe is a non-executive director
and chairperson of WHEB Asset Management LLP, which is
a boutique asset management company. She was formerly
the Group Chief Executive of Charlemagne Capital Limited
("CCL", which was de-listed from the London Stock
Exchange AIM on 15 December 2016 upon completion of
the 100% acquisition of CCL by Fiera Capital Corporation
(which is listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange) by a scheme
of arrangement on 14 December 2016).

Stawell Mark Searle (alias: Sam Searle), \ndependent
Non-Executive Director, aged 81, British, has been an
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company since
October 2001. He has over 30 years' experience in the
investment management industry. Having trained with
Jardine Matheson, the Far Eastern trading house in London,
he was seconded to Samuel Montagu where he worked for
two years in their Investment Department. Subsequently,
Mr Searle joined Investment Intelligence Limited becoming
Investment Director responsible for management of a stable
of open ended funds. Between 1982 and 1987, he was
Managing Director of Richards Longstaff Limited, a privately
owned investment consultancy. In the following ten years,
he was Investment Director of Gerrard Asset Management.
Mr Searle has been a director of a number of closed-ended
funds during his career.
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5.

Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan, Independent Non-Executive
Director, aged 46, Australian, has been an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company since April 2023.
He graduated from the University of New South Wales,
Australia with a bachelor degree in commerce in accounting
and finance in April 2000. He has been a member of
CPA Australia and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since June 2006 and November 2009
respectively.

Mr Chan has over 25 years of experience in accounting,
financial management and corporate finance. He started his
career with Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and worked in the
audit department of the firm from January 2000 to March
2000. Mr Chan then worked in various financial institutions
and investment banks between April 2000 and November
2009, including DBS Vickers Securities, with his last position
as an executive in the corporate finance department, from
April 2000 to December 2001, DBS Asia Capital Limited,
with his last position as assistant vice president in equity
capital markets, wholesale banking-global financial markets
from January 2002 to July 2005, and UOB Asia (Hong Kong)
Limited, with his last position as associate director, from July
2005 to November 2009.

After leaving UOB Asia (Hong Kong) Limited in November
2009, Mr Chan switched his career from corporate finance
to financial management. From November 2009 to June
2015, he was the chief financial officer of Enviro Energy
International Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1102), where he
was responsible for overall financial management, internal
control function and accounting function. From November
2011 to June 2021, Mr Chan served as an independent non-
executive director of Grand Baoxin Auto Group Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1293). Since July 2015, Mr Chan has served
as the chief financial officer of Sun Ray Capital Investment
Corporation, a private investment company based in
Hong Kong; since July 2018, Mr Chan has served as the
chief financial officer of LabyRx Immunologic Therapeutics
Limited, a bio-medical company focused on developing
a comprehensive platform for treating adenocarcinomas;
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since August 2018, Mr Chan has served as the chief
financial officer of Lifespans Limited, a medical device start-
up company; and since January 2021, Mr Chan has served
as a regional director of The CFO (HK) Limited, a company
providing part-time chief financial officers services.

Mr Chan is an independent non-executive director of
Cheerwin Group Limited, a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 6601) and Best
Linking Group Holdings Limited, a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 9882).

lhsan Al Chalabi, Independent Non-Executive Director,
aged 55, British, has been an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company since August 2023. He graduated
from University of Hartford Business School in France
and the United States with a master degree of business
administration, specialising in finance and management, in
July 1995, and from University of Southampton in England
with a bachelor degree of engineering in aeronautics &
astronautics in July 1991. Mr Al Chalabi has over 31 years of
experience, working in engineering, management consulting
and finance. From December 2008 to present, Mr Al Chalabi
worked as a director in CASP-R Limited, a Hong Kong
based independent advisory and consulting firm primarily
serving the tech sector, especially fintech, SaaS, agtech,
healthcare, and sustainability, which is beneficially owned by
Mr Al Chalabi. In April 2024, Mr Al Chalabi was appointed
an Adjunct Professor at City University of Hong Kong's
Academy of Innovation. From July 2005 to April 2008,
Mr Al Chalabi worked as the regional operations and finance
director in CBRE, a global corporate services company.
From August 2001 to July 2005, Mr Al Chalabi worked as
the principal consultant in Alfa-labs Limited, an Asia-based
management consulting firm providing advisory services on
strategy, benchmarking, financial modelling and programme
management. From 1999 to 2001, Mr Al Chalabi worked at
the Company in the role of director of strategy and business
development responsible for overseeing the Company’s
portfolio of technology investments and as tasked with
establishing relationships with fund management companies
in Mainland China and exploring collaborative opportunities.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

1.

Paul Eric Jones, Investment Director, aged 60, Canadian,
has over 30 years of experience in the energy industry and
corporate finance. This has included various professional
disciplines encompassing fund management, banking and
business development. Before joining the Group in April
2011, Mr Jones was employed for six years with a Canadian
private equity fund, where he was principally engaged in
evaluating investment opportunities on behalf of the firm's
investors and managing a portfolio of public and private
securities. Prior thereto, Mr Jones was a Director in the
energy group at the Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce
(CIBC) where he specialised in debt financing and providing
advisory services to oil and gas producers. Previous to his
banking career, Mr Jones was a financial analyst with TC
Energy Corp. (@ Canadian power generation and energy
transmission company), where he was responsible for
initiatives related to bond issuance, project finance, capital
budgeting and investor relations. Mr Jones holds a Bachelor
of Arts and a Master of Business Administration (Finance),
both from the University of Calgary.

Professor Michael Grant Wyllie (alias: Mike Wyllie),
Chief Scientific Officer, aged 74, British, has particular
responsibility for the process of securing approvals of
the product, regulatory compliance and assisting the
Chief Executive Officer in the commercial development
of Fortacin™ of Plethora. Prof Wyllie is a co-founder of
Plethora. He has over 30 years of experience in senior
management level positions within the pharmaceutical
industry, with Wyeth and Pfizer. He has considerable hands-
on experience in all aspects of the drug discovery and
development process, and has been involved with new
project inception, drug discovery and safety testing, early
and late stage clinical development, regulatory filing, and
the successful commercialisation of products, including
Cardura® (doxazosin), Enablex® (darifenacin) and Viagra®
(sildenafil). Prof Wyllie sits on the Clinical Trial Design and
Future Therapies in BPH Committees of the World Health
Organisation International Consultations on Urological
Disease and the International Advisory Panel to The University
of Strathclyde. He is an assistant editor of the British Journal
of Urology in the Sexual Medicine Section. He has over 200
publications and is the named inventor of over 80 patents.

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R A F ¥ EEEBERAE

SREERE

1.

Paul Eric Jones > ¥ E#% > X+ 5 Nl
ERE O RERTERCERES@E
BA=-1TFR8R EPOELESHXS
g o HERESEE - ROTREFLE-
RIZE——FMAMAERERZ > Jones
TER—BENEALEREEESZE
NE WREZESTERERRATER
BEETHREREREEBRAERAERE
HHE oz JonesE E BT MEKRT
Bl r5 28R 17(Canadian Imperial Bank of
Commerce)(CIBOSERAEE » EMEE
EEBRERAARE ERHIRHEEMR
oMW ERITERT Jonesft E BETC
Energy Corp. (—RMEKREEBRAEREH
EAE) EmMAME 8ERES BT
EHEME BEAEEREEEREZER
B ZEE o JonesE ERF B FHME K
Z(University of Calgary) TS (&)
NXEBLTRELEe

Michael Grant Wyllie##% (§1%& :
Mike Wyllie) > #2488 > ++M5%
HEFE EMEAEESERZE2BME
FEE SRR W HBITTBAE K EPlethora
BIFortacin™@g 2 5 & o Wyllie B IZ &
PlethoraBI L BB HF A o IR BB 21T 2
ISR EERUSAEREEAE=TFK
B BEERKMER - MIEEY IR
HERENMBEATEERERAEEERLE
B2HMEEME EVERALEE
A RHAR B HRER R E R B E R K
BiECardura® (Z7)MIR) ~Enablex® (GE
JEHBHT) K Viagra® (FEHABIE) 5 & RBI AL
INE AL o WyllieBUR B E R A8
WIRINUERERAHEZEEBPHEE
ENBEARRERIIRAEARBEEIRERR
T3 3= KB (The University of Strathclyde)
BREERE/NEZE N E o KA CEEW
PR 2 355D (British Journal of Urology)|4 &
SHRBIBRE - RERT200EBEE
E80ZEHEMBIZEBEA ©



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERSREEREZREHS
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3.

Wong Yui Fui, Frankie, Chief Financial Officer, aged 50,
Chinese, joined the Group in July 2000 and was promoted
as Chief Financial Officer in 2011. Mr Wong is a Certified
Public Accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a Fellow Member of The Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants in the UK. He has the
degree of Bachelor of Arts in Accountancy from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University. Prior to joining the Company, he
has gained extensive experience in auditing and accounting
with Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.

Lui Mei Yan Winnie, Company Secretary, aged 50, Chinese,
joined the Group in May 2021. Ms Lui is a Chartered
Secretary, a Chartered Governance Professional, and a Fellow
of both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and
The Chartered Governance Institute. She holds a Bachelor's
degree in Business Administration and a Master's degree in
Business Administration. Ms Lui has extensive experience
in the company secretarial field and corporate governance
practices with listed companies. Ms Lui formerly acted as the
company secretary of a number of listed companies on the
Stock Exchange.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF THE GROUP’S PERFORMANCE
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REVENUE AND PROFIT

The Group recorded a much-reduced loss attributable to
shareholders of the Company of approximately US$4.48 million
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (year ended 31 December
2023: approximately US$25.05 million).

The main elements of the profit/(loss) are analysed as follows: w518 2 FBEEAMWT -

year ended 31 December

HE+ZRA=t-HLEFE

Increase/
(decrease) in

2024 2023 absolute value
BHE
ot 1 - Sk 8,/ GAb)
Notes US$ million US$ million %

izt BRER BEER
Revenue g 072 0.29 14828
Other income HtukA 0.08 0.03 166.67
Net exchange (loss)igain FER (BB /ha 0.07) 0.17 NAFEH
Fair value (Joss)/gain on financial instruments €I EZ AR BE (0.08) 0.05 NA R B

BR) /s
Amortisation of intangible assets B EESH (i = (22.18) (100.00)
Impairment loss on an intangible asset B EERERE (i - (1.52) (100.00)
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets FRREEZAERE (i) = (1.15) (100.00)
R&D expenditure s (0.94) (1.38) (31.88)
G&A expenditure —RRTHER (4.05) (4.69) (13.65)
Finance costs RMEMK (0.17) (0.08) 112.50
Income tax credit it e (iv) 0.03 5.41 (99.45)
Total loss attributable to shareholders A BR R ETIELLE

of the Company (4.48) (25.05) (82.12)

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R A F ¥ EEEBERAE



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF THE GROUP’'S PERFORMANCE

EERHAERRGZ T m R

REVENUE AND PROFIT (continuep)

() The Group recorded no amortisation of intangible assets
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (year ended 31
December 2023: approximately US$22.18 million). The
decrease was mainly due to the patent (Fortacin™) being fully
amortised on 19 November 2023.

(i)  The Group recorded no impairment loss of an intangible
asset for the year ended 31 December 2024 (year ended
31 December 2023: approximately US$1.52 million). This
was because the intangible asset was fully impaired on 31
December 2023.

(i)  The Group recorded no impairment loss on right-of-use
assets for the year ended 31 December 2024 (year ended 31
December 2023: approximately US$1.15 million). This was
because the right-of-use assets were fully impaired on 31
December 2023.

(iv) The Group recorded an income tax credit of approximately
US$26,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024 (year
ended 31 December 2023: approximately US$5.42 million).
It was mainly because the deferred tax liability arising from
the patent (Fortacin™) was fully amortised on 19 November
2023.

FINANCIAL POSITION

Capital deficiency increased to approximately US$5.90 million as at
31 December 2024 from approximately US$1.55 million as at 31
December 2023. The increase was due to the loss attributable to
shareholders of the Company of approximately US$4.48 million for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Group's assets also comprised: (i) cash and bank balances of
approximately US$100,000; (i) property, plant and equipment
and prepayment, deposits, other receivables and tax recoverable
of approximately US$403,000; (iii) restricted bank balances of
US$32,000; (iv) trade receivables of approximately US$53,000; and
(v) listed and unlisted investments of approximately US$21,000.

W 2% BoiEFl @)

() H®EERBE_ZT_MNME+_B=+—
BrEErE SR EESRHE (BE
TET=ZHF+"RA=Z+—HILEEE ' &
22,180,000 7T) BT EERNER
(Fortacin™MmpP 2 -=%+—F8B+hH
FY I ¢:37oh

(i) xEERBEE_Z_NFE+_B=+—
HIEFEWERESELEERBERIE (&
ECE_—F+-A=+—HILEE:
#J1,520,000%7T) ERHRELEE
BN S _=F+_B=+—HFZA
Ee

(i) AXERRBEE_ZT-NFEF+_BA=+—
HlEFETERSERAEEEZRES
BEEIZEI=F+"A=+—HIF
FE : 491,150,000%7T) & AR FRAE
EEER_E_ZFE+"A=+—8%
HUBME °

vy ZERRSE_T_NE+_A=+—
BHiIFFEREFAERIERA26,000E T
(HEZZ_=ZF+-_FA=+—HILE
FE © #95,420,000%7T) » A EEHREF]
(Fortacin™)E4ANELEREBEEEEN
E=F+—Bt+ BRI

AR

EXABEHA_ZE_=ZF+_A=+—HHK
1,550,000= i E " " MFE+_F=+—
H#5,900,000% 7t ZIE ML HEREBEE S
“HHE+ZRA=+—HLEFERARBREE
1EE518494,480,000% 7T ©

FEBZZEENEE (VRERBITERY
100,000% 7T ; (iM%~ BB K& E U KA
TIE~ s HAEWERIE K AT Y B R 1B AT
403,000%= 7t ; (i) PRl $R 1T 45 8%32,000%= 7T ;
(iv)FEUR & 5 BR 7XA953,0003E 7T 5 Kz(v) Ei R IE
& E421,0005 7T °
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MANAGEMENT'’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OF THE GROUP'S PERFORMANCE
EREHTEEERZARE DN

FINANCIAL POSITION (continueD)

The Group's liabilities comprised: (i) trade payables, contract
liabilities, accruals and other payables of approximately
US$3.17 million; (ii) long-term and short-term lease liabilities of
approximately US$0.76 million; (iii) long-term and short-term
shareholder’s loan of US$2.57 million; and (iv) long-term and
short-term bank borrowings of approximately US$11,000.

PLETHORA'S FINANCIAL RESULTS

Plethora recorded an operating profit of approximately GBP 96,000
(or approximately US$123,000) for the year ended 31 December
2024 (year ended 31 December 2023: loss of approximately
GBP 667,000 (or approximately US$829,000), excluding the
amortisation cost of an intangible asset, Fortacin™, and the tax
credit in respect of the deferred tax liability).

The operating profit of Plethora for the year ended 31 December
2024, mainly included: (i) the signature payment and royalty
income of approximately GBP 509,000 (or approximately
US$655,000) (year ended 31 December 2023: royalty income
of approximately GBP 137,000 (or approximately US$171,000))
which being offset by: (i) R&D costs related to the regulatory
and phase 3 studies in respect of the FDA approval process
of Fortacin™ in the US of approximately GBP 237,000 (or
approximately US$303,000) (year ended 31 December 2023:
approximately GBP 557,000 (or approximately US$693,000));
and (iii) G&A expenses of approximately GBP 260,000 (or
approximately US$336,000) (year ended 31 December 2023:
approximately GBP 269,000 (or approximately US$335,000)).

As at 31 December 2024, Plethora had cash resources of
approximately GBP 25,000 (or approximately US$32,000) (31
December 2023: approximately GBP 61,000 (or approximately
US$78,000)), with ongoing financial support being provided by
the Group.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF THE GROUP’'S PERFORMANCE

EERHAERRGZ T m R

DEVELOPMENT OF FORTACIN™/SENTEND™ IN
DIFFERENT REGIONS

Development Plan for Senstend™ in the PRC

In respect of the progress being made with Senstend™ in the PRC,
a major milestone was achieved by Wanbang Biopharmaceutical
through the submission of the NDA to NMPA at the end of
2024, with approval expected 12 months thereafter. In addition,
Wanbang Biopharmaceutical received confirmation from NMPA
on 24 March 2025 that the NDA registration dossier previously
submitted has passed the first stage of the NMPA review process
where the dossier has met all the regulatory requirements. NMPA
will now proceed to the next stage of the review process where
it will undertake a technical evaluation of the data submitted
in the NDA, with approval expected within 12 months from
the submission date. In addition, during the year, Wanbang
Biopharmaceutical, Genetic and Plethora Solutions Limited,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the
manufacturing and supply agreement where Genetic will
manufacture and supply to Wanbang Biopharmaceutical for the
PRC market. On approval of the NDA by NMPA, US$5 million
(before deduction of PRC withholding tax) shall be payable to the
Group from Wanbang Biopharmaceutical. In addition, upon first
commercial sale of Senstend™ in China, US$2 million (before
deduction of PRC withholding tax) shall be payable to the Group
from Wanbang Biopharmaceutical.

Development Plan for Fortacin™ in the US

In respect of the progress being made with Fortacin™ in the US,
the Company has evaluated two proposals from reputable clinical
research organisations in respect of undertaking the Phase 3
clinical studies in the US with discussion proceeding with the lead
candidate. In addition, the Group is discussing with various parties,
including potential licensees, for financing the phase 3 studies,
with view to having these finalised during the course of 2025.

FORTACIN™ “SENTEND ™4 & [ 3th &
RIS R

Senstend™jt R E Y2 B 512l

Senstend ™A FREI BV E B 75 T 0 71 #F B 30 BE 2
BRTEEERM R _Z _NEEAFEREE
mEECERIRMERS BHERM12ME
BEESHE LI ITHEMBEER S
THE-BZA+HHKIBEREZEREESETE
BZHER AR Z MEERETIMERDE
BEREREECERTEEFF MR &
EBREMEMEBEERT EREREEER
BIRBHEET T —MENTERER EfYH
FEE BRSSPI IR R VBRI T R AT ST A > W TR BT
BIERRX B 121E A REHL o thoh > TERE D
B2 Genetick & A B 2 EMI B A EIPlethora
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BEEERMANERZR IHBNBEKE
6] 75 £ @ 37 145,000,000 7T (30 Bk R B FB 0
A0 o tbgh > FSenstend ™A R EEITEH RS
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MANAGEMENT'’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OF THE GROUP'S PERFORMANCE
EREHTEEERZARE DN

DEVELOPMENT OF FORTACIN™/SENTEND™ IN
DIFFERENT REGIONS (continueD)

Commercialisation of Fortacin™ in Europe by Recordati

Recordati continues to receive uninterrupted supply of Fortacin™
and the leading markets are Italy and Germany.

Commercialisation of Fortacin™ in other countries

During the year, the Group has “out licensed” the rights to
Fortacin™ to Kobayashi Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. for Japan and
had received a signature payment of US$500,000 on 26 July
2024.

In respect of the other territories, being certain countries in
South-East Asia, our licensees are continuing their discussions
with the new manufacturer on terms for (i) regulatory support
for submitting a variation to the relevant health authority for the
appointment of the new manufacturer, and (i) commercial terms
for the manufacture and supply of Fortacin™ for their respective
territories.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT OF DEEP LONGEVITY

Customer Adoption

During the year, Deep Longevity launched SenoClock® in China,
India and Australia with the onboarding of new customers in
Thailand, China and Italy. Deep Longevity is excited to be entering
these large markets where usage of our SenoClock® platform will
provide us with visibility and, more importantly, increased revenue.

Business Development

Discussions are underway for launching pilot studies with large
insurance providers, a Fortune 500 Consumer Health company, a
chain of providers and other large businesses, which can provide
significant exposure, increased revenue and in the longer-term
large-scale opportunities. Longevity clinics from different parts
of the world keep reaching out to us and we are confident of
increasing our number of longevity customers.

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R A F ¥ EEEBERAE
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF THE GROUP’'S PERFORMANCE

EERHAERRGZ T m R

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT OF DEEP LONGEVITY

(CONTINUED)

Research & Development Activities

During the year, Deep Longevity updated its blood age and
developed its LLM where it adapted an LLM across its product
ecosystem as it looks to keep ahead of the competition.

While we understand achieving a high-level of personalisation in
our recommendations would be a big attraction to customers,
it needs to be done with the context of region and the person,
which seems to be the sweet spot for LLMs. During the year,
we undertook significant upgrades in the content and format
to improve our personalisation and recommendations for our
customers.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE RIGHTS ISSUE

The gross proceeds from the Rights Issue (before the Set Off
and expenses) were approximately HK$170.08 million (or
approximately US$21.67 million) and the net proceeds from
the Rights Issue (before the Set Off and after deducting the
estimated expenses of approximately HK$6.28 million (or
approximately US$0.80 million)) were approximately HK$163.80
million (or approximately US$20.87 million). As mentioned in its
announcement of 26 September 2022, the Company intended
to apply the net proceeds to (i) approximately 63.63% (up to
approximately HK$104.23 million, or approximately US$13.28
million) for the Set Off upon completion of the Rights Issue; (ii)
approximately 26.37% (up to approximately HK$43.19 million,
or approximately US$5.50 million) for implementation of business
development plan as described under the paragraph headed
“Business development” in the prospectus dated 13 December
2022; and (iii) the remaining 10.00% (up to approximately
HK$16.38 million, or approximately US$2.09 million) as general
working capital of the Group.

DEEP LONGEVITYRI R R @
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MANAGEMENT'’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF THE GROUP’S PERFORMANCE

EERHEERERGZ T m R

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE RIGHTS ISSUE i@ ZFRISFRIEF AR @

(CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2024, the net proceeds from the Rights Issue R =ZZME+"F=+—H  HRZPAEM
had been utilised as follows: HFHEEFANT -

Proposed use of net proceeds as
disclosed in the announcement  Actual use of net proceedsupto  Unutilised net proceeds as of

on 11 January 2023 31 December 2024 31 December 2024
“F-=&—-A+-H EE_S_ME H#E-T-mE
AFFBEZ +ZB=+-RA2 +ZA=+-Hz
FRERIESENERRR FRERIESENER AR REBREMIERE
HK$ million US$ million HK$ million US$ million HK$ million US$ million

BEAT ELESH BEAT BEET BEAT BEET

Set Off 104.23 13.28 (104.23) (13.28) - -
1%3H
Business development 43.19 550 (43.19) (5.50) - -
EHER
General working capital 16.38 2.09 (16.38) (2.09) - -
—REEES

163.80 20.87 (163.80) (20.87) - -
OUTLOOK BE

We are optimistic about the prospects for our businesses going HMH T _ A FNEBAISFHEEBEEE -
2025. Achieving our strategic objective of (i) submitting the NDA MR EEBEES()IABEREREEEIE
to NMPA and are assisting Wanbang Biopharmaceutical as it BIERXXMERF > WIHBIFBEHMEBESH
prepares for commercialising of Senstend™ in China, which will ~ Senstend™7E REI A #£10> LR H A EH
be transformational for the Group; (i) the commencement of the MEREB—REZE ;(INVEEEHBE =M
phase 3 studies in the US together with the ‘out licensing’ of the — FRIL MESMERE) ZBIRER] ; (i) BRI B
US rights; (iii) assisting our Japanese licensee with seeking their ZA#FAI HFERE T IHEE ; K(iv)7Deep
marketing authorisation; and (iv) onboarding new customers on  Longevity#SaaSeF- & 5| A& F o

Deep Longevity's Saas® platform.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF THE GROUP’'S PERFORMANCE

EERHAERRGZ T m R

OUTLOOK (conTinueD)

With the submission of the NDA by Wanbang Biopharmaceutical
to NPMA in December of last year together with the confirmation
from NMPA that the NDA registration dossier previously submitted
has passed the first stage of the NMPA review process where the
dossier has met all the regulatory requirements, this has removed
another hurdle for Senstend™ in being the first drug approved by
NMPA for the treatment of premature ejaculation in China. We
are hopeful that Senstend™ can be approved by NMPA by the
end of 2025/early 2026, such that Wanbang Biopharmaceutical
can launch Senstend™ in China in 2026. Through a successful
commercialisation of Senstend™ in China by Wanbang
Biopharmaceutical, it will bring in US$7 million in key milestone
payments and importantly recurrent royalty income, which we
strongly believe will be transformational for the Group.

We continue to learn and remain confident about Deep Longevity
as it remains a leader in its sector — Al for machine learning to
determine biological age versus chronological age with its SaaS®
platform of SenoClock® that provides all its aging clocks and
longevity recommendations.

While at the time of writing this report, there are fears that US
announced tariffs may be inflationary, with countries responding
with retaliatory measures while the markets have reacted
negatively with the S&P 500 down about 7% from its all-time
high in February 2025. However, with a potential resolution of the
Russo-Ukrainian War in sight, the markets in 2025 could well rise
to new heights.

With a streamlined focus, the Company remains optimistic about
the future prospects for the Group despite the uncertain global
sentiment and the Shareholders with a continued emphasis on
driving business forward across its key operating divisions.

The Company wishes to thank our major shareholders, Jim
Mellon/Galloway, for their most generous financial support, our
Shareholders for their continued support and our employees for
their hard work in another challenging, but rewarding year.
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MANAGEMENT'’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OF THE GROUP'S PERFORMANCE
EREHTEEERZARE DN

STRATEGIC PLAN

The Board and the Company’s senior management play an
active role in the Company’s strategy development and planning
process. The CEO regularly interacts with the Board in respect of
the strategic plan and direction of the Company, during which
an agreed approach for the Company to generate and preserve
its long-term value was determined, while agreeing shorter term
priorities and objectives. In addition, the risks associated with the
current operations and strategy of the Company are currently
being tested by way of an internal audit process conducted
through an independent service provider, with the aim of
identifying ways in which the Company can better identify and
manage its risks.

In order to generate or preserve value over the longer term, the
Group is committed to:

° the divestment of non-core assets and investments to
enable the Company to pursue growth and opportunistic
investments in the life sciences sector;

e  utilising international and local expertise to tackle difficult
markets, deliver results and achieve global recognition; and

e employing the Company’s Hong Kong listing through strong
liquidity and access to international capital markets, together
with maintaining our corporate governance and social
responsibility standards in line with the policies set down by
the Stock Exchange and best practice.

The Company is committed to creating Shareholder value and
returns through accretive acquisitions and returning surplus capital
to Shareholders by way of an effective dividend policy and share
repurchase programme.

FUNDING

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had approximately
US$100,000 in cash. On 20 March 2025, Galloway has granted a
facility to the Company for an amount of up to US$5,000,000.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF THE GROUP’S PERFORMANCE

EERHAERRGZ T m R

GEARING RATIO

Due to the capital deficiency position as at 31 December 2024, the
gearing ratio calculated as a percentage of the Group's long-term
debts over total equity became a meaningless figure (31 December
2023: meaningless figure).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2024 (31 December 2023: nil).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any significant
investment in equity interest in any other companies and did not
own any properties (31 December 2023: nil).

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES

The Group did not have any material acquisition or disposal of
subsidiary during the year ended 31 December 2024 (year ended
31 December 2023: nil).

MATERIAL CHANGES FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2024

Save as disclosed in this report, there were no significant changes
in the Group's financial position and from the information
disclosed under Management’s Discussion and Analysis of the
Group’s Performance in the annual financial report for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, a bank deposit amounting to
US$32,000 is a deposit held by the bank as security for the
corporate credit cards provided to a subsidiary of the Company (31
December 2023: US$32,000).

MANAGEMENT OF RISK

The most significant risks affecting the profitability and viability in
respect of the Group is the Group’s interest in Plethora. Key risks
relating to the Group's interests include:
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MANAGEMENT'’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OF THE GROUP'S PERFORMANCE
EREHTEEERZARE DN

MANAGEMENT OF RISK (conTinueD)

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group operates using US dollars. As such, the Group is
exposed to foreign currency fluctuations arising from operations
of its subsidiaries and associate. This exposure relates mainly to
the translation between US dollars and non-US dollar currencies.
Currency fluctuations may affect the revenues which the Group
realises from its subsidiaries and associate and, in particular, its
interest in Plethora. This exposes the Group to increased volatility
in earnings as reported in US dollars due to fluctuations in foreign
exchange rates. While foreign currencies are generally convertible
into US dollars, there is no guarantee that they will continue to be
so convertible or that fluctuations in the value of such currencies
will not have an adverse effect on the Group.

Interest Rate Risk

Other than the bank borrowings and shareholder’s loans with fixed
interest rates, the Group does not have any other operating lines
of credit and bank facilities. Therefore, the Group was not exposed
to interest rate risk in the financial year under review.

Risks Inherent to Plethora (the Company’s most
significant investment)

The timing and quantum of receipt of upfront, milestone and
royalty income from strategic commercial marketing partners,
which in itself is dependent on the successful partnering and the
commercial launch of Fortacin™/Senstend™;

The management of Plethora’s cost base and maintaining
adequate working capital and ensuring sufficient funds are made
available to complete the ongoing clinical work and regulatory
approval processes in the US and bringing Fortacin™/Senstend™ to
market;

The retention of key employees to complete the commercialisation
process;

Delays and other unforeseen disruptions to the manufacturing and
regulatory approval projects which could have an adverse impact
on the commercial launch of Fortacin™/Senstend™ and future
revenues; and

The exposure to competition from new generic entrants into the
market.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF THE GROUP’'S PERFORMANCE

EERHAERRGZ T m R

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group will operate both equity market and currency hedges
from time to time. Investment is carefully controlled, in accordance
with parameters set by the Board, in short-term situations where
physical assets may be inappropriate. There is strict segregation
between the investment management and settlement functions.

In term of the total operations of the Group, activities of this
nature are of limited materiality.

FOREIGN CURRENCY

The Group had not taken out any currency hedge as the
management is not aware of any material foreign currency risk
against its investments in financial assets. Currently, the Group has
no material financial liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
other than US dollars.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

For details of the segment information, please refer to note 6 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

EMPLOYEES

The Group, including subsidiaries but excluding associate,
employed 17 employees and 1 consultant at 31 December 2024
(At 31 December 2023: 17 employees and 2 consultants). The
remuneration policy is to reward key employees by a combination
of salaries, profit related discretionary bonuses and share
options, where appropriate. For employees below Board level,
remuneration is determined by the Director(s) responsible for
the division whilst, for NEDs (including INEDs), remuneration is
recommended by the Remuneration Committee and approved
by the Board. For individual Executive Director and senior
management, the Remuneration Committee determines, with
delegated responsibility, their remuneration packages. In all cases,
profit related discretionary bonuses and grants of share options
will be agreed by the Remuneration Committee.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Directors have resolved not to declare a final dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2024 (year ended 31
December 2023: nil).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EERERHRS

THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining high
standards of corporate governance. During the year ended 31
December 2024, the Company has complied with the Code
Provisions set out in the CG Code. The Board is responsible for
performing the corporate governance functions as set out under
Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

THE CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted its own Securities Dealing Code
regarding securities transactions by Directors and relevant
employees on terms no less exacting than the required standards
set out in the Model Code. Reminders are sent to Directors and
relevant employees that they should comply with the restriction
on dealing of the securities of the Company as specified in the
Securities Dealing Code. The Securities Dealing Code is available
on the Company’s website.

Having made specific enquiries with the Directors, the Company
confirmed that all Directors have complied with the required
standards set out in the Securities Dealing Code and the Model
Code during the year ended 31 December 2024.

CORPORATE CULTURE AND STRATEGY

The Company strives to maintain high standards of business ethics
and corporate governance across all our activities and operations.
A corporate culture across the Group is instilled based on its
commitment to strong ethics, quality and integrity.

The Company is committed to workforce development, safety
and health and is keen to develop its strategy in the business
development and management for long-term and sustainable
growth.

The Board plays a leading role to foster a corporate culture and to
ensure that the Company’s vision, values and business strategies
are aligned to it. The Directors, management and staff are all
required to act lawfully, ethically and responsibly, and the required
standards are set out in various policies and procedures of the
Company, which are subject to review by the Board on an annual
basis. Continuous training is conducted from time to time to
reinforce the required standards in respect of ethics and integrity.
With the oversight of the Board, workforce engagement and
training, legal and regulatory compliance, safety and health, value
and strategy of the Group are aligned with each other. Employees
are able to voice their ideas and concerns through internal
meetings and communication channels.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD

Board Leadership

The Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the business of the
Group and ensures that the Directors devote sufficient time and
make contributions to the Group. Each Director has the character,
skill, experience, integrity and diverse expertise and is able to
demonstrate a standard of competence commensurate with his/
her role as a Director for discharging his/her duties in the best
interests of the Company.

The NEDs provide the Group with a wide range of expertise
and knowledge concerning the Group's management of its
investments in the biopharma sector and other corporate
investments. The INEDs are of high calibre with academic
professions and experiences in the fields of accounting, financial
management, corporate finance, investment management,
engineering, management consulting and healthcare. With their
experience gained from senior positions held in other companies,
they provide strong support towards the effective discharge of
the duties and responsibilities of the Board. The INEDs do not
participate in the day-to-day management of the Company and
do not involve themselves in business transactions or relationships
with the Company.

The CG Code provides that the roles of the chairman and the
chief executive should be separated and performed by different
individuals. The Chairman leads and is responsible for running the
Board. The CEO leads the management team and is responsible
for running business and daily operations of the Company. The
two roles are separate and performed by different individuals. The
Board may delegate aspects of its management and administration
functions to the management by giving clear directions as to the
management’s power. In particular, the day-to-day management of
the Company is delegated to the CEO and his management team.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEXERRS

THE BOARD (conTinueD)

Board Composition

The Board currently consists of six Directors. The composition of
the Board during the year and up to the date of this report is set
out as follows:

Executive Director:
Jamie Gibson (CEO)

NEDs:
James Mellon (Chairman)
Jayne Sutcliffe

INEDs:

Mark Searle
Adrian Chan
lhsan Al Chalabi

All Directors, including INED, are clearly identified in all corporate
communications of the Company. A list of Directors is available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The
biographical details of Directors are set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” of the
2024 Annual Report and are available on the Company’s website.

The list of the Directors identifying their roles and functions is
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company
and is set out below:

EEg e
EFEgZHAMN

EFZHABANREFTEN -RNEAKREESR
BREAH EFGZEMREINT :

BITESE .
Jamie Gibson (7TE(#2 %)

EHITES -
James Mellon (/%)
Jayne Sutcliffe

BUIEHITES
Mark Searle
FR5A 2

lhsan Al Chalabi

PREEE (BEBIFANTES ONEAQRH
FRERBEBATBERIB EFHEA N
FIRARBMLER EFBEFBEHN T
THEFREEREREEEZBEFIRI—
81 WA R A A B BIEER

JIREEAERBENESL BN
RAABELER > WHHWMT :

Nomination Remuneration Investment  Inside Information
Directors Audit Committee Committee Committee Committee Committee’
g5 ENWZRY RYZEE hMERE REZRE ARHSZEY
James Mellon M C C -
Jamie Gibson - - - M M
Jayne Sutcliffe = = - - _
Mark Searle M M C - -
Adrian Chan C M M - -
Ihsan Al Chalabi - - - = =
C : Chairperson of the relevant Board Committee(s) C: HHEFEEREEER
M: Member of the relevant Board Committee(s) M: HHEAEEZEZEGIHE
# :  Other members are not Directors of the Company # . HMBWIERRFES
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD (conTinueD)

Independence of the INEDs

During the year ended 31 December 2024, in compliance with
the requirement of Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules, the Board
consisted of three INEDs, representing at least one-third of the
Board, with at least one of the INEDs possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. Each of the INEDs has confirmed by an
annual confirmation that he (including his “immediate family
members”, as defined under Rule 14A.12(1)(@) of the Listing
Rules) complies with the independence criteria under Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and has undertaken to inform the Company
and the Stock Exchange as soon as practicable if there are any
changes of circumstances which may affect his independence.
None of the INEDs held cross-directorships or had significant links
with other Directors through involvements in other companies.
Despite Mark Searle has served the Board as an INED for more
than 23 years, the Nomination Committee and the Board consider
that individual independence should not be determined solely
by the length of service. Mark Searle retired and was re-elected
at the 2024 AGM, details of the recommendations by the
Nomination Committee and the Board for the re-appointment,
including the factors considered, the process and the discussion
of the Nomination Committee and the Board in arriving at such
determination, were disclosed in the circular to the Shareholders
and/or explanatory statement accompany the notice of the 2024
AGM. The Nomination Committee and the Board have assessed
the independence of Mark Searle, Adrian Chan and lhsan Al
Chalabi and were satisfied with their independence with reference
to the criteria as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. As each
of the INEDs has not been involved in the daily operation of the
Company nor in any relationship or circumstances which would
affect his independent judgment and the INEDs have been able
to provide independent and professional views to the Company’s
affairs, the Nomination Committee and the Board are not aware of
any circumstances that might influence the independence of INEDs
and considers that all INEDs are independent.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEXERRS

THE BOARD (conTinueD)

Appointment, Re-election and Rotation of Directors

Each Director has entered into a letter of appointment and is
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election by Shareholders
at annual general meetings. In accordance with Article 87 of the
Articles of Association of the Company, one-third of the Directors
shall retire from office by rotation at least once every three years. A
retiring Director is eligible for re-election and re-election of retiring
Directors at annual general meetings is dealt with by separate
resolutions.

In accordance with Article 86(3) of the Articles of Association of
the Company, the Directors shall have the power from time to
time and at any time to appoint any person as a Director either
to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition to the
existing Board. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy shall hold office until the first annual general meeting of
the Company after his appointment and shall then be eligible for
election.

At the 2024 AGM held on 30 May 2024, Jayne Sutcliffe and
Mark Searle retired by rotation in accordance with Article 87 of
the Articles of Association of the Company and Ihsan Al Chalabi,
who was appointed as an INED with effect from 15 August
2023 retired in accordance with Article 86(3) of the Articles of
Association of the Company. Jayne Sutcliffe, Mark Searle and Ihsan
Al Chalabi were re-elected as Directors by the Shareholders by
separate resolutions at the 2024 AGM. The papers to Shareholders
accompanying that resolution included the reasons why the Board
believes they should be re-elected. The Nomination Committee
and the Board consider that Jayne Sutcliffe, Mark Searle and Ihsan
Al Chalabi have the required character, skills, experience and
integrity and are able to demonstrate a standard of competence
commensurate with their position as Directors for discharging
their duties in the best interest of the Company. The Nomination
Committee and the Board also believe that Mark Searle and
lhsan Al Chalabi will provide independent, balanced and objective
view to the affairs of the Company and bring valuable business
experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its
efficient and effective functioning and diversity.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD (conTinueD)

Appointment, Re-election and Rotation of Directors
(CONTINUED)

At the 2025 AGM, Jamie Gibson and Adrian Chan shall retire by
rotation in accordance with Article 87 of the Articles of Association
of the Company. All the retiring Directors, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election by separate resolutions in the 2025
AGM. The papers to Shareholders accompanying that resolution
included the reasons why the Nomination Committee and Board
believe that Adrian Chan is independent and should be re-elected.
It is the opinion of the Directors that Adrian Chan is regarded
as independent under the independence criteria set out in Rule
3.13(1) to (8) of the Listing Rules and has proved to be capable
of efficiently exercising independent judgement. The Nomination
Committee and the Board consider that the long service of Jamie
Gibson has provided valuable contributions to the Company and
has demonstrated abilities to provide balanced and objective
view to the Company’s affairs. The Nomination Committee and
the Board are also of the view that Jamie Gibson and Adrian
Chan would bring to the Board their own perspective, skills and
experience, as further described in their biographical details as set
out in the 2024 Annual Report, and can bring an invaluable insight
to the Board. Their extensive experience and expertise continue
to provide invaluable contribution and diversity to the Board. The
Board believes that the re-election of Jamie Gibson and Adrian
Chan as Directors would be in the best interests of the Company
and the Shareholders as a whole.

The Company has in place a Nomination Policy which sets out,
inter alia, the selection criteria and the evaluation procedures in
nominating candidates to be appointed or re-elected as Directors.
The Nomination Committee has considered the skills, regional
and industry experience, background, race, gender and other
qualities of Jamie Gibson and Adrian Chan in accordance with
the Board Diversity Policy of the Company. Details on the factors
considered by the Nomination Committee and the Board are set
out in the circular to Shareholders and/or explanatory statement
accompanying the notice of the 2025 AGM.

When casual vacancies arise at the Board, candidates will be
identified and proposed by the Nomination Committee to
the Board as set out in the paragraph headed “Nomination
Committee” of this report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEXERRS

THE BOARD (conTinueD)

Appointment, Re-election and Rotation of Directors
(CONTINUED)

For re-election of Directors, the Nomination Committee and the
Board should review the overall contribution, service and time
commitment to the Company of the retiring Directors and the level
of participation and performance by such Directors on the Board.
The Nomination Committee and the Board should also review
and determine whether the retiring Directors continue to meet
the criteria as set out above. The Nomination Committee and the
Board should then make recommendation to the Shareholders
in respect of the proposed re-election of Directors at a general
meeting.

Non-executive Directors

All NEDs including the INEDs were not appointed for a specific
term but are subject to re-election by the Shareholders at annual
general meetings and at least every three years on a rotational
basis in accordance with the Articles of Association of the
Company and the CG Code, and there are sufficient measures to
ensure the Company complies with the same level as that required
under this provision.

The letter of appointment of James Mellon (for the position as
Non-Executive Chairman of the Board) does not specify a term for
his appointment, however his appointment may be terminated by
either party giving 30 calendar days’ notice, and he is also subject
to the directors’ retirement provisions as set out in the Company’s
Articles of Association. Further, Mr Mellon’s advisory agreement
specifies that his appointment as an advisor of the Company may
be terminated by either party giving one year's written notice.
The letter of appointment of each of the remaining four NEDs
(including the INEDs) provides that his/her appointment may be
terminated by either party giving 30 calendar days’ notice and he/
she is also subject to the directors’ retirement provisions as set out
in the Articles of Association of the Company and the CG Code.
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EXERRS

THE BOARD (conTinueD) EFEgw

Directors’ Attendance at Meetings EFHEERER

All Directors have confirmed that they have given sufficient time ZRBEFHEES RENEIEFENERA
and attention to the affairs of the Company during the year under E3IRERBENRERAADEH EFRER
review. Directors should make their best endeavour to participate AZE RS - UBHEEZNBE BT QB HEBE
in meetings either in person, telephone conference or through EHABIFFAFHEMEFER SRS EHER-
other electronic means of communication as permitted by the

Articles of Association of the Company.

Directors’ attendance at the Board meetings, the Board Committee ZEFREBEFEANRTHNEFTE TR EFE
meetings and the general meetings held during the year under ZEEE@ZAKRIAGNHEFEREIIMT :
review is set out below:

Directors’ meeting attendance during the year (Meetings attended/eligible to attend)

FRNESEREHZER (WEAERLREZEE)

Audit Nomination  Remuneration 2024
Directors Board Committee Committee Committee AGM
k- Jon 13
- £58 ERZEY RRZEE hMEEE KRREFAE
James Mellon 4/4©) 3/3 110 1" 17
Jamie Gibson 4/4 N/A N/A N/A "N
NER AEA AEH
Jayne Sutcliffe 3/4 N/A N/A N/A n
B FEA AEA
Mark Searle 4/4 33 7 11 on
Adrian Chan 4/4 3/3€ 7 1" 17
BN
lhsan Al Chalabi 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 17
NEA BB AEA
Number of meetings held 4 3 1 1 1
S78ERY
C:  Chairman of the Board/Board Committee C: EFg EFSLEEIER
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THE BOARD (conTinueD)

Directors Training

All Directors shall keep abreast of the responsibilities as a director,
and of the conduct and business activities of the Company. The
Company has arranged seminars conducted by professional
organisations and circulated reading materials to Directors to
provide them with the latest development and update relating
to the Listing Rules, corporate governance practices and relevant
legal and regulatory requirements relating to Directors’ duties
and responsibilities in the discharge of their duties. The Company
has also circulated the monthly reports on the Group’s business,
operations, and financial matters to the Directors to keep them
informed of the Group’s latest development on a timely basis.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, all Directors have
confirmed that they have undertaken continuous professional
development and training programmes to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills as well as to keep themselves abreast of
the latest developments relevant to their respective expertise and
professions to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. A summary of the records of continuous
professional development provided by the Directors during the
year under review is set out below:

Directors

BEE

EHEIN

EREFABRTHFEAESTNEEIRET LR
MARTNEHR LT - AREELHEEEB
LT g W EFEREEMR UEK
FREAFALTHR CEXELAERAKEARE
ERERBTHREZEENEMERERE
ERENRMERRRMEL - ARTTEE
HOEEERARTERXRE CERMBS
BENSAWRE UBEZEAFATAEENR
MR-

REE-Z-NFE+-B=+—HItEE 2
REFERS REELEFEEXLERKIE
AIEt & LSRR BTN E 2 R R 5 B 0 I
EMRSEEEZEFNAREXEB RN
YR ERREHESGHFEENBRERZE
Mo BFRMRENEDBFEANNFESEES
RECEEIEHIIWMT

Attending seminars or training courses/Reading materials

i FE R 3% & aIEEIERIE RIsRAM R

James Mellon
Jamie Gibson
Jayne Sutcliffe
Mark Searle

Adrian Chan
PREAR

lhsan Al Chalabi

v

v
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THE BOARD (conTinueD)

Board Process

The Board is responsible for setting up the overall strategy and
reviewing the operation and financial performance of the Group.
The Board meets regularly and at least four times a year with at
least 14 days’ notice. Additional meetings with reasonable notice
will be held as and when the Board considers appropriate. During
the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board held four Board
meetings and also approved matters by way of written resolutions.

Draft agenda for each Board meeting is circulated to all
Directors such that all Directors are given the opportunities to
include matters for discussion in the agenda. Meeting agenda,
accompanying Board meeting papers, are given to Directors in
a timely manner and at least three days before the date of the
regular Board/Board Committee meetings (as far as practicable for
such other Board and Board Committee meetings).

Draft and final versions of minutes of the Board/Board Committee
meetings were circulated to Directors for their comments and
records respectively within a reasonable time after the meetings
were held. Minutes of Board/Board Committee meetings recorded
in detail the matters considered by the Board/Board Committees
and decisions reached at meeting, including any concerns raised
by Directors or dissenting views expressed. All minutes of Board/
Board Committee meetings are kept by the Company Secretary
or duly appointed secretary at the individual meetings. Such
minutes will be made available by the Company for inspection
at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director.
The Company Secretary shall circulate the minutes of meetings,
resolutions in writing and reports of the Board/Board Committees
to all Directors.

Resolutions were also passed by way of written resolutions
circulated to and signed by all Directors from time to time when
necessary. Except for those circumstances permitted by the
Articles of Association of the Company and the Listing Rules, a
Director who has a material interest in any contract, transaction,
arrangement or any other kind of proposal put forward to the
Board for consideration will abstain from voting on the relevant
resolution and such Director is not counted for the purpose of
determining quorum.

EEXERRS
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THE BOARD (conTinueD)

Board Process (CONTINUED)

All Directors, especially NEDs (including INEDs) are provided with
sufficient resources to assist them perform their duties as Board/
Board Committee members, including access to independent
professional advice, if necessary, at the Company’s expenses.

Physical Board meetings, as opposed to written resolutions, will
be held to consider matters in which a substantial shareholder
or Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered
by the Board which the Board has determined to be material.
At these physical Board meetings, INEDs who, and whose close
associates, have no material interest in the transaction will be
present. Directors who have a conflict of interest shall abstain from
voting on any Board resolution and shall not be counted in the
guorum on any resolution of the Board in respect of any contract
or arrangement or any other proposal in which he/she or his/her
close associates is materially interested in accordance with Article
103 of the Articles of Association of the Company.

The NEDs (including INEDs) actively participated in Board meetings
and Board Committee meetings. The Audit Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee
comprise a majority of INEDs.

Time Commitments of Directors

All Directors have demonstrated a strong commitment to the
Board affairs and devoted sufficient time performing their
responsibilities to the Company effectively. All Directors have
also disclosed any changes in their number and nature of offices
held in public companies and organisations and other significant
commitments to the Company.

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R A F ¥ EEEBERAE
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THE BOARD (conTinueD)

Mechanism to Ensure Independent Views and Input
Available to the Board

The Board is committed to assessing the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors annually and ensuring
that independent views and input are made available to the
Board. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board has
complied with the mechanism to ensure independent views and
input are made available to the Board. A summary of which is set
out below:

1.  Structure of the Board and Board Committees

The Board endeavours to ensure the appointment of at least
three INEDs and to appoint INEDs representing at least one-
third of the Board as required by the Listing Rules from time
to time and the INEDs will be appointed to other Board
Committees of the Company as far as practicable to ensure
independent views are available. There is a separation of the
role of the Chairman of the Board and the CEO to ensure
balance of power and authority.

None of the INEDs held cross-directorships or had significant
links with other Directors through involvements in other
companies.

2. Annual Review of Independence and Commitment

The Nomination Committee and the Board must strictly
adhere to the Nomination Policy and the guidelines for
assessing independence as set out in the Listing Rules
with regard to the nomination and appointment of INEDs.
The Nomination Committee and the Board will assess the
independence, qualification and time commitment of a
candidate who is nominated to be a new INED before
appointment, and assess the independence of all INEDs at
least on an annual basis by reference to the independence
criteria as set out in the Listing Rules to ensure that they can
continually exercise independent judgement. Each INED shall
confirm to the Company his independence, number and
nature of offices held in public companies or organisations
and other significant commitment on a half-yearly basis in
the Director’s confirmation and inform the Company as soon
as practicable if there is any change in his own personal
particulars that may materially affect his independence.
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THE BOARD (conTinueD)

Mechanism to Ensure Independent Views and Input
Available to the Board (Continued)

2.

Annual Review of Independence and Commitment
(Continued)

If an INED has served more than nine years, such INED's
further appointment should be subject to a separate
resolution to be approved by the Shareholders. The papers
to the Shareholders accompanying that resolution should
state why the Nomination Committee and the Board believe
that the INED is still independent and should be re-elected,
including the factors considered, the process and the
discussion of the Nomination Committee and the Board in
arriving at such determination.

Sufficient Resources and Decision Making

All INEDs should be provided with sufficient resources to
perform their duties. They can have direct access to the
Company Secretary and management of the Company and
should have access to independent professional advice at
the Company’s expense if necessary. The Board Chairman
meets with the INEDs annually without the presence of other
Directors, including the Executive Director and the NED.

All Directors, including INEDs, are encouraged to express
freely their independent views during the Board/Board
Committee meetings. All Directors, including INEDs shall not
vote or be counted in the quorum on any Board resolution
approving any contract or arrangement in which such
Director or any of his/her close associates has a material
interest.

Review of the Mechanism

The Board shall review such mechanisms and monitor its
implementation as appropriate from time to time so as to
ensure its effectiveness.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board at all times
have met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of INED and most INEDs were appointed to the
Board Committees of the Company to ensure independent views
were available. Independent views and input from INEDs are
available to the Board during discussions at physical Board and
Board Committee meetings as well as effective contribution and
exchange of views from time to time.
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THE BOARD (conTinueD)

Board Evaluation

There is a strong independent element on the Board which can
effectively exercise independent judgement. During the year under
review, an annual Board performance evaluation was conducted
to conclude that the Board and the Board Committees had
performed well with good processes. A culture of openness and
debate is also promoted by facilitating the effective contribution
of NEDs (including INEDs) in particular and ensuring constructive
relations between Executive Director and NEDs (including INEDs).

Directors and Officers Liability Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate Directors” and officers’
liability insurance policy in respect of legal action against the
Directors and officers of the Company. Such permitted indemnity
provisions are in force during the year under review and at the
date of this report.

CHAIRMAN AND CEO

The roles of the Chairman of the Board and the CEO are
segregated with written terms of reference. James Mellon has
been the Non-Executive Chairman of the Board since October
2005 to provide leadership for the Board and ensure that the
Board works effectively and discharges its responsibilities and
that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board
in a timely manner. Jamie Gibson has been the CEO since May
2002 and is responsible for the day-to-day management of the
Company’s business. The Chairman has delegated to the CEO to
draw up and approve the agenda for each Board meeting taking
into account, where appropriate, any matters proposed by other
Directors for inclusion in the agenda.

All Directors were properly briefed on issues arising at Board/
Board Committee meetings. Any enquiries or requests from the
Directors were followed up and responded to by the management
of the Company in a timely manner. The Board papers in sufficient
details were circulated to Directors on a timely manner so that all
Directors were able to receive adequate information, which must
be accurate, clear, complete and reliable, prior to the Board /Board
Committee meetings.

EEXERRS

EEg e
EERE

EFSTABRBRANEIITE  SEHBEMIFL
B -ROBEFERN EXQEETFE
REFE ERAEFTENEFTETEREETRE
RFBAEREF BEFENREBARKIEH
B mXE BHHRESIFNTES (BFEB
UFRATESR) FHAMNER LEFRIITE
ERFATES (BEBIUFATES 2B7F
TR MR o

ESRERASHEFRR

ARBERHBEEFRERASHRABRE
RFBRLHBENEETREBRAEEERRE
BoZFRAEFHNBEFR N OBEE RER
SHENABEN -

FRERITHBH

EFERITREMTHEEN A ECHEmBE
HEFTUNDPT -BZZEZHFE+HIE James
MellonEFEEEERTER  UEEEET
THRARESEENCEERBITEET 1B
BRI BLPTE EE KB E S HEITEIH © Jamie
GibsonBEZZZE_F A AERHETHRER &
EEEARNTHEER TECIEBITEAEN
REMLESRESTEEZNER THNBEE
R EMEER TR EIEY AR

EREFHRETEHREFE EXEEE
CERLRUENFE SRR EEE G KREIR
EROEREZRNEMEANER -BEFEXMH
BT BERAEEER UEE2REFRN
Exg EX2LZE9 9 EGREER
A BB AR B TR R PS5

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 £ %

63



64

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEXERRS

CHAIRMAN AND CEO (conTiNuED)

The Chairman takes primary responsibility for ensuring that
good governance practices and procedures are established. The
Chairman encourages all Directors to make a full and active
contribution to the Board's affairs and takes the lead to ensure that
the Board acts in the best interests of the Company. The Chairman
also encourages Directors with different views to voice their
concerns, allow sufficient time for discussion of issues and ensures
that Board decisions fairly reflect Board consensus.

The Chairman held a private meeting during the year under review
with all the INEDs without the presence of other Directors.

BOARD COMMITTEES

In the course of overseeing management and business
performance, the Board is assisted by the Audit Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee, with
each operating under written terms of reference as approved
and reviewed from time to time by the Board. There are also an
Investment Committee and an Inside Information Committee
under the authority of the Board to oversee various matters,
including but not limited to compliance and disclosure.

Details of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the Remuneration Committee, including the composition,
duties and work performed during the year under review, are set
out in the following paragraphs of this report. The Investment
Committee, comprises the Board Chairman and the CEO, primarily
oversees the investments of the Group. The Inside Information
Committee, comprising the CEO and other members who are not
Directors, reviews and monitors the compliance of the Company
with its statutory disclosure obligations under Part XIVA of the
SFO, the Listing Rules and other applicable laws and regulations in
respect of disclosures of the Company on an ongoing basis.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE DUTIES

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions as set out under Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.
During the year under review, the key corporate governance
functions performed by the Board included, but not limited to, the
Company’'s corporate governance policies and practices, training
and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, and the compliance with
the Model Code, the CG Code and disclosures in this report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee is comprised of three members with the
current composition as set out below:

Chairman of the Audit Committee:
Adrian Chan (INED)

Members of the Audit Committee:
James Mellon (NED)
Mark Searle (INED)

The Company has complied with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules,
which requires that the Audit Committee must comprise a
minimum of three members, at least one of whom is an INED with
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise, and a majority of the members
being INEDs and must be chaired by an INED.

The Audit Committee is primarily responsible for providing
an independent review of the effectiveness of the Company’s
financial reporting process, evaluating and determining the
nature and extent of the risks the Board is willing to take in
achieving the Company’s strategic objectives and ensuring that
the Company establishes and maintains appropriate and effective
risk management and internal control systems; and overseeing
the audit process and performing other duties and responsibilities
as assigned by the Board. The Audit Committee is provided with
sufficient resources to discharge its duties. Where necessary, the
Audit Committee may seek independent professional advice at
the Company’s expense to perform its responsibilities. The Audit
Committee is chaired by Adrian Chan who has the appropriate
professional qualifications and accounting and related financial
management expertise required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules.

Details of the duties of the Audit Committee are set out in its
terms of reference, which is subject to reviewed regularly and
updated where necessary and is made available at the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (conTinuep)

During the year under review, the Audit Committee held three
meetings and met with the external auditor twice in the absence
of the management of the Group. Duties performed included
to recommend the change of Auditor from RSM Hong Kong to
Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited with effect from 16 July 2024 for
Board approval, the review of the audited financial statements of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the interim
financial statements of the Group for the six months ended 30
June 2024, the semi-annual and annual review of the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems and
significant financial matters, the annual evaluation of the external
and internal auditors of the Company, the annual evaluation of
the Audit Committee, the annual review of adequacy of resources,
staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and
budget for the accounting, internal audit, financial reporting
functions of the Group and those relating to the Group’s
Environmental, Social and Governance performance and reporting.
The attendance of each member of the Audit Committee is set out
in the paragraph headed “Directors’ Attendance at Meetings” of
this report.

A separate paragraph headed “Risk Management and Internal
Control” is set out below in this report.

Whistleblowing Policy and Anti-Corruption Policy

The Board has adopted the Whistleblowing Policy and the Anti-
Corruption Policy on 1 July 2022 for compliance with Code
Provisions D.2.6 and D.2.7 of the CG Code respectively. Employees
of the Group can raise to the Audit Committee, in confidence,
concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or any other matters related to the Group. For
reported possible improprieties accepted for investigation, reports
of possible improprieties will be kept confidential to the extent
possible, consistent with the need to conduct an adequate
investigation. The Audit Committee should inform the Board of
the reports of possible improprieties and make recommendations
on the disciplinary and remedial actions to be taken. The Whistle-
blower should be communicated with the decision or investigation
results in a timely manner wherever possible. For reported possible
improprieties not to be investigated further, the reasons should be
reported to the Audit Committee and the Board.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (conTinueD)

Whistleblowing Policy and Anti-Corruption Policy (Continued)

In support of anti-corruption laws and regulations, the Company
reminds employees to observe the requirements of the Prevention
of Bribery Ordinance and relevant anti-corruption laws. All
Directors, officers and employees of the Group, and the Group's
joint venture partners, associated companies’ representatives,
consultants, contractors, customers and suppliers are encouraged
to abide by the principles of the Whistleblowing Policy and the
Anti-Corruption Policy, both policies are available at the website of
the Company.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee is comprised of three members with
the current composition as set out below:

Chairman of the Nomination Committee:
James Mellon (NED)

Members of the Nomination Committee:
Mark Searle (INED)
Adrian Chan (INED)

The Nomination Committee is primarily responsible for reviewing
the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board, assessing the independence of
INEDs, and nominating candidates for appointment and re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors,
in particular the Board Chairman and the CEO. The Nomination
Committee is provided with sufficient resources to perform its
duties. It is authorised by the Board to obtain, at the Company’s
expense, outside legal or other independent professional advice
on any matter subject to its terms of reference and to secure the
attendance of outsiders with relevant experience and expertise if it
considers necessary.

Nomination Policy

Nomination of candidates to stand for election as Board members
must go through formal, prudent and transparent procedures.
The Company has adopted the Nomination Policy which sets out
the selection criteria in the determination of the suitability of a
candidate and nomination procedures and the process and criteria
adopted by the Nomination Committee regarding selection and
recommendation of appointment of new Directors, re-election of
Directors and nomination from the Shareholders.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (conminuep)

Nomination Policy (Continued)

The Nomination Committee shall identify and nominate
potential candidates to the Board for consideration and make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning as it considers
appropriate. The Nomination Committee shall have regard to the
selection criteria which include but is not limited to qualifications,
experience, skills, expertise, independence and diversity of
perspectives which contribute to the effective carrying out of the
Board responsibilities, time commitment and Board diversity. The
Nomination Committee shall conduct a review of the Nomination
Policy and monitor its implementation from time to time to ensure
its effectiveness.

The overall composition of the Board and the skills of each Director
shall be reviewed and evaluated on a regular basis to maintain
Board efficiency and facilitate smooth succession planning.
Potential Board appointment identified will be put forward to the
Nomination Committee for consideration. The recommendation
of the Nomination Committee will be put forward to the Board
approval. According to Article 86(3) of the Articles of Association
of the Company, all newly-appointed Directors have to retire for
re-election by Shareholders at the first annual general meeting
following his/her appointment. Induction to new Directors will be
arranged to ensure they are updated.

The Nomination Committee shall review the overall contribution
and service to the Company of the retiring Directors and make
recommendation to the Board in respect of the proposed
re-election of Directors at the general meeting. At the 2024 AGM
held on 30 May 2024, Jayne Sutcliffe and Mark Searle retired by
rotation in accordance with Article 87 of the Articles of Association
of the Company and lhsan Al Chalabi retired in accordance with
Article 86(3) of the Articles of Association of the Company. Jayne
Sutcliffe, Mark Searle and lhsan Al Chalabi were re-elected as
Directors by the Shareholders by separate resolutions at the 2024
AGM.

Details of the duties of the Nomination Committee are set out
in its terms of reference, which is subject to review regularly and
update where necessary and is made available at the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

NOMINATION COMMITTEE (conminuep)

Nomination Policy (Continued)

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee held
one meeting. Duties performed included, the review of the
structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity of perspectives) of the Board, the
independence of the INEDs, the review of the implementation
and effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy and the
recommendation of the nomination of Directors retiring by
rotation and their re-election for Board approval. The attendance
of each member of the Nomination Committee is set out in the
paragraph headed “Directors’ Attendance at Meetings” of this
report.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having
a diverse Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board level
as an essential element in maintaining a competitive advantage.
The Board Diversity Policy sets out the approach to diversity on
the Board. The Board will consider the benefits of all aspects
of diversity including, but not limited to the skills, regional and
industry experience, background, race, gender and other qualities
of Directors. All Board appointments are made on merit, in the
context of the skills and experience the Board as a whole requires
to be effective.

The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree annually
all measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board
and recommend them to the Board for adoption. At any given
time the Board may seek to improve one or more aspects of
its diversity and measure progress accordingly. In order to set
meaningful objectives, the Nomination Committee will assess its
current diversity levels and identify where gaps exist. Measurable
objectives will then be developed which are tailored towards
improving diversity in areas where most improvement is needed.
The Company acknowledges that there are a number of different
types of measurable objectives which may be implemented to
assist in meeting its diversity goals, including:

- procedural and structural objectives: for example,
implementing internal review and reporting procedures
or ensuring that candidates are interviewed by a diverse
selection/interview panel;
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (conminuep)

Board Diversity Policy (Continued)

- diversity targets: setting specific diversity targets, for
example setting targets for the number of women on the
Board and implementing timeframes for this to occur by;
and

- initiatives and programs: for example, identifying
appropriate initiatives and programs and determining
how the initiative will operate, who will be responsible for
implementing it and setting a timetable for its introduction.

The Nomination Committee reviews the Board Diversity Policy and
its effectiveness annually and recommends revisions to the Board
for approval as appropriate. During the year under review, the
Nomination Committee and the Board reviewed and considered
the Board Diversity Policy, in particular gender diversity, was
suitable for the size of the Company.

Gender Diversity

As of 31 December 2024 and the date of this report, the Board
comprises of six Directors, of which 5 are male and 1 is female.
The Board considers that it has maintained a good and balanced
gender diversity at the Board level by having at least one member
or at least 15%, whichever is lower, of either gender on the Board
in view of the current Board size. However, the Board will continue
to enhance the proportion of female Directors when opportunities
arise over time when selecting and making recommendations for
suitable candidates.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

NOMINATION COMMITTEE (conminuep)

Gender Diversity (Continued)

The Company noted that a significant majority of the members
of the senior management of the Company are males and will
make its best endeavour to achieve a more balanced gender
diversity across the workforce (including senior management)
when opportunities arise. Currently, the senior management team
comprises of four members, of which 3 are male and 1 is female.
The Board considers that it has maintained a good and balanced
gender diversity at the senior management level by having at least
one member or at least 20%, whichever is lower, of either gender
in view of the current size of the senior management team. As
of 31 December 2024, the Company maintains a high gender
diversity in workforce, 71% of our staff were male and 29% were
female. The Company will continue with its endeavour to increase
female representation in our workforce. Further details on gender
ratio in the workforce are disclosed under the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” of the 2024 Annual Report.

Nomination Procedures and Process

The Nomination Committee identifies or selects potential
candidates for Board succession with consideration given to
the diversity of the Board, by engaging external independent
professional agencies if needed. The Nomination Committee may
use any process it deems appropriate to evaluate the candidates,
which may include personal interviews, background checks,
presentations, written submissions by the candidate or third-
party reference, then provides all relevant information and makes
recommendation to the Board, including the terms and conditions
of the appointment.

The Board approves the appointment of new Directors based upon
the recommendation of the Nomination Committee. A circular
accompanying the notice of the general meeting containing all
relevant information would be sent to the Shareholders where
applicable. A newly-appointed Director shall retire at the first
annual general meeting following his/her appointment but shall be
eligible for re-election by the Shareholders.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee is comprised of three members with
the current composition as set out below:

Chairman of the Remuneration Committee:
Mark Searle (INED)

Members of the Remuneration Committee:
James Mellon (NED)
Adrian Chan (INED)

The Remuneration Committee is primarily responsible for
reviewing and approving the remuneration packages of the
Directors and the employees as well as reviewing and approving
matters relating to the Share Option Scheme (2016) of the
Company, including but not limited to the grant of Options to the
eligible participants for Board approval, as and when appropriate.
The Remuneration Committee has adopted the model referred
to in Code Provision E.1.2(c) of the CG Code where it should
determine, with delegated responsibility, remuneration packages
of individual Executive Directors and senior management. No
Directors or any of their associates are involved in deciding their
own remuneration. The Remuneration Committee is provided
with sufficient resources to perform its duties. It is authorised by
the Board to obtain, at the Company’s expense, outside legal or
other independent professional advice on any matter subject to its
terms of reference and to secure the attendance of outsiders with
relevant experience and expertise if it considers this necessary.

Details of the duties of the Remuneration Committee are set out
in its terms of reference, which is subject to reviewed regularly and
updated where necessary and is made available at the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee
held one meeting. Duties performed included the review of
remuneration packages of the Executive Director and the
employees, and the review of the remuneration packages of the
NEDs including the INEDs with recommendation to the Board for
approval. During the year under review, no Options were granted.
The attendance of each member of the Remuneration Committee
is set out in the paragraph headed “Directors’ Attendance at
Meetings” of this report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continueD)

Pursuant to Code Provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the
remuneration payable to members of senior management by band
for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are set out as
follows:

The emoluments paid or payable to members of senior
management were within the following bands:
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HK$1,000,001-HK$ 1,500,000 (US$128,159-US$192,239) 2 —
1,000,001 75— 1,500,00078 75 (128,159% 75— 192,239%7T)
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2,000,0017&75—2,500,0007E 7T (256,319 75 —320,398%7T)

4 4

For further details of the remuneration for the year ended
31 December 2024 and 2023, please refer to note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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INSIDE INFORMATION REPORTING

The Company has adopted a policy and procedures on reporting
of Inside Information which set out the proper standards and
procedures for the handling, reporting and dissemination of Inside
Information in accordance with the Guidelines on Disclosure of
Inside Information issued by the SFC. Potential inside information
is escalated to the Inside Information Committee, comprising the
CEO who is the Executive Director and other members who are
not Directors, as soon as possible, which reviews and monitors
the compliance of the Company with its statutory disclosure
obligations under Part XIVA of the SFO, the Listing Rules and
other applicable laws and regulations. In the event that the Inside
Information Committee considers that certain possible or potential
inside information is in fact inside information, it will escalate the
matter to the Board for approval of appropriate disclosures. Any
public communication may only be made, or authorised to be
made, by the CEO or the Company Secretary and must be limited
to what information is already in the public domain. In addition,
Company presentation materials must not be released to the
market without formal and written approval from the CEO.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take
in achieving the Group's strategic objectives, maintaining sound
and effective risk management and internal control systems
and reviewing their effectiveness to safeguard shareholders’
investment and the Group's assets, on an ongoing basis. The Board
acknowledged that management continues to allocate resources
for the internal control and risk management systems which are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The
Board has delegated responsibility to the Audit Committee to
review the Group’s risk management and internal control matters
semi-annually.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(CONTINUED)

During the year under review, the Board, through the Audit
Committee, has reviewed the effectiveness and adequacy of
the Group's risk management and internal control systems as
set out in Code Provision D.2.1 of the CG Code. The Audit
Committee engaged an internal audit and business consulting
firm to undertake a review of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems on all material controls
for the year, including financial, operational and compliance
controls. The Board and the Audit Committee considered the
Group's risk management and internal control systems effective
and adequate.

Risk management

Risk management is a standing process of the Group which assists
management and the Board in enhancing the transparency and
accountability of the major business risks encountered. During the
year under review, the Group conducted formal risk assessment
by the management on a semi-annual basis to identify and assess
enterprise risks (including environmental, social and governance
risks) with reference to the Group's business objectives and
strategies. A risk assessment questionnaire prepared, based on the
Group’s risk model, was circulated to senior management of the
Group, together with reviews of existing risk mitigation measures
and follow-up interviews as necessary, to facilitate the assessment.
The risk assessment is also presented to the Audit Committee and
the Board for their review. Management then develops action
plans to further enhance the risk management capabilities of
particular key risks as appropriate.

Internal control

The Group ensures internal controls are designed and
implemented in all major aspects of the Group’s operations and
details of internal control activities are included in the operating
policies and procedures of the Group. The Audit Committee and
the Board review the Company’s internal audit function and the
risk management and internal control systems on an annual basis
and considered that they are effective and adequate. The Board
also reviews the policies and procedures of the Group on an
annual basis and approves updates as and when necessary.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(CONTINUED)

Internal audit function

The Group maintains an internal audit function assisting the Board
in maintaining an effective risk management and internal control
systems by evaluating its effectiveness and efficiency and by
promoting continuous improvement. The internal audit function of
the Group, which is independent of management, reports directly
to the Audit Committee regularly and has access to the Chairman
of the Audit Committee if appropriate during the year.

To enhance the objectivity and competency of the internal audit
function, the Group outsourced the internal audit function to
an internal audit and business consulting firm. The internal audit
function performs regular reviews of the Group’s internal controls
based on a risk-based internal audit plan approved by the Audit
Committee. The annual audit plan is arrived at using a risk-based
approach to determine the priorities of the internal audit activities.
Findings and recommendations on internal control deficiencies are
communicated with management and action plans are developed
by management to address the issues identified. Post-audit
reviews are scheduled to ensure the action plans are executed as
designed. Key findings of each internal control review assignment
are reported to and reviewed by the Audit Committee on a timely
basis.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of the accounts of the Group to present a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment in annual and interim reports and
other financial disclosures required by the Listing Rules and in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and
other statutory requirements. The Directors draw the Shareholders’
attention to note 3 to the consolidated financial statements,
which indicates that the Group incurred a loss of approximately
US$4,482,000, for the year ended 31 December 2024 and, as at
that date, the Group had net current liabilities and net liabilities
of approximately US$5,048,000 and US$5,901,000, respectively.
Together with other matters set forth in note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements, these events or conditions indicate that a
material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. The Directors note
the Auditors have not qualified their opinion on this matter but
have included a material uncertainty related to going concern
paragraph in their audit opinion.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continuep)

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee, in conjunction with the Company’s independent
auditor, Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited. An explanation of the
basis on which the Company generates or preserves value over the
longer term (the business model) and the strategy for delivering
the Company’s objectives are set out in the paragraph headed
“Strategic Plan” under section “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of the Group's Performance” of the 2024 Annual Report.

A report of the independent auditor with respect to the
Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year under
review is included in the 2024 Annual Report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024 have been audited by the independent
auditor, Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited. The independent auditor
declares its independence and objectivity and presents the scope
of audit to the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee reviews
and monitors the independent auditor’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process. The Audit
Committee also reviews and approves the independent auditor’s
fee on the basis that it was fair and reasonable for the size and
operations of the Group and in the best interests of the Group.
The fees in respect of audit and non-audit services provided
to the Group by the independent auditor for the year under
review amounted to approximately US$122,000 and US$19,000
respectively. The non-audit services mainly consist of agreed-upon
procedures on interim review.

The Audit Committee also makes recommendations to the Board
on the appointment and retention of the independent auditor.
Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited shall retire at the 2025 AGM and,
being eligible, offers itself for re-appointment. More information
about the independent auditor’s responsibilities is set out in the
“Independent Auditor’s Report” of the 2024 Annual Report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEXERRS

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary of the Company is a full-time employee of
the Group and reports to the Board and the CEO. The Company
Secretary provides support to the Board by ensuring good
information flow within the Board and the Board Committees
and disseminating the decisions/policies made by the Board/
Board Committees to the relevant departments for follow up/
implementation. The Company Secretary also assists the Chairman
and the Board in implementing and strengthening Board processes
and corporate governance practices. All Directors have access to
the advice and services of the Company Secretary to ensure that
Board procedures, and all applicable law, rules and regulations are
followed. The Company Secretary had taken no less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training which complied with Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopts a dividend policy, pursuant to which it will
make semi-annual distributions in an aggregate amount per year
not to exceed 35% of the anticipated consolidated annual profits
of the Company, subject to certain criteria. The Company may also
declare special distributions from time to time in addition to the
semi-annual distributions. The Company will evaluate its financial
position, the prevailing economic climate and expectations
about the future macroeconomic environment and business
performance. The determination to make distributions will be
made at the discretion of the Board and will be based upon the
Company’s operations and earnings, investment requirements,
cash flow, financial condition, future prospects, capital and other
reserve requirements and surplus, general financial conditions,
contractual restrictions and any other conditions or factors which
the Board deems relevant. Any distribution is also subject to
compliance with all applicable laws, rules, regulations and the
Articles of Association of the Company. Dividends will be declared
and paid in Hong Kong dollars, with an election offered to the
Shareholders to receive the dividends in US dollars. The Board
will continually review its dividend policy and adopt changes as
appropriate.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company’s current Memorandum and Articles of Association
(as amended and restated on 1 June 2023) are made available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. During
the year ended 31 December 2024, there were no changes to the
Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS AND COMMUNICATION

General Meetings

The Company held its 2024 AGM on 30 May 2024. Except Mark
Searle who was unable to attend the 2024 AGM due to his other
business commitments, all Directors, namely James Mellon and
Jayne Sutcliffe attended the 2024 AGM by video conference,
and Jamie Gibson, Adrian Chan and lhsan Al Chalabi attended
the 2024 AGM in person. The Company's branch share registrar
in Hong Kong acted as the scrutineers at the 2024 AGM for the
purpose of vote-taking. Representatives of the then independent
auditor, RSM Hong Kong, also attended the 2024 AGM to answer
questions relating to its audit and the auditor's report (if any).
Procedures for conducting a poll and answered questions arising
therefrom (if any) were explained at the meeting. All proposed
resolutions were approved by the Shareholders. The poll voting
results of the meeting were published to the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

Shareholders’ Communication Policy, including the
Procedures for Shareholders to Convene a General
Meeting and Putting Forward Proposals at a General
Meeting

The Shareholders” Communication Policy (including the procedures
for Shareholders: (i) to requisition an extraordinary general
meeting; or (i) to put forward proposals at the Company’s general
meetings; or (iii) to put enquiries to the Directors) is available under
section “Corporate Documents” of the website of the Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS AND COMMUNICATION

(CONTINUED)

Shareholders’ Communication Policy, including the
Procedures for Shareholders to Convene a General
Meeting and Putting Forward Proposals at a General
Meeting (Continued)

Article 58 of the Articles of Association of the Company provides
that the Board may whenever thinks fit call extraordinary general
meetings, and (i) a member or members of the Company (acting
together) holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than 10% of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company; or (ii) on a one
vote per share basis in the share capital of the Company, shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary, to require an extraordinary general meeting to
be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition and the foregoing Member or Members shall
be able to add resolutions to the meeting agenda; and such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionists themselves
may convene a Physical Meeting at only one location which will be
the Principal Meeting Place, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionists as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.

Shareholders who wish to communicate with the Company,
including: (i) to requisition an extraordinary general meeting
pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association of the
Company; (i) to put forward proposals at the Company's general
meetings; or (iii) to put enquiries to the Directors, should write
to the CEO or the Company Secretary at info@regentpac.com,
accompanied by the details of their proposals. The Company’s
address and telephone and facsimile numbers are set out on its
website.

During the year under review, the Board had conducted an annual
review of the Shareholders” Communication Policy and was of the
view that the Company had in place a compliant and effective
means of communication with the Shareholders.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS AND COMMUNICATION

(CONTINUED)

Procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director

The Procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election
as a Director are available under section “Corporate Documents”
of the website of the Company.

Article 88 of the Articles of Association of the Company provides
that no person other than a retiring Director shall, unless
recommended by the Directors for election, be eligible for election
as a Director at any general meeting unless during the period
commencing no earlier than the day after the despatch of the
notice of the meeting and ending no later than seven days prior
to the date of such meeting, provided that such period shall be
at least seven days, there shall have been lodged at the registered
office or the head office of the Company a notice signed by a
member of the Company (other than the person to be proposed)
duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for which such
notice is given of his intention to propose such person for election
and also a notice signed by the person to be proposed of his
willingness to be elected.

Accordingly, if a Shareholder wishes to nominate a person to
stand for election as a Director at the annual general meeting,
the following documents must be validly served on the CEO
or the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong within the period specified under Article
88 of the Articles of Association of the Company, namely, (i) the
shareholder's notice of intention to propose a resolution to elect a
nominated candidate as a Director at the annual general meeting;
(i) a notice signed by the nominated candidate of the candidate’s
willingness to be elected; (iii) the nominated candidate’s
biographical details as required to be disclosed under Rule
13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; and (iv) the nominated candidate’s
written consent to the publication of his/her personal data at
the corporate documents of the Company. The shareholder’s
proposal will be forwarded to the Nomination Committee as soon
as practicable for consideration. Upon recommendation by the
Nomination Committee, the Board will further resolve to approve
or decline the proposed election of the candidate as a Director as
appropriate.

On Behalf of the Board

James Mellon
Chairman

27 March 2025
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIR- B RERHS

OVERVIEW AND SCOPE

In alignment with Appendix C2 to The Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the
Group presents its Environmental, Social and Governance (the
“ESG") Report.

BOARD OVERSIGHT AND ESG MANAGEMENT
APPROACH

The Group is dedicated to conducting business with environmental
and social responsibility across all operating regions. Being the
highest decision-making level in the ESG governance structure,
the Board of Directors is responsible for supervising and reviewing
the Company’s sustainable development goals and strategy
formulation. The direction, strategy, and reporting of the Group’s
ESG practices are governed by the Board, which confirms it is
responsible for ensuring that ESG disclosure requirements are
fulfilled. The Board authorizes the Senior Management to assess
and determine ESG-related risks and is responsible for the day-to-
day management of ESG matters and ensuring that appropriate
and effective ESG risk management and internal control systems
are in place. Board meetings are held to discuss ESG-related
risks, opportunities and measures, and identify important issues.
The Board is responsible for the truthfulness, accuracy and
completeness of the contents of the Report.

The Group has established an ESG Working Group, which reports
to the Board, comprising members of Senior Management and
other staff members of relevant departments. The ESG Working
Group is delegated to carry out various tasks pertaining to the
implementation of ESG strategies and related reporting. The ESG
Working Group is responsible for undertaking the following major
activities and responsibilities:

—  Conducting the annual ESG Materiality Assessment;

—  Defining the scope of work and resources for the ESG
reporting;

—  Collecting and compiling information and ESG data;

—  Preparing the annual ESG report; and

— Monitoring the ongoing compliance in relation to ESG
matters.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD OVERSIGHT AND ESG MANAGEMENT
APPROACH (continueD)

The Board collaborates closely with the ESG Working Group
to conduct regular assessments of the Group's ESG exposure,
taking into account shifts in both internal and external business
environments while tracking ESG performance metrics and the
achievement of management-established ESG targets. The ESG
Working Group is responsible for compiling the ESG-related
performance data for the Board's review. Annually, the Board
reviews ESG-related performance against set targets and assesses
the appropriateness and effectiveness of risk management and
internal control systems during the Board Meeting. The Board has
been aware of its overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG strategy
and reporting and has ensured Management has implemented
relevant measures during the Reporting Period. The Board ensures
adherence to all applicable ESG principles throughout business
operations.

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Group conducts annual Materiality Assessments as a key
component of its ESG management strategy to identify crucial
ESG matters. These identified issues undergo evaluation based on
their comparative likelihood, impact, adaptability, and recovery.
The results are reviewed and approved by the ESG Working Group,
and the ESG-related issues with the highest materiality to the
Group are included in the ESG Report, reviewed and approved by
the Board. Based on the Materiality Assessment outcomes, the
following represents the ten most significant ESG-related matters:

ESG-related Issues

2
°

Climate change response
Difficulty in talent attraction and retention
Employee engagement, diversity and inclusion
Business ethic
Anti-corruption
Unqualified/unethical suppliers and business partners
Infringement of intellectual property rights and data leakage
Unsuccessful investment in new technologies
Product safety and quality
0  Product design & lifecycle management
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RIF-HERESHRS

REPORTING BOUNDARY

Drawing from the Materiality Assessment findings, the Board
established the ESG Report's scope of disclosure by evaluating
the office area, the number of employees of each operation,
the relevant financial materiality of each operation, and their
alignment with the ten priority issues identified.

The reporting scope of this ESG Report, covering the year ended
December 31, 2024 (“Reporting Period”), extends to the
operations of the headquarters in Hong Kong (covering “Regent
Pacific Group Limited”, “Regent Financial Services Limited”
and “Deep Longevity Limited”), and the operations of Plethora
(covering “Plethora Solutions Holdings plc”, “Plethora Solutions
Limited” and “Plethora Pharma Solutions Limited”) in the United
Kingdom.

This ESG Report discusses the Group’s comprehensive performance
regarding key performance indicators (“KPIs"), policies, and
compliance across two key domains: Environmental and Social.
Our indirect greenhouse gas ("GHG"”) emissions are minimal,
stemming mostly from indirect electricity consumption and paper
usage in daily office operations, and we are not involved in
generating air, water, land pollutants, or hazardous wastes.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES APPLIED

Principles The Group’s Application

Materiality The Group has assessed the materiality of the
key ESG issues associated with its business
and operations. Details are disclosed under the
“Materiality Assessment” section.

The key performance indicators involved in
the effectiveness of environmental, social and
governance policies and management systems
shall be, as far as practicable, presented in the
form of quantitative data accompanied by a
narrative explaining its purposes and impacts.
The Group has ensured consistency in preparing
this ESG Report, including the reporting and
calculation methods, whenever possible, and will
detail changes to the methodologies adopted
when such changes arise to allow meaningful
comparisons of the ESG data.

Quantitative

Consistency
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL

Our commitment to environmental responsibility guides our
business operations, requiring all staff to follow environmental
laws and regulations and conduct business in an environmentally
conscious manner, preserve resources, and support sustainability.

The Group continues to monitor ESG-related issues, including
climate-related issues, which may impact operations by performing
Materiality Assessments on an annual basis. In case of extreme
weather events, the Group has developed emergency guidelines
and measures in accordance with the relevant extreme weather
guidelines issued by the local government to ensure the safety of
all employees. To maintain ongoing relevancy and effectiveness,
the Group conducts regular reviews of its climate change policies.

During the Reporting Period, the Group operated from two
physical locations: a main office of 5,479 square feet in Hong
Kong and Plethora’s office in the United Kingdom, occupying 344
square feet. Deep Longevity adopts a home working practice and
does not have a physical office. Our business KPIs are shown in the
following section (Note 1):
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIF-HERESHRS

ENVIRONMENTAL (conTiNuED) IRIR =
Key Performance Indicators Unit 2024
FASRAEIEIR Efi —TmE
GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS
i mARHE
Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1)’ Tonnes CO2e N/A
EERERBHNEGEIE1) MR EE ~EA
Indirect GHG emissions (Scope 2) Tonnes CO2e 28.70
BEERERBIINE &EE2) M- EEHREE
e Electricity purchased? Tonnes CO2e 28.70
BBEE? WS bk EE
Indirect GHG emissions (Scope 3) © Tonnes COze 426,594.20
AFRAERBEINE FEE3)° ME_EIEREE
e Paper waste to landfills Tonnes CO2e 426,514.43
I EEREAR M- EEHREE
e Business air travel by employees Tonnes CO2e 79.77
B B B = k1T WS bk EE
Total GHG emissions (Scope 1, 2 and 3) Tonnes COze 426,622.90
BERBHREE EEN 2&3) WStk ES2
Intensity of GHG emissions Tonnes COze/employee 25,095.46
BEREHREZE MB_EtHREE 1’8
WASTE MANAGEMENT
EEEE
Total amount of hazardous waste' Tonnes N/A
BEEEYRE U iEA
Intensity of hazardous waste' Tonnes/employee N/A
BEBEYMEBE mE, BE ~EA
Total amount of non-hazardous waste® Tonnes 410.24
mEBYEES U
e  Office domestic waste and food waste Tonnes 0.84
WA = A JENIIR e BT AR U
e Office paper consumption Tonnes 409.40
MAERR ME
Intensity of non-hazardous waste Tonnes/employee 24.13
BREBVEE L]
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RIF-HERERERS

ENVIRONMENTAL (conTiNuED) IRIR @

Key Performance Indicators Unit 2024
FRSBAR ISR Bl < 111 - 3
ENERGY CONSUMPTION

HEERER

Direct energy consumption’ kWh N/A
BEREEFERER FEEF &R
Indirect energy consumption (purchased electricity)? kWh 42,213.00
B ERR BBEE ) ? T ELBF

Total energy consumption kWh 42,213.00
JHFERERARE T REF

Intensity of energy consumption kWh/employee 2,483.12
HIERERE B TEE/ RS

WATER CONSUMPTION?

#ek:

Total water consumption m3 N/A
FEIKARE AR ~EA
Intensity of water consumption m3/employee N/A
FEKBE YHKRE &R
PACKING MATERIALS CONSUMPTION*

HESRYR

Total amount of packaging materials Tonnes N/A
BEYKEHRE LT NEHA
Intensity of packaging materials Tonnes/revenue in million HKD N/A
BEMEEE MR, B & BT & A
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RIF-HERERHRS

ENVIRONMENTAL (continuep)

Notes:

i.

The Group's production or related activities did not significantly:
—  Emit air pollutants;
—  Directly generate GHG;

—  Generate hazardous wastes as defined by national
regulations;

—  Directly consume energy; and
—  Consume fuel by mobile vehicles.

Unless otherwise specified, the environmental data and energy
consumption data only includes the headquarters in Hong Kong
and Plethora’s operations in the United Kingdom. The emission
and energy consumption data for Deep Longevity operation is not
available since this business adopts a home-working practice and
does not have a physical office.

The figures only include the headquarters in Hong Kong. Electricity
consumption data in Plethora’s office is not available since the
electricity supply is managed by the Landlord.

The water consumption data is not available as our business
operates on leased premises with the supply and discharge of water
controlled by building management.

Commercialization partners of the Group are responsible for the
marketing, distribution, and manufacturing of all products. The
Group is not directly involved in the use or purchase of packaging
materials.

To enhance the comparability of data disclosed in the Report, we
have begun calculating and disclosing non-hazardous waste data
from this year.

Data covers Scope 3 emissions from business air travel and paper
consumption, representing 2 categories out of the 15 Scope 3
emissions categories mentioned in the GHG Protocol.

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R A F ¥ EEEBERAE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIF-HERERERS

ENVIRONMENTAL (continuep)

Given our operational nature, the Group's greenhouse gas
emissions primarily stem from the consumption of purchased
electricity and employees’ business-related air travel. Various
measures have been undertaken to manage and reduce
greenhouse gas emissions. Management procedures and
reduction initiatives, including electricity conservation, paper usage
reduction, and waste management protocols, are detailed in
subsequent sections.

Recognizing purchased electricity as our largest energy
consumption factor, we've adopted specific conservation practices:
transitioning from fluorescent to energy-efficient lightbulbs and
ensuring lights and air-conditioning are deactivated when areas are
unoccupied.

To minimize paper-related waste and greenhouse gas emissions,
employees are encouraged to adopt double-sided printing, use
recycled paper for internal documentation, and prioritize digital file
formats over printed copies.

Our waste generation is confined to standard minimal general
office consumables, while the Group remains firmly committed to
responsible solid waste management practices. We recycle toner
cartridges and paper waste through a qualified third-party service
provider. Residual minimal paper waste is disposed of in landfills
through the building management'’s waste disposal channels.

Recognizing the paramount importance of water resources
as an invaluable component of Earth's ecological systems and
environmental health, the Group persistently works to strengthen
awareness about water conservation practices through ongoing
internal communication initiatives. Our water conservation
measures include:

e Promote employees from using drinking water for
nondrinking purposes, such as cleaning, watering plants,
etc,;

e Post reminder messages in the washrooms; and
° Optimize water management systems and measures, such

as reinforcing and arranging regular maintenance and
inspection of pipes, valves, joints and fixtures.

IRIE @

ERRMNVEELE  2EBNREERBEIIN

BREMBEENREBEEAHRITIKEZ
HIE e HFICHRINZ B EE KR
RN -BEERFMHERMEEHORE
ARG R R EYEIERE  sF IR RN R E

=

EERl°

HAUEHIBEEBNRRMRANERHEFE
H 2 > R FIRE T 55 E RV BB FE 1 © A1
FAERBE NG A - X B AR TE A2 B

PSS IE L 2 5

Ry RAPA BB K 2= 58 o

mEERVERRAMNEYRRERES
e I E R E A EmTE  AEE S &
RAEERKEREREFRIAMIFSINR -

HPEENEDERNELDEN—RMLOFE

MERBE -RMEBEERE=ZTRBHE
20 [B] W Bk KD &= e BE AR o R BR AR D BYBE AR RN ZE 2B

AEEERNEYRIEREEREHIER -

FEFHQKERFAMKERRK NIRRT
BENENSOEREE It —EEBRES
M RKBIE R - FFIBVEIKEE

AEEEREEH
MEE -

e REIBEEVNRHKAXKARIFERARE>

BIGDER ~

FEEYS
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIF-HERESHRS

ENVIRONMENTAL (continuep)
We strive to utilize water in a responsible manner and enhance
water efficiency in daily operations.

During the Reporting Period, there was no difficulty in sourcing
water during operations. The water consumption data is not
available as the business operates in leased premises with
the supply and discharge of water controlled by building
management.

Our business operations continue to be guided by established
ESG principles. We are pleased to report that we have achieved
our FY2022 environmental targets in this Reporting Period.
Considering our small operation size and the various measures
adopted by the Group to keep the impacts on the environment
minimal, in continuation of our FY2022 targets, we strive to
maintain the current level of emissions, non-hazardous waste
generated, and energy consumption in the coming three years.
The three-year target is also consistent with the latest risk
assessment result. Moving forward, the Group remains steadfastly
committed to our environmental stewardship practices, as we
strive to promote the efficient use of energy we consume and
increase energy efficiency during daily operations. Throughout
the process, we will continue to assess, record, and disclose GHG
emissions and other environmental data on an annual basis,
which will guide the development of future emission reduction
objectives.

The post-pandemic economic recovery led to increased business
travel and consequent GHG emissions. However, these emissions
remain within reasonable bounds considering the Group’s
operational scope. Throughout the Reporting Period, there was
no reported case of non-compliance with the Air Pollution Control
Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Climate Change Act 2008 of the
United Kingdom, and other applicable environmental laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group.

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R A F ¥ EEEBERAE

IRIE @
AR O UEEEN A RFEKER WHE
HEZERIEe BAK¥ e

RERERE A EEBRE DI EKRBUKRIE
Bo-mNEHBREEYEREE  HAKRIKA
REEERES WEIESHEKEHE-

RANEFEE—HEERRRE HERELRR
Ao HPIMARRE > RPIB N AR S HARZ N
THEMA-ZE - _WHFEREER -TEEHK
FRNEBERER) UnAEEBFHESER
OHIRBIFEMEMOSBER HRFZ
TCCHMBFERR HARODERR=FH
RHIRAENHB - FREERNESBEY MIERERE
KFZ=FERTTHERMO AR EER—
H-BERR FEERSEBREITBHEER
HANREEERE T EEEEBRER
PR DR e ERFIPMEFESERB A RF B I
TR K - EREBED AR EES
Fib BB RIREREREIFBRREMIRR
g BLERIER AR EERBHE B IRAIH

FEo

BEREEERENBHERIEIN  EMER
BERBEHFR -AM TRIELERNEERD
ZEFRENEFESENBEN -NE
BREME BEZEFBTEB(ERSTR
BEHIEH)  RBE(ZZZNEREEB L) U
REMBRARBERERZEHAMEEER
EMERTE-



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

SOCIAL

Employment and Labour Practices
Employment

The Group maintains rigorous compliance with applicable labour,
safety, and employment regulations across its operating locations.
Recognizing inclusion as fundamental to sustainable business
success, we actively promote equal opportunities throughout
recruitment and employment, and stand firmly against workplace
discrimination.

The Group maintains comprehensive internal workplace policies
and guidelines covering employment, dismissal, working hours,
leave entitlements, working conduct, safety, welfare, benefits, and
training and development. The Employee Handbook is distributed
to all employees as a vital communication medium between the
Company and its employees. During the Reporting Period, there
was no reported case of non-compliance with the following
regulations:

Hong Kong

e Employment Ordinance;

e Sex Discrimination Ordinance;

e Disability Discrimination Ordinance;

e Family Status Discrimination Ordinance; and

° Race Discrimination Ordinance.

United Kingdom

e Equality Act 2010.

As well as other relevant employment regulations on violation of
employees’ rights during the Reporting Period.

RIF-HERESHRS
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FEBNEEMMBRETERZF L 22
RERERE HABHINCETERAUFER =S
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SOCIAL (conTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)
Labour Standards

The Group enforces a zero-tolerance policy against child and
forced labour. The Group maintains strict compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong and the United
Kingdom, including the Employment of Children Regulations of
Hong Kong, the Modern Slavery Act 2015 of the United Kingdom,
and other applicable regulations.

We conduct stringent employee due diligence as part of the
onboarding procedure to ensure age verification is performed and
the candidates are coming to work of their own free will.

The Group was not aware of any violations regarding child labour
or forced labour regulations during the Reporting Period. In the
event of any identified cases, the Group shall remove the young
worker from the task or position immediately and conduct an
inspection of the recruiting processes to assess if any deficiencies
exist. Additionally, we will develop a remediation plan for the
affected children and labour, prioritizing the needs of the children
and providing appropriate support.

As of 31 December 2024, the Group employed a total of 17
employees. During the Reporting Period, the distribution of the
workforce is as follows (Note 1):

Number of Employees by Gender

mitNB 2 EEHE

@ Vale Bt @ Female &M

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R AT ¥ EEEBERAE

HET @
BEREIER @
TR

AEBBE T RAHE TRRNESTER A
EBBERETERRRENVERERRIER
BEER(EARERM) RE(ZZT—4F
WAL E) REAMBRER -

EAABERFN—BD RIIETEBNES
ERAT URFETERES  TREEE
ABRBEIE

RBREME Z2EBITANEBEAEREHE
T Esa 55 TOERBYIRN o 38 B IR S
B> A E B B R FE T AKEAERIER S
URBkR TRBEARETRE  UFHE
BEEEMABRE I AR BSREENR
ERFIHEMKGE BEERERENT
Ko MIRMBEF

BE_Z_WNE+_-_FB=+—H  ~EEHHLE
B17%RE - RBREHRE S8 HoMmuT (¢
5E1) ¢

Number of Employees by Employment Type
RERESEHSESEHE

@ rull Time 28 @ Part Time 325
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SOCIAL (conTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)

Labour Standards (continued)

Number of Employees by Age Group
BRERENI S ESHE

@ Below 40 years old 405t LT
@ 40 years old or above 40EE M £

RIF-HERESHRS

HT @
BEREIER @®

BTEA @
Number of Employees by Geographical Region
e ESHE

@ Hong Kong &% @ United Kingdom [
@ India ENE @ Others Efth

During the Reporting Period, the employee turnover rate is as MRREHE  EEREFMT (HsE1%2) :

follows (Note 1 & 2):

Employee Turnover Rate Employee Turnover Rate Employee Turnover Rate by
by Gender by Age Group Geographical Region
BB EERKE RERMBENB D EEREE BMER S ESRKE
0%

0% ﬂ[w%
IEH]W% 0%

0%

50%
{>qI><]|[><a00%

0% 50% 100% 0% 50% 100% 0% 50% 100%
@ Male 2t @ Female & @ Below 40 years old @ 40 years old or above @ Hong Kong &3 @ United Kingdom #:E
408U 405z Bl L @ india ENE @ Others Hith
Notes: PEE

1. Employment-related data includes regular employees and 1. EFBEEBZEEEREEEFEZERFGN

consultants who are in a direct employment relationship with the BlERSKRER - U TR THABREEITH

Group. The following types of workers are excluded from this TRMMERIRBEM A MA LN EE

disclosure due to the nature and scale of work they perform:

—  Consultants, agents, contractors, and vendors hired to deliver - REREHIFURBIEE - AE XS
work or services and their employment decisions, including B R IR R B R AR E (L5
compensation and benefits, are made by a third-party REh) BSE=FREMFE;
employer;

— Independent non-executive directors

- BUFRTES

2. Employee turnover rate data covers the number of employees who 2. {EEKFBURELIE R S AR B FREER 20 A #
left employment voluntarily or due to dismissal, retirement, or death B BB T AN ESHE -

in service during the Reporting Period.
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Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)
Health and Safety

The Group is committed to maintaining a safe working
environment and supporting all employees in achieving their goals.
The Group has implemented practical safety management to
eliminate occupational hazards and provides health and accident
insurance coverage to eligible employees. Our occupational
health and safety strategy is built on implementing the following
workplace policies:

Personal Health

e Request the property management company to clean the air
conditioner system regularly;

e Provide daily office cleaning service; and

e Prohibit smoking in all indoor areas of workplaces and public
places.

Work Safety
e  Provide adequate and neat sanitary facilities; and

e Develop a management system with procedures for
employees to voice opinions and file complaints effectively.

Fire Safety

e Request the management company to check the fire exits
frequently; and

e Perform fire drills every year.

There were no work-related injuries or fatalities for the past three
years including the Reporting Period. The Group was not aware
of any reported cases of non-compliance with the Occupational
Safety and Health Ordinance of Hong Kong, Health and Safety at
Work Act 1974 of the United Kingdom, as well as other relevant
laws and regulations relating to employees’ health and safety.

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R A F ¥ EEEBERAE
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RIF-HERESHRS

SOCIAL (conTiNuED) tew
Employment and Labour Practices (Continued) EERSIER @
Health and Safety (Continued) BFHEZLE @
Unit 2024 2023 2022
Efil —E-mE —gZ= —E-C
Work-related fatalities person 0 0 0
AITH A
Lost days due to work injury day 0 0 0
RIBELEH H
Development and Training BRRIE

We have established training and development protocols to
provide employees with the necessary support to build their
professional capabilities and job-related competencies. Education
allowances and leaves are offered to the employees for attending
training courses, conferences, and examinations organized by
recognized professional institutions. The training relevant data are
as below:

The percentage of employees trained classified by different
categories:

Percentage of Employees Trained
by Gender
riENBSZIEERSL

HACHERIRERS R REERMHLE
FUERARENEERE R ITFERE
N BES MDA EERBEMZ HFIERE
SIS BIRMHHE R KRR - 5518k
HEAT

BAREREPHZNEEBT DL

Percentage of Employees Trained
by Employee Category
RESHENBSZIEERSLE

@ Vale Bt @ Female 14 @ Senior Management S4REEE @ General Staff —fRE T

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 £ 3§

95



96

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIF-HERESHRS

SOCIAL (conTinueD)
Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)
Development and Training (Continued)

The average training hours per employee:

Average Training Hours per
Employee by Gender

RS EHES
FIGIE RN

6.83
gl o.s0

5 10 15 20 0 5
O Male BEt: @ Female ¥t

(=)

g w
BERFILER @
BERIZ ®
FHEBTFHIEIRE

Average Training Hours per
Employee by Employee Category
rRESHENBSSRHES
FHER Y

ll<q||llE12.29
Iﬂ]]ﬁ4.50

10 15 20

@ Senior Management S 4k E1EfE

@ General Staff —f3 2T

Supply Chain Management

The Group builds relationships with suppliers and partners
based on fairness and ethics, requiring them to maintain high
standards across social, ethical, and environmental practices.
Our Management actively monitors and verifies that business
partners meet environmental regulations while promoting good
manufacturing standards and consistent quality control measures.
The Group emphasizes promoting efficient communication and
cooperation with business partners to jointly maintain the quality
and safety of products and services. The Group is convinced that
maintaining strong supplier relationships is key to sustainable
business growth and development.

Furthermore, the Group employs a well-defined set of
standardized procurement management procedures to assess
and monitor suppliers, helping identify and reduce environmental
and social supply chain risks relevant to the supply chain. A
series of audit procedures are conducted to comprehensively
examine prospective suppliers’ performance in terms of quality,
environmental standards, and safety before engagement.
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SOCIAL (conTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)
Supply Chain Management (Continued)

When selecting products and services, the Group evaluates price,
quality, and safety as fundamental requirements and further
proactively integrates environmentally preferable purchasing
principles throughout its procurement process.

Products and services considered environmentally preferable
are those that demonstrate reduced environmental and human
health impacts compared to alternative options serving identical
purposes. The Group maintains its commitment to incorporating
ESG factors into its business decision-making processes.

The Group performs annual evaluations of key suppliers to assess
their overall performance. In cases where suppliers are found
to materially breach their agreed responsibilities and operating
procedures, the Group reserves the right to terminate the
partnership, ensuring supply chain performance regarding quality,
environmental standards, and safety remains aligned with Group
Policy.

During the Reporting Period, we engaged with 54 suppliers.
Currently, there are 7 key suppliers selected under the above

requirements and evaluation.

The distribution of suppliers by geographical region is as follows:
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75 o
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Distribution of Suppliers by Geographical Region
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SOCIAL (conTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)
Product Responsibility

As a biopharmaceutical investment company, the Group places the
highest priority on product quality and safety as its fundamental
value. The Group has regularly and closely monitored the safety
of all its medicine products, including reviewing safety data
from clinical studies and reviewing reports on probable adverse
drug reactions through its regulatory consultant. The Group
does not manufacture any pharmaceutical products. However,
the Group monitors the manufacturers’ compliance with Good
Manufacturing Practices, Good Distribution Practices, Good
Pharmacovigilance Practices, and other relevant regulations. In the
event of any misconduct or product recall, the Group will conduct
an investigation and report findings to Management. During
the Reporting Period, there were no instances of product recalls,
quality concerns, adverse events, or complaints regarding products
and services.

The Group is committed to safeguarding intellectual property
and patent rights, both internal and external. The Information
Technology Department ensures all software, hardware, and
information used in business operations have proper licenses and
permits.

In case of any identified acquisition opportunity, the Group
conducts a due diligence process to ensure the acquiree has
measures in place to protect its confidential information, trade
secrets, know-how, inventions or other propriety information.
The access to the documents related to intellectual property are
restricted to authorized personnel only.

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R A F ¥ EEEBERAE
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SOCIAL (conTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)
Product Responsibility (Continued)

The Group prioritizes data privacy and protects customers’,
business partners’ and employees’ personal and business data by
restricting its use to intended purposes. Any information related
to customers or suppliers, including contact, quotation or working
terms, are kept confidential in accordance with the Personal Data
(Privacy) Ordinance in Hong Kong, the Data Protection Act 2018
in the United Kingdom, and other applicable laws and regulations
on data protection. It is the individual and collective responsibility
of employees and business partners to report privacy incidents
or concerns promptly following the whistle-blowing mechanism
detailed in the section below. During the Reporting Period, the
Group was not made aware of any material non-compliance on
data privacy issues. The Group maintains a zero-tolerance policy
for privacy breaches.

Anti-Corruption

Our values of honesty, integrity and fairness are communicated
to all Directors and employees through the Code of Conduct,
Employee Handbook and internal policies. The Group requests our
employees to follow the Code of Conduct to prevent corruption
such as bribery, extortion, fraud and anti-money laundering in any
circumstance. On a bi-annual basis, all Directors and employees
are required to attend training on business ethics to reinforce anti-
corruption awareness. In the fourth quarter of 2024, the Group
conducted ethics training for Directors and Senior Management.

The Group strives to maintain a system with moral integrity and
an anti-corruption mechanism, which is the cornerstone for
sustainable and healthy development. To effectively strengthen
the Group’s integrity, we continue to improve our internal
supervision and anti-corruption management in strict accordance
with local and national legislation such as the Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Bribery Act 2010 of the
United Kingdom as well as other relevant regulations. During the
Reporting Period, there was no reported case of non-compliance.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIF-HERESHRS

SOCIAL (conTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)
Anti-Corruption (Continued)

In addition, a whistle-blowing mechanism has been established
to provide a confidential channel for employees to report any
concerns or malpractice in confidence and without fear of
recrimination. The whistle-blower has the option to contact the
Chairman/Chairlady of the Audit Committee by email. The Group
is committed to ensuring that any allegation is immediately
dealt with and followed up by the Chairman/Chairlady of the
Audit Committee with due care. The mechanism is closely
monitored and reviewed on a regular basis to ensure its design
and operational efficiency. The Group is committed to conducting
all business operations without undue influence and prohibits
all forms of corruption or malpractice, including bribery, money
laundering, extortion and fraud.

Community Engagement

The Group considers social responsibility as one of its important
development priorities. Through measures like investing in
quality pharmaceutical development, we aim to benefit more
patients and promote quality healthcare. We actively promote
employee volunteerism, encouraging our workforce to share
their skills with local communities. This involvement broadens our
team’s understanding of societal and environmental issues while
strengthening our organizational values. The Group will seek more
opportunities for community engagement such as donations or
volunteering activities.

On Behalf of the Board

James Mellon
Chairman

27 March 2025
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE-HIERERHRS

HKEX'S LISTING RULES APPENDIX C2

Bk 32 B £ 3R AU Bt ERC2 (BRI ~ 41 B e

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE ERaREEs) AR RS

REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX

The relevant
sections of this

Categories, Aspects and
Key Performance Indicators

report disclose or
interpretation

IS - BE K RARERIER RS HEMEER
mEoRRE
Mandatory Disclosure Requirements
EHIRERE
Governance Structure A Statement from the Board containing the following elements: BOARD
(i)  disclosure of the Board's oversight of ESG issues. OVERSIGHT
(i)  the Board’s ESG management approach and strategy, AND ESG
including the process used to evaluate, prioritize and MANAGEMENT
manage material ESG-related issues (including risks to the APPROACH
issuer’s business); and
(i)  how the Board reviews progress made against ESG-related MATERIALITY
goals and targets with an explanation of how they relate to ASSESSMENT
the issuer’s business
EREES HEFELHNZER EhHE MRS EFEEERR

() HREFFHRFE HERELFTENEGE

(ih EFEMRFE HLERELEES HREKRE > BT
G BRI R EEEENRE - HERERHEBEE
(BREEETAEZBNER 8RR &

(iif) %%@ﬁﬂ@?@f%ﬁ\ﬁ@&g/ﬂﬁ%ﬁEﬁffﬁ.ﬂ‘ =i
BREEMNARETARZRTERE

B HERERE

B

BT
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ENVIRONMENTAL,

SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIF-HERESHRS

Categories, Aspects and
Key Performance Indicators

$EES - B E R AARARIER

The relevant

sections of this
report disclose or
interpretation
RS ARAEER
mEN R

Reporting Principles

bR R A

A description of, or an explanation on, the application of the
Reporting Principles (materiality, quantitative, and consistency) in
the preparation of the ESG Report:

Materiality: The threshold at which ESG issues determined
by the Board are sufficiently important to investors and other
stakeholders that they should be reported.

Quantitative: KPIs in respect of historical data need to be
measurable. The issuer should set targets (which may be actual
numerical figures or directional, forward-looking statements)
to reduce a particular impact. In this way, the effectiveness of
ESG policies and management systems can be evaluated and
validated. Quantitative information should be accompanied
by a narrative, explaining its purpose, impacts, and giving
comparative data where appropriate.

Consistency: The issuer should use consistent methodologies to
allow for meaningful comparisons of ESG data over time.

B BETRERE S RE RSN AIREAERER
Al EEM- -2t k—8MN) :

2t EEFSCETARRRE HERELSFEETHRE
EREMBFHEELEEXER BT ABBELER-

21t FRELHBENRBENERAEN FAE-HTA
EEI NRMERZENER FIUREBREFH A MM Al
EERNER) B RIE-HERELABRAEER AN
m PR R B a8 c BB KB AR It H B R
£ WEBEENER MM RS

—HM BT ARERA-BNRER 5 SREHER
ERBEARAIFARENLR

REPORTING
PRINCIPLES
APPLIED

PREER®R SRR
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNA

NCE REPORT

RIF-HERESHRS

Categories, Aspects and
Key Performance Indicators

The relevant
sections of this
report disclose or
interpretation

8IS EEKARARENIEE iR EHEASEER
% BN ARRE
Reporting Boundary A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of the ESG REPORTING
report and describing the process used to identify which entities BOUNDARY
or operations are included in the ESG report.
PE R0 & BRIRIZ - HEAEARGHNERTE REMIIENLEE REHE
BREFMARIE - HERERAREHNBERE-
"Comply or Explain”
RETRRRE
A. Environment
AIRIE
Aspect A1: Emissions
BEA1 : Hid
General Disclosure Information on: ENVIRONMENTAL
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
— i R BRBEREBREREHN MK kTN - BEERES RIE
BEERYNELEZM !
@@ H&E;: &
(b) BETHETABEAZEZNEREZRKLBFONER
KPI' A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. ENVIRONMENTAL
— Key Performance
Indicators
R BRAR N FERA BE A iE L8 S B RA BRI B © IRIE—RARER
5
KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas ENVIRONMENTAL
emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per — Key Performance
unit of production volume, per facility). Indicators:
greenhouse gas
emissions
R BRARIETRAT .2 B EE) RERERE E@E2) RERBHNE UEEE) RIE—BREX

& (&) ”HJ* MU sES B BERMH)

EE REREHE
i
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE-HEREARS

Categories, Aspects and
Key Performance Indicators

$EES - B E R AARARIER

The relevant
sections of this
report disclose or
interpretation
IR EHEASEEN
% BN ARE

KPI'A1.3

BRI FEIRAT 3

Total hazardous waste produced (tonnes) and where Not applicable
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per

facility).

FRTELXBEEREYRE CMsE) k ER) BE WUE ~ER
EEB - BERMAHE) o

KPI A1.4

RRENIEIRA14

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where ENVIRONMENTAL
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per — Key Performance
facility). Indicators: waste
management
FREAEREREEYRE CUIstE) k WER) ZE WG RIF—FHRER
EEBA BERMAH) o 151%: BEYE1E

KPI'A1.5

B R AERIEIRATS

Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve ENVIRONMENTAL
them.
HAFRETUUNHIRE BB R A ERE LRI P R RIR

KPI'A1.6

B R AEIEIRA1.6

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are ENVIRONMENTAL
handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps

taken to achieve them.
HRERENBEERERYING A RIEMFTETARER RIR

B AED B ERZPTREAY D 5 o

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

[BEA2 . EiRER

General Disclosure

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water, ENVIRONMENTAL
and other raw materials.

—AR IR B BERERAEIR (BIEEIR K REMERMED) BOBER IRIB
KPI'A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. ENVIRONMENTAL

RE SR A WIS IEA2.1

electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in’000s) and intensity (e.g. per — Key Performance
unit of production volume, per facility). Indicators: energy
consumption
RICH) ABFEE W IRIE—FRER
BIARMSTH) o 512 HERIR

BB DR ERR,HEEER WE -
TETRFAR) REE MUSESEQ

AN
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNA

NCE REPORT

RIF-HERESHRS

Categories, Aspects and
Key Performance Indicators

§BES - B E R ARARIER

The relevant
sections of this
report disclose or
interpretation
iR EHEASEER
% BN ARRE

KPI'A2.2

R AEWIEIZA2.2

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

MIEKEREE MUSESEI SBERMASH) °

ENVIRONMENTAL
— Key Performance
Indicators: water
consumption
IRIE—RARRAEN
FE1Z: FEK

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken ENVIRONMENTAL
to achieve them.
RASRARISIRA2.3 HIFTE] LS REA N B R R A EDES LB RMRE IRIR
B9 B o
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that ENVIRONMENTAL
is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.
RASRAEMIEIRA2.4 HMSREVB A AOR LRI B ERRE LRSI IR KM IRIE
BRRAEDEEBRPIEREAI D 5
KPI' A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) ENVIRONMENTAL
and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced. — Key Performance
Indicators:
packing materials
consumption

RESRAEWISIZA2.5

S mPTAEEMENEE CIESE) &k (NEBER) 84£ESE
(VAL

RIS —RRER
BR OHEEEY)
4
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE-HEREARS

Categories, Aspects and
Key Performance Indicators

$EES - B E R AARARIER

The relevant
sections of this
report disclose or
interpretation
IR EHEASEEN
% BN ARE

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

BEA3 : IRIERXARIR

General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the ENVIRONMENTAL
environment and natural resources.

—RAR IR ER BIREIT ARIRIE R R ABERENERTERER - IRIR

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the ENVIRONMENTAL
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to
manage them

R AE IS IRA3 HREBEHNHRERRAERNEATZERERNERE RIR
BT ETE-

Aspect A4: Climate Change

BEA4 : RIZE(E

General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate- ENVIRONMENTAL
related issues which have impacted, and those which may
impact, the issuer.

—RR I B B REHEREKRPIEEHETAELEZENEARMER RIR
B ERYEER ©

KPI Ad.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have ENVIRONMENTAL
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the
actions taken to manage them.

RASRAR IS IRA4.1 H BRI G HETAELEXENEAREERASZE RIR

K EH1TE)
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Categories, Aspects and
Key Performance Indicators

RIF-HERESHRS

The relevant
sections of this
report disclose or
interpretation

i« BEERARERIER IR SHEMEER
mEoRRE

B. Social

Bt E

Aspect B1: Employment

BB : B

General Disclosure Information on: Employment

(@ the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

— Rtk R BRFMNRERE BRELSH TIERE BRE FERT - EE
Ztib s RIEFUREMFEREF ) :
@@ BR; &
b) BETHETABEAZZNERERKBFOINER
KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- Labour Standards

R A5 1EB 1.1

or parttime), age group and geographical region.
R EREE MEREERE) Faedn k&S N 5 TEER)
BB

KPI B1.2

RERRAAENIE1ER1.2

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical Labour Standards
region.

R FRER RS DR EERAKLL R %5 TR

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

[ETEB2 : iEEHARE

General Disclosure

—ARINEE

Information on: Health and Safety
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a
safe working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards
BREHZ2 TRERREREHRHEMGEN - REHEZR
@@ H&E; &
b) BETHZETABEAZZNEREZRLROINER
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE-HEREARS

Categories, Aspects and
Key Performance Indicators

$EES - B E R AARARIER

The relevant
sections of this
report disclose or
interpretation
IR EHEASEEN
% BN ARE

KPI B2.1

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of
the past three years including the reporting year.

Health and Safety

R AN 51EB2.1 BE=F (BEERFE) SFRTIUTHIABM KR RERZE
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety
R XI5 12B2.2 RAIGEEAITIFES- REEZSR

KPI'B2.3

RS AR RNIE1EB2.3

Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted,
and how they are implemented and monitored.

TP ER AR RV B 2 (R R A 2 4 > A BB IT R BE R
e

Health and Safety

RBEEZE

Aspect B3: Development and Training

BmEB3 : &R

General Disclosure

—RRIREE

Policies relating to enhancing employees’ knowledge and skills in
performing their job duties Plan. Describe the training activities.
BRIREFHEEE1T LFB B IR # K i SRRV BUR o #1555l
mHe

Development and
Training

B Kl

KPI B3.1

R A 45 1ZB3.1

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee
category (e.g. senior management, middle management).
EHRREEER MEREEE -PREEE) 2023
BEBDLE-

Development and
Training

E9=ySEE

KPI B3.2

RERR A NI51EB3.2

The average training hours completed per employee by gender Development and

and employee category.

Bt R EEERRE D SR ES TR TR #

Training

E9EySEE

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

JBEB4 : $ T8

General Disclosure

—BRE

For the prevention of child or forced labour:

(@) Policies;

(b) information on compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a material impact on the issuer.

BB IEE T 3585155 ThY !

@ BR, &

(b) BTHETABEAZEZNERERRBRONER

Labour Standards

SRR
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIF-HERERERS

Categories, Aspects and
Key Performance Indicators

§EES - B E R ARARIER

The relevant
sections of this
report disclose or
interpretation
iR EHEASEER
% BN ARRE

KPI B4.1

B R A A FE1EBA. 1

Description of measures to review employment practices to Labour Standards

avoid child and forced labour.

MR SR I IE IR LU R & T R a8 fl5s T o

BT %R

KPI B4.2

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when

Labour Standards

discovered.
RASRAE RIS 1RB4.2 It EHIRERBREEFRE BB PRI 5% T2
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
fEmBS : SR EIE
General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the Supply Chain
supply chain. Management
—RR I ER ERHEENRIE R ERMBER- HAEREIE
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain
Management
AR AR XI5 12B5. 1 @S oNHERmEE - HEEREE

KPI B5.2

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number Supply Chain

of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and Management
how they are implemented and monitored.

AR AR RIE1RB5.2 H AR AEEENES mERITAEMEMNEEES HEEEIE
B MURABERITRER G A

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social Supply Chain
risks along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and Management
monitored.

RA R AN 512B5.3 BRI EEESERANRIE R EREAVIER L HEREIE
RAERAIT B ER 7 E o

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally Supply Chain

B A IE1EB5.4

preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, and
how they are implemented and monitored.

Management

A REHEEREES BRFEMKRBTHES Uk HEEEE

HEARITRERT A
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE-HEREARS

Categories, Aspects and
Key Performance Indicators

The relevant
sections of this
report disclose or
interpretation

#BI5 - BE K RARERIEIR RS ARAEER
mEN R

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

[BEB6 : EREIE

General Disclosure Information on: Product

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods of redress.

Responsibility

— RN ERFFEHERNRBHNEREZE - BES - RERLESE ERER
BB ER
@ BR; &
(b) BTFHEBETABEAZENEMEERRANER
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for Product
safety and health reasons. Responsibility
A 3R AR X35 12B6. 1 EENEEXEMR@UTALZLERRIEFAMALKRNE EmEX
otk
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and Product
how they are dealt with. Responsibility
A SR AB RIS 12B6.2 BRRIN EmkRFBHKFEE USEE 5% EmEE
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting Product
intellectual property rights. Responsibility
AR AR XI5 12B6.3 ot B M58 I (R IR R S EE B ARV IB 61 EmaE
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.  Product
Responsibility
RA SR AR W F512B6.4 it 8 S8 T B2 K E mElW AR F o EmEE
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, Product
and how they are implemented and monitored. Responsibility
AR AR XI5 12B6.5 7O B B B RHRE R RER  UREERITRERS EmEE

&Ko
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIF-HERERERS

The relevant
sections of this
report disclose or
interpretation
iR EHEASEER
% BN ARRE

Categories, Aspects and
Key Performance Indicators

§BES - B E R ARARIER

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
[BEB7 : RES

General Disclosure

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering.

— Rtk EE BB LEFRES ~ BN R ~ ERFR ROt R 82RY

@ BR;, &

(b) BTHETABEAZENEMEERRANER

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices Anti-Corruption

brought against the issuer or its employees during the Reporting

Period and the outcomes of the cases.

RERIAANHETANHESERE IEEENESHARE RES

HRVBLE KEfFaRaE R ©

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing Anti-Corruption
procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored.

Anti-Corruption

KPI B7.1

B SR AR 512871

KPI B7.2

RERRAEWI51ERT .2

R IR R BRI URERRITRERE S %

R&s

KPI B7.3

B R RIE1ERT .3

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and
staff.
HmEERE TIRENR &S El-

Anti-Corruption

k&S
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE-HEREARS

Categories, Aspects and
Key Performance Indicators

$EES - B E R AARARIER

The relevant
sections of this
report disclose or
interpretation
IR EHEASEEN
% BN ARE

Aspect B8: Community Investment

[EmBS : 1 ERE

General Disclosure

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs Community
of the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its Engagement
activities take into consideration the communities” interests.

— iR BRAUMESHRTHREEMTHERENRFREERT HtE2H
gL BtEN mAIEEE -
KPI B8.1 Focus on areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental Community

B SRR 5 1%B8. 1

issues, labour needs, health, culture, sports). Engagement
EIEMEE WHE BESE - FIFR-BE-XC-B tez i
B) e

KPI B8.2

RS ARRNIE1EB8.2

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Community
Engagement
TEIHRABAER R HesiE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

@ pakertilly
X Bk B8 PR

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF REGENT PACIFIC GROUP
LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Regent
Pacific Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 119 to 240, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor's
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA'S “Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

BIREHENRS

HBRAXTFEEERRAT
FHEESEMRILIZARARE)

BER

AZHAMEBEZE119E 2408 FRE B & KT
FEBARAS (RAB) REWB AT #E
EEE) 2RaMBRE HPEER T
“HE+ZRB=+—RHZGEHBRRER B
FEEALFEZGREEnREMERR@ER
RERDEHRNMGERERER UKRESE
MBREME > BEEREFTERER

ERR EEMBERERERETAEGSER
e ((EREHMAE) EH2EBYHTRS
ZRFSHENEEMATMRER SEERT
EIMF+ZRA=+—BZEEMHERITU
kR EBEEERSEEHLEFEZGEMHRE
RiERERE LERBEBABRM 2K
BREZRARER-

B O

EREE

ESCREEBEAMAGRMBZIEEBES
A (HREHEN) ETER -EFEZT
HR N EAEZEEEERRS RBEMREZ
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BERTTRIPZHMEREE - EFHE &
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
| EERS

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a loss of
approximately US$4,482,000 during the year ended 31 December
2024 and, as of that date, the Group has net current liabilities and
net liabilities of approximately US$5,048,000 and US$5,901,000,
respectively. As stated in Note 3, these conditions indicate that a
material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not
modified in respect of this matter.

OTHER MATTERS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 were audited by another independent
auditor whose report dated 27 March 2024 expressed an
unmodified opinion with an emphasis of matter paragraph
relating to material uncertainty related to going concern on those
consolidated financial statements.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole and, in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. Other than the matter described in the “Material
Uncertainty Related to Going Concern” section of our report,
we have determined there are no other key audit matters to be
communicated in our report.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing

to report in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the content of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
| EERS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

e obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.

e  evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

e conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in @ manner that achieves fair presentation.

plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the Group
as a basis for forming an opinion on the group financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and review of the audit work performed for purpose of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
| EERS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Chu, Johnny Chun Yin.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 27 March 2025

Chu, Johnny Chun Yin
Practising Certificate Number PO8355
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GEAmkAMEENER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZNF+ZH=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—ECmE TET=HF
Notes US$'000 US$'000
liok3 FErx FE7T
Revenue W& 6 719 291
Other income HAK A 6 85 26
Exchange (losses)/gains, net PER (B518) I 9 (68) 169
Fair value loss on FAFVPL ZIBERREANEE
BREZEMEEY
RABEEE 9 —* (38)
(Loss)/gain on disposal of FAFVPL HEFBIEB@IREAD
BEREZSHEE
Z (&518) /W 9 (80) 91
656 539
Expenses: S
Employee benefit expenses EERNER 9 (2,987) (2,969)
Rental and office expenses HERRAEER (132) (132)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEITE 9,15 - (460)
Information and technology expenses — E sl KR & A (153) (170)
Marketing costs hiZEESE R (14) (33)
Professional and consulting fees BEREHER (551) (670)
Research and development expenses  Ffi25FESZ (938) (1,379)
Amortisation of intangible assets BB E#HE 9,16 - (22,184)
Other operating expenses Hih&EE M (218) (255)
Loss from operations EiEEE (4,337) (27,713)
Impairment loss on an intangible asset 2 & EREE 2 9,16 - (1,518)
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets S AEE EREEE 9,15 - (1,152)
Finance costs BB R A 7 (171) (80)
Loss before tax PRIRAIES 18 (4,508) (30,463)
Income tax credit PRSI 8 26 5,414
Loss for the year FREE 9 (4,482) (25,049)
i3 Amount is less than US$1,000 * T EE/DI,000% 7T
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GElEnRkEMEEEEER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZNMHF+"A=+—HI-FE

2024 2023
—EMmF —ECE=RF
Notes US$'000 US$'000
Mzt FER FET
Other comprehensive expense: Hith2mpxz :
Item that may be reclassified to BEMPEER I Z
profit or loss: /=)=
Exchange differences on translating MEBINEFR 2
foreign operations PES =R 6 (203)
Total comprehensive expense FAZMmAZEEE
for the year (4,476) (25,252)
Loss per share SiREE 13 US cents US cents
=1l ZE1
— Basic —&K (1.96) (11.13)
- Diluted —#E (1.96) (11.13)
HK cents HK cents
Al =xfil
— Basic —&EK (15.31) (87.12)
— Diluted —#8 (15.31) (87.12)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

FEMBRAR

As at 31 December 2024 R_ZE_HEFE+_"_H=+—H

2024 2023
—EmF ZEI=F
Notes US$'000 Us$'000
Kz FEx Sres
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERAR
Non-current assets EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Ry 14 8 10
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15 - —
Intangible assets mLEE 16 - -
Interest in an associate R—EME ATz EEm 17 1 -
Financial assets at fair value through A ABET AEHME
other comprehensive income HERAZ EHBEE 18 —* —*
Total non-current assets JERENE EREE 9 10
Current assets MNEE
Financial assets at fair value through ~ FEiBIEHIRIZA AEE
profit or loss BRI EMEE 20 21 318
Trade receivables FEW E F R 21 53 39
Prepayments, deposits and other TAMRIE & R HAM
receivables FEWERIB 369 298
Restricted bank balances ZIRHIIRITALER 22 32 32
Tax recoverable B EliRIE 26 -
Cash and bank balances REMIRITAEER 22 100 2,097
Asset classified as held for sale DEAFIEHEEE 23 - 1
Total current assets MENE ELREE 601 2,785
Current liabilities mENafE
Trade payables, contract liabilities, ENBZERA & ’]E\
accruals and other payables &~ Bt R EH M
NEOE] 24 (3,173) (3,151)
Bank borrowings IR1TIEE 26 (8) 8)
Shareholder’s loans AGERE™ 27 (2,000) -
Lease liabilities MHEaR 28 (468) (422)
Total current liabilities Bt B =R (5.649) (3,581)
Net current liabilities mEBaAREE (5.048) (796)
Total assets less current liabilities  HEAERFERENAE (5.039) (786)

S Amount is less than US$1,000

£ %8/ i1,000E 7T
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
HREMBIAR

As at 31 December 2024 R_ZE_HFE+_H=+—H

2024 2023
—EMmF —ECE=RF
Notes Us$'000 Us$'000
Kiat FET FET

Non-current liabilities JERBER
Bank borrowings IR1TEE 26 (3) (12)
Shareholder’s loans REER 27 (570) =
Lease liabilities HEaE 28 (289) (753)
Total non-current liabilities JERBEEHETE (862) (765)
NET LIABILITIES BE3E (5,901) (1,551)

EQUITY R

Share capital [N 25 228 228
Reserves =X 33 (6,129) (1,779)
CAPITAL DEFICIENCY B E51E (5,901) (1,551)

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on #&KBEgR _T_AE=-RB _+tHMETE

27 March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by: EMUBANTALTARES !
James Mellon Jamie Gibson

Chairman Executive Director

FE HITEE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FEEmEHR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZHF+"H=+—HILFE

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

FARRRES
Foreign
Investment Share-based Capital Statutory currency
Share  Accumulated Share revaluation payment redemption and other exchange
capital losses premium reserve reserve reserve reserves reserve Total
PLabE] R
REEf ERIOMAR BERE REft SEESR
23 iR fRinEE (1] L1 ] L1 ] L1 ] L1 a5t
(note 33(b)(i))  (note 33(b)(i))  (note 33(b)(iii))  (note 33(b)(iv))  (note 33(b)(v))  (note 33(b)(vi))  (note 33(b)(vii)
(EE3m))  (WEE33m)G)  (RE33CG)  (RE33b)iv)  (WEE3bIw)  (HEE33()vi))  (HEEES3(b)vii))
2024 Us§'000 US§'000 USS'000 US§'000 US§'000 US$'000 US§'000 USS§'000 US$'000
ZECmE FER FER FER FER FER FER FER FER TER
At 1 January 2024 RZE_NE-A-H 28 (306,439) 293,557 (1,500) 825 8228 215 3335 (1,551)
Loss for the year FRER - (4,482) - - - - - s (4482)
Exchange differences on translating BRERNEBZERER
foreign operations - - - - - - - 6 6
Total comprehensive (expense)/income  ER2 (%) /IWALE
for the year - (4,482) - - - - - 6 (4,476)
New shares issued for share awards RRORBRTHRND - 20 - - (20) - - - -
Equity settled share-based payment MURBELENRAHTRS
transactions (note 31) (BtzE31) - - - - 126 - - o 126
Share options lapsed BRELN - 2 S e (7) o = o =
- 47 - - 9 - - - 126
At 31 December 2024 RIBZME+-A=+-H 28 (310,874) 293,557 (1,500) 904 8228 215 3341 (5,901)

g Amount is less than US$1,000

@ £ FE/D 71,0005 7T
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REEDEHR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZNMHF+"A=+—HI-FE

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

FAFRFMREL
Foreign
Investment Share-based Capital Statutory currency
Share Accumulated Share revaluation payment redemption and other exchange
capital losses premium reserve reserve reserve reserves reserve Total
DA% iy
REER ER B REf SMEER
[z S| RiPEE 1 fIRGEE (1 e (1 &3t
(note 33(b)(i)) (note 33(bi)) (note 33(b)(ii)) (note 33(b)(iv) (note 33(b)(v)) (note 33(b)(vi)) (note 33(b)(vii))
(REE3300)  (HEE330))  CREE330)  GAEE33biw)  (RES3bl)  (HE330W)  (RE33bN)
2023 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US§'000 Us$'000 Us§'000 US$'000
jut it 3 T#n TEn T#n S0 e T T T S
At 1 January 2023 RZBEZ=5-F—H 24,004 (326,933) 294,331 (1,500) 714 8228 215 3,538 2,597
Loss for the year ERBH & (25,049) & o & o S S (25,049)
Exchange differences on translating BEENEBZERER
foreign operations - - - - - - - (203) (203)
Total comprehensive expense FRRERREE
for the year - (25,049) - - - - - (203) (25,252)
Capital reduction REHIH (45,450) 45450 = = s = = = =
Issue of shares through Rights Issue BRERETRG 21,665 - (774) - - - - S 20,891
New shares issued for share awards RO REIR TR 9 10 - - (19) - - - -
Equity settled share-based payment MRELENRATRRS
transactions (note 31) (BzE31) - - - - 213 - - S 213
Share options lapsed BRERY - 83 S S @83) = = - -
(23,776) 45,543 (774) - m - - - 21,104
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=F+-A=+-H 228 (306,439) 293,557 (1,500) 825 8228 215 3335 (1,551)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HalE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZNFE+"A=+—HIFFE

=
M=

2024 2023
—EZmE BT =F
Notes US$°000 US$'000
Mzt FEr TE5T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REFEHMzIRERE *
ACTIVITIES:
Loss before tax PRI AIE 1R (4,508) (30,463)
Adjustments for: PR IEEHAE
Bank interest income RITHIS WA 6 (3) (15)
Finance costs RLE A A 7 171 80
Depreciation of property, plant and M~ B R EITE
equipment 9,14 8 16
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEEITE 9,15 - 460
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEME - -BEKR
and equipment =2 B8 9 - 2
Amortisation of intangible assets BB E#HE 9,16 - 22,184
Loss/(gain) on disposal of FAFVPL HEFZBBRREAD
BEREBZSHEE
Z BB W) 9 80 1)
Impairment loss on an intangible mEEERERIE
asset 9,16 - 1,518
Impairment loss on right-of-use FREEERERIE
assets 9,15 - 1,152
Fair value loss on FAFVPL BEERREANEE
Fg BreMmEEY
AREERBE 9,20 - 38
Equity-settled share-based payment MiEm S ERRRA R
expenses Bz 9,31 126 213
Exchange loss/(gain), net FEREE (KE 14 (203)
Operating loss before working capital 2 E & A& B AT~
changes SIERE (4,112) (5,109)
Increase in trade receivables FEUL B 2 AR FIE AN (14) (16)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, FENFIE FE R EHM
deposits and other receivables FEUSRIE (810
N (71) 553
Decrease in trade payables, contract ~ ETEB R &4&
liabilities, accruals and other & FEsTAR AR HAth
payables FE(T R IE R (49) (36)
Proceeds from disposal of FAFVPL HEBZBERERZAR
BEREBZSHEE
Z PRi8RIE 217 832
Cash used in operations KEPTRIRE (4,029) (3,776)
Interest on lease liabilities HMEESENE 7 (100) (59)
Income taxes refund RIRPAIEIR - 27
Net cash used in operating activities S EBPTRIRE 25 (4,129) (3,808)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZZZNMHF+"A=+—HI-FE

2024 2023
o 111 - 3 S
Notes US$'000 US$'000
Mzt FEr FE5T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING KRETBZRERNE !
ACTIVITIES:
Purchase of property, plant and BAYE- -BBEREE
equipment 14 (6) )
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - BEMKE
plant and equipment FriSmRIa - 1
Interest received BUF] 2 3 15
Net cash (used in)/generated from REES FrR) Fi8
investing activities REFRER (3) 14
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MEEEFZIRERE
ACTIVITIES:
Repayment of bank borrowings BIRIRTEE 34 (9) (8)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEEER 34 (423) (461)
Interest paid on bank borrowings BENRITEEZHE 34 -
Drawdown of shareholder’s loans RERERENR 34 2,825 -
Repayment of shareholder’s loans BIEREREW 34 (255) -
Net proceeds from Rights Issue PRI RIB R &R - 6,051
Net cash generated from financing MEEEFIEZ
activities IREFRB 2,138 5,582
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash IR&KIREHEY
equivalents CRiZL) IGINFEE (1,994) 1,788
Cash and cash equivalents at the FYzZzRERAE
beginning of the year ZEY 2,097 309
Effects of foreign exchange rate XS s &
changes (3) -
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRZEERRE
END OF THE YEAR ZEY 100 2,097
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH RERFEEEENZ
EQUIVALENTS: DI
Cash and bank balances RERIRTTLEER 22 100 2,097
*  Amount is less than US$1,000 * /1,000 7T
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GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands with
limited liability. The address of its registered office is at P.O.
Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman
Islands. The address of its principal place of business is 8th
Floor, Henley Building, 5 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong.
The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange and are also traded on the Open Market
(Freiverkehr) of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange.

The Company is engaged in investment holding. The
principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries consist
of investments in biopharma companies and other corporate
investments.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company’s ultimate
controlling party is Mr James Mellon, the chairman of the
Company.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in US
dollars, which is also the functional currency of the Company.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

(@) Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards

that are mandatorily effective for the current
year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards issued
by the HKICPA for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on 1
January 2024 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

Amendments to
HKFRS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Except as described below, the application of
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group's
financial positions and performance for the current
and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

(CONTINUED)

(a) Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
that are mandatorily effective for the current
year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current (the “2020 Amendments”) and
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)

The Group has applied the amendments for the first
time in the current year. The 2020 Amendments
provide clarification and additional guidance on the
assessment of right to defer settlement for at least
twelve months from reporting date for classification of
liabilities as current or non-current, which:

o  specify that the classification of liabilities as
current or non-current should be based on rights
that are in existence at the end of the reporting
period. Specifically, the classification should
not be affected by management intentions
or expectations to settle the liability within 12
months.

e clarify that the settlement of a liability can be a
transfer of cash, goods or services, or the entity’s
own equity instruments to the counterparty. If
a liability has terms that could, at the option of
the counterparty, result in its settlement by the
transfer of the entity’s own equity instruments,
these terms do not affect its classification as
current or non-current only if the entity recognises
the option separately as an equity instrument
applying HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

(CONTINUED)

(a) Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
that are mandatorily effective for the current
year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current (the “2020 Amendments”) and
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)
(Continued)

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months
from reporting date which are conditional on the
compliance with covenants, the 2022 Amendments
specifically clarify that only covenants that an entity
is required to comply with on or before the end of
the reporting period affect the entity’s right to defer
settlement of a liability for at least twelve months
after the reporting date, even if compliance with the
covenant is assessed only after the reporting date. The
2022 Amendments also specify that covenants with
which an entity must comply after the reporting date
(i.e. future covenants) do not affect the classification
of a liability as current or non-current at the reporting
date. However, if the entity’s right to defer settlement
of a liability is subject to the entity complying with
covenants within twelve months after the reporting
period, an entity discloses information that enables
users of financial statements to understand the risk
of the liabilities becoming repayable within twelve
months after the reporting period. This would include
information about the covenants, the carrying amount
of related liabilities and facts and circumstances, if
any, that indicate that the entity may have difficulties
complying with the covenants.

The application of the amendments in the current year

had no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R A F ¥ EEEBERAE

2.

FERMIREETERMBTRS
ZHF N @

(a)

REFERHNERZEEMBRE
FREEAETE @

BREETHERF 15 (1557%) &
EREB BRI ((“FZF
FIEET) REEGHERFVE (E
51%) A iBa R ((ZF
ZZFEF) ZEE @

MR BERRTEEEREHBHEE
D+ZERZERN LUBTRES
B Me > Z S - ZFB51H5E
B RABRERSHRNZAEA
Br2HE HETEZERRE
BEREEEERSARREL+Z
B8R Z#H) > BEREZBTIER
(EREE=H R REEE S —
EEI7RET83 BRENKRES AR Y
AEBTzHeE (ADRERHEE) 1~
FENRSHHRERDEARE
IFRE) o AT > W B AR IB B E
BEZEMNZRIEENRENE
+EARETEE MERRRK
BENUEHBREERELNT
BZEAERNREHET _EARN
A ABEZRR -ZBERR A
RE HRERZREEURERR
BRMERUETHEEZFTERIE
L ENA) Ak

REAFERBZETALERGS
MBREREMERTE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMEE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. ERMIREEIERANBRS

TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ZAFHEN @
(CONTINUED)
(b) New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting (b) BEMERREMMITREER]

Standards in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have
been issued but are not yet effective:

FERAMBHREENEHERN

AEBURZEERAUTEEMBE
M R E WA ST R MBS T BB
BR e B SR

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
RTFEA%ZE
Fis 2z St ER

Amendments to HKAS 21 — Lack of Exchangeability
EEGENE215E (1B5]D) —HRZ Rk
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 — Amendments to the
Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments
ERAUBREENFIRNEBMBREERNZETR
(BETA) —SMITAENEHE 2 1E5]
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 — Contracts Referencing
Nature-dependent Electricity
ERAUVBREENFIRAEEVBREENETR
(BEIA) — P REKBEAERENINELN
Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards —
Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standard Volume 11
EEMBREEAGEER (BT —FEMBRS
ZRIGSFENZFENES IS
HKFRS 18 — Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements
SRAUVBREENF 1SR —UHERERNES MIFEE
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 — Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
EEMBREENF10RNAEBETERFE285 (B5]T4F) —KEHH
HEE ARG EL X BNEEHETEE

Except for HKFRS 18 mentioned below, the Directors
anticipate that the application of all other new and
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards will
have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.

1 January 2025
—E-RF—F—H
1 January 2026

1 January 2026
“B"&—A—H
1 January 2026
—EB"%—H—H

1 January 2027
B2t F—HF—H

To be determined by the
HKICPA
RBEBGSMAE

EE

BRItz BEM B G ELE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RR M

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. ERMIREETERANBRS

TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS HFUFHEN @
(CONTINUED)
(b) New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting (b) BHAMR{E R EBIFTET RAEIERT

Standards in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements, which sets out requirements on
presentation and disclosures in financial statements, will
replace HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements.
This new HKFRS Accounting Standard, while carrying
forward many of the requirements in HKAS 1,
introduces new requirements to present specified
categories and defined subtotals in the statement of
profit or loss; provide disclosures on management-
defined performance measures in the notes to the
financial statements and improve aggregation and
disaggregation of information to be disclosed in
the financial statements. In addition, some HKAS 1
paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS
7. Minor amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash
Flows and HKAS 33 Earnings per Share are also made.

The application of the new standard is expected to
affect the presentation of the statement of profit or loss
and disclosures in the future financial statements. The
Group is in the process of assessing the detailed impact
of HKFRS 18 on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued
by the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is considered
material if such information is reasonably expected to
influence decisions made by primary users. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The Directors, have at the time of approving the consolidated
financial statements, a reasonable expectation that the
Group has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future. Thus, they continue to
adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16 Leases ("HKFRS 16"”), and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value,
such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 /nventories or value in
use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RR M

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTinuED)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are
described as follows:

e level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

e level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

e level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The Group incurred a loss of approximately US$4,482,000
during the year ended 31 December 2024. As at 31
December 2024, the Group had net current liabilities and net
liabilities of approximately US$5,048,000 and US$5,901,000
respectively.

These events and conditions indicate the existence of a
material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal
course of business.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTinuED)

Nevertheless, the Directors had adopted the going concern
basis in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements of the Group, based on the measures including
but not limited to the following:

(@ on 20 March 2025, Galloway has granted a facility to
the Company for an amount of up to US$5,000,000.
The facility is unsecured, interest bearing at 12% per
annum and the principal together with any interest
accrued shall be repaid on the date falling twelve
months from the date of the facility letter, unless
extended by mutual consent;

(b) also on 20 March 2025, Galloway has agreed to
extend the repayment of the loans of US$2,000,000
and agreed not to demand repayment of the loans
on maturity date until the Company is in a position to
repay; and

(0 the Group will seek to implement operational plans to
control costs and generate sufficient operating cash
flows to meet its current and future obligations. These
actions include cost control measures, and timely
collection of outstanding receivables.

The Directors have estimated the Group's cash requirements
by preparing a Group cashflow forecast for the 15 months
ending 31 March 2026. The Directors are of the opinion
that the Group has sufficient working capital for its present
requirements, that is for 15 months ending 31 March
2026. Accordingly, the Directors are of the view that it is
appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing
these consolidated financial statements.

3.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (conTinuED)

Notwithstanding, material uncertainty exists as to whether
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern would
depend upon the following:

(@) successful draw down of the facility as and when
needed; and

(b) successful implementation of measures to effectively
control costs and expenses and timely collection of
receivables.

Should the Group fail to achieve the above-mentioned plans
and measures, it might not be able to continue to operate as
a going concern, and adjustments would have to be made to
write down the carrying value of the Group’s assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities
that might arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and
non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities
respectively. The effect of these adjustments has not been
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:

e has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group'’s accounting policies.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investment
in a subsidiary is stated at cost less any impairment loss. The
result of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividends received and receivable.

Interest in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee
but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of the associate are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of the associate used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies as
those of the Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment in an
associate is initially recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associate. Changes in net
assets of the associate other than profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such
changes resulted in changes in ownership interest held by
the Group. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate
exceeds the Group's interest in that associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of
the Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (conTinuep)

Interest in an associate (Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment in an
associate, any excess of the cost of the investment over the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which
is included within the carrying amount of the investment.
Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the
investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately
in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is
acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset,
including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that
the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with
the associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

Foreign currency

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at that date. Nonmonetary items
carried at FV that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the FV
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. US dollars) using exchange rates prevailing
at the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during
the period, in which case the exchange rates at the date of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity under the heading of translation reserve (attributed
to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an
interest in an associate that includes a foreign operation of
which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (conTinuep)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its
purchase price and the costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced
part is recognised. All other costs, such as repairs and
maintenance, are recognised as an expense in profit or loss
during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is provided to
write off their cost less the expected residual value over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives used for this purpose are as follows:

Furniture and fixtures
Computer and other equipment

5 years
3-5 years

The assets’ expected residual values, depreciation methods
and estimated useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at each reporting date, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception
of the contract. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-
lease components from lease component, and instead
account for the lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of office and staff quarters that have a
lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the
recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (conTinuep)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives received,

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

e an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. Right-of-
use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the
lease term are depreciated from commencement date to
the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 “Financial Instruments” and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered
as additional lease payments and included in the cost of
right-of-use assets.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

e  the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

e the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

o a lease contract is modified and the lease modification
is not accounted for as a separate lease.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (conTinuep)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modlifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

e the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand--alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of
the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability, less
any lease incentives receivable, based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-
of-use asset. When the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is
regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired
in a business combination with finite useful lives are reported
at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that
are acquired separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an
intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives are as follows:

Patent (Fortacin™) 8 years
IP (Deep Longevity) 7 years

Provision and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time value
of money is material).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (conTinuep)

Provision and contingent liabilities (Continued)

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past
events but is not recognised because it is not probable that
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected to be
met by other parties is treated as a contingent liability and it
is not recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits has
become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow
of future economic benefits will be required for an item
previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision is
recognised in the consolidated financial statements in the
reporting period in which the change in probability occurs,
except in the extremely rare circumstances where no reliable
estimate can be made.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets
and financial liabilities are added to or deducted from the
fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for
financial assets and are presented as other income.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e  the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”):

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets;
and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (conTinuep)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVPL,
except that at initial recognition of a financial asset the
Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for trading
nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer
in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

e on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

e it is a derivative that is not a designated and effective
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised
cost or FVOCI as measured at FVPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)
Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning
of the reporting period following the determination that the
asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Equity instruments designated as at FVOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVOCI are subsequently
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from
changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the investment revaluation
reserves; and are not subject to impairment assessment. The
cumulative gain or loss is not reclassified to profit or loss
on disposal of the equity investments, and is transferred to
accumulated losses.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive
the dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly
represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R A F ¥ EEEBERAE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RR M

BEXFHHREN @
£RMTA®
EHEE®

EMEETEREETE @)

B A A R R B YA

MERRBHENLTFENEREEM
= MBRAERERMZ AR 2
WABRBHEHEEZRABERAE
RAXSAE HHBREREERENS
MEERIN (BT -HRBERERE
ERENEREE M SBRART—®
SHRGEERNERNEERENAEA
BERMETUER -HEHEEERE
MERMTANEERRFINE B
ZTMEETBELECERE RIEMHE
EREETBELEEERENKRS RN
wmoFMBERARBHEMEEZRER
BERBERANERT LIRS

WIBERBARBESAHMEZERA
ZHEmTH

BRAnBESAEMEARAZERDT
BERENBERAABESE 2RE
BEE2HELENRTREENEMEZER
mPREITRRESHEFEP RS B
AHEETREN G RERTRER
RGN GEEAEEN D BEERT
MEBARFTEE-

ZERmTEREELENRBINEE
B A UL B R 8 m P REER 0 BRIF
R BB R R EIE D R E A



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (conTinuep)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets including trade
receivables, other receivables, restricted bank balances and
cash and bank balances which are subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessments are done based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (conTinuep)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

e significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

e existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

e an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (conTinuep)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default, (ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and (jii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to
have low credit risk when it has an internal or external
credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as per globally
understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a
more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(¢) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset, when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of
the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at
default. The assessment of the probability of default
and loss given default is based on historical data
and forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL
reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables are considered on
a collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as
forward looking macroeconomic information.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (conTinuep)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)
(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;

e Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

e External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables, where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument
which the Group has elected on initial recognition to
measure at FVOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserves is not
reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to accumulated
losses.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade payables, accruals and
other payables, bank borrowings, shareholder’s loans and
lease liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets or disposal groups are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing
use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is
highly probable and the asset or disposal group is available
for immediate sale in its present condition. The Group must
be committed to the sale, which should be expected to
qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year
from the date of classification.

Non-current assets or disposal groups classified as held for
sale are measured at the lower of the asset’s or disposal
group’s previous carrying amount and fair value less
costs to sell, except for assets such as deferred tax assets,
assets arising from employee benefits, financial assets
and investment property that are carried at fair value and
contractual rights under insurance contracts, which are
specifically exempt from this requirement.

Non-current assets (including those that are part of a
disposal group) are not depreciated or amortised while they
are classified as held for sale. Interest and other expenses
attributable to the liabilities of a disposal group classified as
held for sale continue to be recognised.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale and the assets
of a disposal group classified as held for sale are presented
separately from the other assets in the balance sheet. The
liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale are
presented separately from other liabilities in the balance
sheet.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (conTinuep)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
having been within three months of maturity at acquisition.
Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the group’s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for
the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows.

Revenue and other income

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service
is transferred to the customer, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.

The Group enters into licence agreements for development,
supply and commercialisation services. The terms of these
arrangements typically include payments to the Group of
one or more of the following: signature payment, milestone
payments for development and regulatory application
and royalty on net sales of licenced products. A milestone
payment is a variable consideration which is constrained until
it is probable that the revenue is not at a significant risk of
reversal in a future period when the uncertainty is resolved.
The contracts which the Group enters into do not include
significant financing components.

Revenue from signature payment is recognised when
customers have ability to use the underlying IP of the license.

e MBRRMEE

BEXEHHREH @

RERFESFED

REMREFEVERRTRERTH
R RITREMEBIEEE TR
RABRESHAENRESHARRI
BEANR=_EARIBMEEEELZS
RIFERRBRINEMSRBERE T
meRTRERME  RERREEE
MTEEAREREERBUERRE
EE-HONRITEX

Wit e EL Ut A

Wi 5 & P 1S Al 2E an B AR 75 B 1
EERAEEBRRA RN Z A GRE
T FEEARE=Z Rz TE) i
0o W N BRI ERS A M ER I
ENRERRZH0e

REEMME  HERBELCRFT L
A HE A ERHER—REERE
ERZNTH-EHNZE  KRFARFH
EREERFEERRBURKFFFER
HEFBRNSTEELRE ER2MNIA
#AEAE EXRAIEE W #R
T HE TE [R5 By 7S oK 2 HA ) B9 % [m] S K R
FERBERERDLE AEETINGH
—RIAEBEEARMELD -

EEFENERRBIOEBARERE
By > FESR R 7 A AU o

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 £ %

159



160

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Revenue from milestone payments is recognised when the
Group evaluates whether the milestones are considered
probable of being achieved and estimates the amount to be
included in the transaction price using the most likely amount
method at the inception of each arrangement that includes
milestone payments. If it is probable that a significant reversal
of cumulative revenue would not occur, the associated
milestone value is included in the transaction price. Milestone
payments that are not within the control of the Group, such
as regulatory approvals, are not considered probable of
being achieved until those approvals are received. The Group
evaluates factors such as the scientific, clinical, regulatory,
commercial, and other risks that must be overcome to
achieve the particular milestone in making this assessment.
There is considerable judgement involved in determining
whether it is probable that a significant reversal of cumulative
revenue would not occur. At the end of the subsequent
reporting period, the Group re-evaluates the probability of
achievement of all milestones subject to constraint and, if
necessary, adjusts its estimate of the overall transaction price.
Any such adjustments are recorded on a cumulative catch-
up basis, which would affect revenues and earnings in the
period of adjustment.

Revenue from royalty income for a sales-based royalty in
exchange for a licence of IP is recognised when (or as) the
later of the following events occurs: (a) the subsequent sale
occurs; and (b) the performance obligation to which some
or all of the sales-based royalty has been allocated has been
satisfied (or partially satisfied).

Revenue derived from contracts for providing age prediction
and recommendation services include revenue from
application programming interface (“API”) implementation
service, platform subscription, support service and provision
of biological age reports.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Revenue from APl implementation service is recognised when
the API has been implemented.

Revenue from platform subscription and support service are
recognised in profit or loss over the service period.

Revenue from provision of biological age reports is
recognised when the biological age reports are delivered to
customers.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to
transfer services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.

Employee benefits

()  Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting
period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

(i) Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the
Group and employees are calculated as a percentage
of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit
scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents
contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

(i) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw
the offer of those benefits, and when the Group
recognises restructuring costs and involves the payment
of termination benefits.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into
consideration all non-market vesting conditions is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Group'’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually
vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share option
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-
market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of
the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or
loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share-
based payments reserve. For shares/share options that vest
immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the shares/
share options granted is expensed immediately to profit or
loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to share
capital. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will continue to
be held in share option reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (conTinuep)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the current and
deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from loss before taxation because
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit and at the time of the transaction does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
an associate, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there
will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected
to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 requirements to the leasing transaction as a whole.
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis. Excess of
depreciation on right-of-use assets over the lease payments
for the principal portion of lease liabilities resulting in net
deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (conTinuep)

Taxation (Continued)

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine whether
there is any indication that these assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets are estimated individually. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash generating units for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit or group of cash-generating units to which the
corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying
amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit,
the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its
fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use
(if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset
is allocated pro-rata to the other assets of the unit. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (conTinuep)

Related parties

(@ A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of key management personnel of the
Group or the Company's parent.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

() The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RR M

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (conTinueD)

Related parties (Continued)

(b) (Continued)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of the employees of either the Group
or an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of key
management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which

it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Company’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

In applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 4, the Directors are required to make
judgements (other than those involving estimations) that
have a significant impact on the amounts recognised and to
make estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the
Directors have made the following judgements that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements (apart from those involving
estimations, which are dealt with below).

Going concern basis

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis, the validity of which depends
upon (i) successful draw down of the facility as and when
needed; and (i) successful implementation of measures to
effectively control costs and expenses and timely collection
of receivables. Details are explained in note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RR M

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a)

(b)

Deferred tax asset

As at 31 December 2024, no deferred tax
asset has been recognised on the tax losses of
approximately US$118,764,000 (2023: approximately
US$118,683,000) due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams. The realisability of the deferred tax asset
mainly depends on whether sufficient future profits or
taxable temporary differences will be available in the
future, which is a key source of estimation uncertainty.
In cases where the actual future taxable profits
generated are less or more than expected, or change
in facts and circumstances which result in revision of
future taxable profits estimation, a material reversal or
further recognition of deferred tax assets may arise,
which would be recognised in profit or loss for the
period in which such a reversal or further recognition
takes place.

Fair value of share options granted

The fair value of share options granted was calculated
using the Binomial Model which requires the input of
highly subjective assumptions, including the volatility of
the share price. Continuous estimation is required for
the calculation of cumulative share-based payment cost
at the reporting date until vesting, including estimate of
the number that will vest.

During the year, the Group recognised a share-based
payment expense of approximately US$116,000 in
profit or loss (2023: approximately US$193,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND SEGMENT 6.
INFORMATION

Revenue of the Group consists of royalty income, signature
payment and income generated from the IP. An analysis of
the Group’s revenue and other income for the year is as
follows:

e MBRRMEE

Wrnt ~ E Ut A B 2 EREH

FAEEZERmREENERERA R
MR BNEEEEEHWA - FARE
ERZWmREMBEADRAT !

2024 2023
—EMF —ET=F
US$'000 Us$'000
FErx =z
Royalty income ERERERA 154 171
Signature payment = AR 500 -
Income generated from the IP B 5 Z #(Deep Longevity)
(Deep Longevity): ELERWA -
— Implementation service —BIARTS - 12
— Subscription and support service — 5B M TR AR 63 68
— Provision of biological age reports ~ —IRMHAEYELRE 2 40
Revenue from contracts with customers 2R B & 2 5492 & 719 291
Other income Hlg A
— Bank interest income —R1THRRWA 3 15
— Sundry income — IR A 82 11
85 26
804 317

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares
segment information based on the regular internal financial
information reported to the CEO for his decision about
resources allocation to the Group’s business components and
for his review of the performance of those components. The
business components in the internal financial information
reported to the CEO are determined following the Group's
major product and service lines.
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

For management purpose, the Group's two product and
service lines are identified as operating segments as follows:

Biopharma Research, development, manufacturing,
marketing and sale of pharmaceutical
products and development of Al system
for the field of biological aging clocks

Corporate Investment in corporate entities, both

Investment listed and unlisted

These operating segments are monitored and strategic
decisions are made on the basis of segment operating results.
There were no sales between the reportable segments.

The measurement policies the Group uses for reporting
segment results under HKFRS 8 are the same as those used
in its financial statements prepared under HKFRS Accounting
Standards, except that:

e  finance costs;

e depreciation of right-of-use assets;

*  impairment loss on right-of-use assets; and

e impairment loss on an intangible asset

are not included in arriving at the operating results of the

operating segment.

Segment assets include all assets except for interest in an
associate and asset classified as held for sale.

Segment liabilities exclude lease liabilities and shareholder’s
loans.
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND SEGMENT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INFORMATION (conTinuep)

Information regarding the Group'’s reportable segments is set

out below:

For the year ended 31 December 2024

e MBRRMEE

6. U HttARSBER @

BERAEEZ/RDL2EHFIAOT -

B&E=E_FT_ME+_BA=+—HLEE

Corporate

Biopharma Investment Total

EesE TtERE tast

Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000

FErx FErx Sl bir

Revenue from KEIMNEER 2 W@

external customers 719 - 719
Segment loss DEESIE (649) (3,688) (4,337)
Finance costs RAE A (171)
Loss before tax PRIGAIES 18 (4,508)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

&E=E"_T_ME+_A=+—HLEE

Corporate
Biopharma Investment Total
EYRE TERE st
US$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000
FER FE7T FEr
ltems included in arriving SFANBEENIER -
at segment results:
Depreciation of property, plant #)Z£ ~ BB & & 3T E
and equipment (2) (6) (€]
Fair value loss on FAFVPL BEEmRRANEE
BIEZERMEEY
R EERE - —* —*
Loss on disposal of FAFVPL HEZBBETEREZEAR
BEREZSHEE
Z 518 - (80) (80)

* Amount is less than US$1,000.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMEE

6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND SEGMENT

INFORMATION (conTinueD)

As at 31 December 2024

6. WS -HUMARSHER @

RZE_mFE+ZA=+—H

Corporate
Biopharma Investment Total
Xy TERSE st
Us$’000 US$'000 Us$’000
FEx FEx FEx
Segment assets DEEE 278 331 609
Interest in an associate R—EBE AR 2 #Em 1
Consolidated total assets e EEMR 610
Segment liabilities pan=IS=NE] 208 2,976 3,184
Shareholder’s loans REER 2,570
Lease liabilities HEaR 757
Consolidated total liabilities mEBEeEs 6,511

For the year ended 31 December 2023

B&E=E"_T_=F+_BA=+—HLEE

Corporate
Biopharma Investment Total
FHRE TrERLE A5t
Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000
FE7T FE7T FE7T
Revenue from REIMNEE P 2w
external customers 291 - 291
Segment loss DEBEIE (23,772) (3,481) (27,253)
Finance costs RLE AL AR (80)
Depreciation of right- FRESERE
of-use assets (460)
Impairment loss on right- fEAREERERE
of-use assets (1,152)
Impairment loss on an mILBEERERE
intangible asset (1,518)
Loss before tax PRIRRIES 1R (30,463)

174 REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BI R A FEEBBR AT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND SEGMENT

INFORMATION (conTinuep)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

e MBRRMEE

6. U HttARSBER @

BE_FT_=HF+"_A=+—HLEE

Corporate
Biopharma Investment Total
Sy TERLE KEET
Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000
= FET T=7
ltems included in arriving SFAD B XEENIEE
at segment results:
Depreciation of property, plant #)% BB KRR BITE
and equipment (6) (10) (16)
Amortisation of intangible W B EEH
assets (22,184) - (22,184)
Fair value loss on FAFVPL FEEiBEmREANEBE
RIEERBEEL
NaBEEE - (38) (38)
Gain on disposal of FAFVPL ~ HEFEBEHRIZ AR
BEREZSHEE
Z W= - 91 91
As at 31 December 2023 W-E-=f+=-H=+—H
Corporate
Biopharma Investment Total
Sy TERLE #aEt
US$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000
FET FE7T FET
Segment assets DHEE 270 2,524 2,794
Asset classified as held for sale DEARFIEHEEE 1
Consolidated total assets RO BEMRLE 2,795
Segment liabilities nEERE 252 2,919 3,171
Lease liabilities HEaE 1,175
Consolidated total liabilities 4R & B2 {54248 4,346
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMEE

6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND SEGMENT 6.
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

The Group's revenues from external customers and its non-
current assets (other than financial instruments and interest

Wrat » HtUMA B2 BB @

AEBERBIINEER Z W m M IFRE
EEMIARN—BBEATZ B

&
Bx

in an associate) are divided into the following geographical ) BUA T E R 5
areas:
Revenue from external
customers Non-current assets
ShEE B U JERBEE
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZEINE =4 ZEZI@E =
Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000
FE=r FET FE=rx TET
Europe B 165 243 1 3
us EH 18 35 - =
Asia Pacific el 536 13 7 7
719 291 8 10

The geographical location of revenue from external
customers is based on the location of customers of the
Group’s Biopharma segment. The geographical location of
the non-current assets is based on the physical location of
the assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (conTinuep)

Disaggregation of revenue

Disaggregation of revenue from the Group's Biopharma
segment and timing of revenue recognition are as follows:

e MBRRMEE

Wrat - HtUA R 2 BB E# @

W 2a 48 53

FEREMBED MR Z 0B ER
Wea FFREIEA T

2024 2023
—EMEF TEI=fF
US$'000 Us$'000
F=5r FEx
Timing of revenue recognition T 57 M4 25 s i
At a point in time Tt E FF T
Royalty income EREABKRA 154 171
Signature payment AR 500 -
Provision of biological age reports REEMFIRRS 2 40
Implementation service BifARTS - 12
656 223
Over time Vs
Subscription and support service 5T e 2 IR ARTS 63 68
719 291

As at 31 December 2024, the aggregated amount of the
transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations under the Group's existing contracts is
approximately US$52,000 (2023: approximately US$10,000).
This amount represents revenue expected to be recognised in
the future from partially-completed short-term subscription
and support service contracts. The Group expects to
recognise revenue in future when the service is provided,
which US$52,000 (2023: US$10,000) is expected to occur
within one year.

R_E_NE+-_B=+—0'9DE&E=E
AEBMBEEEHNETHR TRBOEENR
SBR4EEEL 452,000 7T (ZE - =
& 1 #910,000%7T) - ZERISTRHARKN
HEBEINEER D TREHITER
TERBEASANKGE AEEBEHRRH
BRMREEEI ARG BN
—FERNEE52,000ET (CTE =5
10,000 7T) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RR M

6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND SEGMENT 6. WME -HMUARSIER @
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

Information about major customers ERETEERZEH
Revenue from customers of the Group’s Biopharma segment REFEBEMEEZD B ARERTR
contributing 10% or more of the Group's revenue is as WEH10%HU 2 ZR 2 WmInT -
follows:
2024 2023
—E-ME _EBE=F
US$'000 Us$'000
FE FET
Customer A EEA 154 171
Customer B EFB 500 -
Customer C =RC - 37
7. FINANCE COSTS 7. RABERA
2024 2023
ZENE TERI=F
US$'000 Us$'000
FET FET
Interest expense on shareholder’s REER2HMERZ
loans (note 27) (MF5E27) 71 21
Interest expense on lease liabilities HMESGZFEMX 100 59
171 80
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAX CREDIT

The amount of income tax credit in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
represents:

8.

e MBRRMEE

FriSiRiE%

BEETREMEEWRERFAAIFRER
s -

2024 2023
o - 3 e =
Us$’000 Us$'000
FExT F=7T

Current tax ENHEATR 18
— Credit for the year —FRIKE (26) 27)
Deferred tax credit (note 29) IR IEIR % (fF5E29) - (5,387)
(26) (5,414)

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for
the year ended 31 December 2024 as the relevant group
entities did not have assessable profits subject to Hong Kong
Profits Tax for the year (2023: no provision for Hong Kong
Profit Tax has been made for the year as the relevant group
entities have sufficient tax losses brought forward to set off
against current year's assessable profits).

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the UK,
subsidiaries of the Company in the UK are subject to UK
corporate income tax (“CIT") at 25% (2023: 25%) during
the year ended 31 December 2024. No provision for UK CIT
has been made for the year ended 31 December 2024 as
the relevant group entities have sufficient tax losses brought
forward to set off against current year's assessable income
(2023: no provision for UK CIT has been made as the relevant
group entities did not have assessable income subject to UK
CIT for the year).

HRENERERSR T EARMNES
MIBMERR G HBEE_ZT M
F+ZA=+—HUEFELRREEF
BRsHREE CE=F  A/ERE
EEREEENHNNEBREHRFLR
FENEBRR G > LRMEBRER
EHBER) -

RIBEBENAEREARZER REEZT
T HFE+ZB=+—HUEFE ARAF
REENK B AT BRRE2% (ZF
T=F125%) BMEBE S ERER (TR
EFREMR) BE_FT_ME+_A
=t+t—HBIEEE AR ERERERE
BRANRBEREEIREAFENE
BRI A AR EE B EMEBRIE
LG (CE2=F AR ENEPER
BRI EBABMEECEMSHROER
WA > 3 SR h 22 B 1b FE P18 AR L 4
#) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMEE

8. INCOME TAX CREDIT (continuED) 8.

Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere have been
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates, based on existing legislation,
interpretation and practices in respect thereof.

The income tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the
loss before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

FRiiSIRIER @

Hhith 5 ERM ) 2 MIBR AR E
EEEFMERRZEBETRE UREE
MzRAEZR RRKREMHE-

RER FENBRAIREGEETRE
fthEE R RBFRATEBIEH RN T

2024 2023
<o 111 3 “BC=F
Us$'000 Us$'000
FEr TF=ET
Loss before tax PRIRAIE 1B (4,508) (30,463)
Tax at the UK CIT tax rate of 25% AR ETERIEER25%
(2023: 25%) (CBZT=%F:25%)
STEZIRIE (1,127) (7,616)
Tax effect of income not taxable BEFRBAZRBEZE
for tax purpose (1 (49)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible B3R BESE 2 M FEFE
for tax purpose 685 1,421
Tax effect of R&D tax credit ERIER 2 RFEE (26) (27)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised FRHEFIIRIBRIBZ MEFE 194 -
Tax effect of unrecognised temporary KR ERFEZREZ R E
differences - (10)
Tax effect of utilisation of tax loss B ABF RERRIERE
previously not recognised M & (24) (5)
Effect of different tax rates of RE—EBREEERE 2
subsidiaries operating in another B AR REIRE &
jurisdiction 273 872
Income tax credit TSRk se (26) (5,414)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B RRME

LOSS FOR THE YEAR 9. HFREIE
2024 2023
—EMEF “EBT=F
Us$'000 Us$'000
FExT =z
Loss for the year is arrived at after FAEIBENRR S GIA) -
charging/(crediting):
Employee benefit expenses (including EEEF ER (BIEEFME
directors’ remuneration (note 10)) (M§3E10))
— Salaries and benefits — & KRB 2,840 2,724
— Contributions to retirement —RIRER]ETBIMHERR
benefit scheme 21 32
— Equity-settled share-based — AR A E IR R
payment expenses (note 31) EEZ I (EE31) 126 213
2,987 2,969
Auditors’ remuneration Z BB &
— audit services — % BLARTS 122 157
— non-audit services —IERZBURTS 19 26
Depreciation of THEBEZITE
— property, plant and equipment o/ E NN
(note 14) (M35E14) 8 16
— right-of-use assets (note 15) —fEAEEE (IsE15) - 460
Amortisation of intangible assets mEESHE (H:k16)
(note 16) - 22,184
Impairment loss on an B EERERE
intangible asset - 1,518
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets {FRAEEEREEIE - 1,152
Short-term lease expenses HAEE ST 15 14
Low-value assets lease expenses BEEEBEEHESH 3 3
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEME -BEASEZ

and equipment E5i8 = 2
Fair value loss on FAFVPL (note 20) FRE@ERANBERERIE

ZEMEEZANEBE
18 (95E20) —* 38
Loss/(gain) on disposal of FAFVPL HEEBBRREANERE
BREZEMEEZ
iR (e 80 91)
Exchange losses/(gains), net PEREE S () 68 (169)
% Amount is less than US$1,000. w £ Z8/DFN,0005E 7T ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RR M

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 10. EFERTETHRASME
EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the RIEBERAN EMRBREBQBEM
reporting period, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing BEERFETHRABRRESHABOMNS
Rules and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is as WENT !
follows:
Year ended 31 December 2024 BE-E-_NE+=-A=+—HLEE

Emoluments received or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

{EasRRgEHBL XS Z ALHERBCRARENE

Contribution
toa Equity-settled
Salaries and retirement  share-based
benefits  Discretionary benefit payment
Fees in kind bonus scheme expenses Total
hEk HEMEN  MEREEN
ik Ela BETL  ABNHR  REGTE it
Name of director EE ez USs§'000 Uss$'000 Uss$'000 USs$'000 Uss$'000 USs$'000

Fxn Fxn Fxn Fxn Fxn Fxn

Executive Director #7EZ

Jamie Gibson (CEQ) Jamie Gibson (T B2 %) - 1377 S = = 1377
Non-Executive Directors FHTES

James Mellon James Mellon 18 110 - - - 128
Jayne Sutcliffe Jayne Sutcliffe 14 - - - - 14

Independent Non-Executive Directors IIFFH{TES

Adrian Chan (note (i) BRoh% (FEG) 28 S S = = 8
lhsan Al Chalabi (note (ii) hsan Al Chalabi (Ffz%(i) 28 - - - - 28
Mark Searle Mark Searle 28 - - - - 28
Total it 116 1487 - - - 1,603
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS (conminueD)

Year ended 31 December 2023

e MBRRMEE

10. EERFETHASME @

BE_T_=HF+_BA=+—HLEE

Emoluments received or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

EARARFENBLXEE AT HERBERIE YN E

Contribution
toa  Equity-settled

Salaries and retirement  share-based
benefits  Discretionary benefit payment
Fees in kind bonus scheme expenses Total
Hek HERER  LERERN
ik ENfla RBTA  SHERER ROOZES st
Name of director EE 2 US§'000 US§'000 US§'000 US§'000 US§'000 Us§'000
TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn
Executive Director HiEs
Jamie Gibson (CEQ) Jamie Gibson (fTBUA2%,) - 1,250 75 L 19 1,344
Non-Executive Directors FHES
James Mellon James Mellon 18 110 9 - 2 139
Jayne Sutcliffe Jayne Sutcliffe 14 - - - 2 16
Independent Non-Executive Directors HIFEHITES
Adrian Chan (note (i) Bl tg (EK() 20 = = = = 20
lhsan Al Chalabi (note (i) hsan Al Chalabi (Ffz%(i) 11 = = = = 11
David Comba (note (i) David Comba (FfF3E(i) 12 S = = = 12
Julie Oates (note (iv) Julie Oates (Ff5(iv) 17 = = = 1 18
Mark Searle Mark Searle 28 - - - 2 30
Total @t 120 1,360 84 - 2 1,59

Notes:

(i) On 21 April 2023, Mr Adrian Chan was appointed as an
independent non-executive director.

(i) On 15 August 2023, Mr lhsan Al Chalabi was appointed as
an independent non-executive director.

(i) On 1 June 2023, Mr David Comba retired as an independent
non-executive director.

(ivy  On 15 August 2023, Ms Julie Oates resigned as an
independent non-executive director.

Neither the chief executive nor any of the Directors waived
any emoluments during the year ended 31 December 2024
(2023: nil).

PIsE

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

RIEBE_=FEHA_+—H' A &L
EERTABIUIERITES

RZEZ=F/A\B+HH"lhsan Al
Chalabifc & EREABILIEFHITEE ©

RZZE_—=%;-H—HDavid Comba’t
FREBIIERNTES

RZZE—=F/\B+HH"Julie Oates&
TEEBIIERITES

BEIETHAENEAESRNEE
EME+"_A=+t—RHLEEEHRRE
fAffE (CEZ=F | o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= =

R e MR RMIEE

11. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 1. AAREHMAL
The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the K%IEWE%%E%E WA T EE—%
year included one (2023: one) director whose emolument TEC=FE IR ESE EFHFMNRM
is reflected in the analysis presented in note 10. The AEWFI02FZ A -HTHE (ZF
emoluments of the remaining four (2023: four) individuals “=Fm%) AL ZMEEImT

are set out below:

2024 2023
ke 111 - 3 —ET =
US$'000 Us$'000
FEx FET
Salaries and allowances e KR Rh 824 801
Discretionary bonus EIBTEAL - 31
Contributions to retirement benefit ¥R K@EF 5 BIR R
scheme 5 9
Equity-settled share-based payment LAz 45 H BYBRD (T FRFESZ
expenses 38 72
867 913
The above emoluments fell within the following bands: MEMEBT7IEE :

Number of individuals

A™
2024 2023
—E-@mE . S
HK$1,000,001-HK$ 1,500,000 (US$128,159-US$192,239) 2 -
1,000,00178 75— 1,500,00078 75 (128,159%7t—192,239% 1)
HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000 (US$192,240-US$256,318) 1 3
1,500,00178 75 —2,000,0007%8 7T (192,240%75—256,3183%7T)
HK$2,000,001-HK$2,500,000 (US$256,319-US$320,398) 1 1
2,000,001 755 —2,500,0007 7T (256,319 75—320,398% 7T)
4 4
No emolument was paid by the Group to any of the five BE_Z_NER_ZE_=F+"A
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon =t+t—HLEFE AEETEREMR
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office in HERE A TS LXT’E%UE@\
respect of the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. MAREBEHMAXERE 2B 5L

ERBERA{E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12. DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended 31
December 2024, nor has any dividend been proposed since
the end of the reporting period (2023: nil).

13. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss
attributable to the shareholders of the Company for the year
and on the weighted average number of ordinary shares in
issue during the year.

12.

13.

e MBRRMEE

225

RBEE_Z_NF+_A=+—HLF
B #BEERNHEZRRYRE  BRE
HRURTEZZRMEARE (C°F
T=ZFIHE)e

FREGHR

SR A B 1R R IR E R A A T R SRR
FHRRENDRTEER METEH
st

2024 2023
—E-ME TEBT=F
Us$’000 Us$'000
FET TE=7T
Loss attributable to shareholders KN B RRER FE(LESIE
of the Company (4,482) (25,049)
Weighted average number of ordinary B 31T @8 2 N T
shares in issue (note) (B 5E) 228,413,933 225,102,963
Basic loss per share (US cents) SREAREE FEW) (1.96) (11.13)
Note: As at 31 December 2023, after the Share Consolidation, et RZEZ=F+Z"A=+—H KRHSE

the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
was adjusted to 225,102,963 Shares from 4,502,059,285
Shares.

The computation of diluted loss per share does not assume
the exercise of the Options because the exercise price of
those Options was higher than the average market price for
Shares for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
Accordingly, the diluted loss per share is the same as the
basic loss per share.

HE BERECTEERZMETHHUH
4,502,059,285/% B 17 58 % #3225,102,963
AR ©

BE_Z_HNERZIZ=ZF+TA
=+—HLEFE - SRBEFHEENE
TRBRREREETE RRASZEE
RENTEESKRMIFEHE-
I SR EERESRERERER-
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RR M

14. V¥ -BERS&E

Computer
Furniture and other
and fixtures equipment Total
B R
RV b Hithse s st
Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000
FE57 FE7 FEr
Cost s
At 1 January 2023 W_E_=F—H—H 332 288 620
Additions hE - 2 2
Write-off 6] - ) 9)
Disposals HE - (15) (15)
At 31 December 2023 and T
1 January 2024 +ZRA=+—H8&
“ETE—HB—H 332 266 598
Additions NE - 6 6
Disposals HE - 4) (4)
At 31 December 2024 A TEZNF+ZAH
=+—H 332 268 600
Accumulated depreciation REHiFE
At 1 January 2023 N_EZ=F—H—H 332 261 593
Charge for the year FRNEHA - 16 16
Write-off i - 9) 9)
Disposals HE - (12) (12)
At 31 December 2023 and RN_E_=4F
1 January 2024 +ZA=+—H8B&
—EHmFE—AF—H 332 256 588
Charge for the year FREH - 8 8
Disposals HE - (4) (4)
At 31 December 2024 R _JFE
+=-B=+—H 332 260 592
Carrying amount IREIE
At 31 December 2024 ATZ PO
+=ZB=+—H - 8 8
At 31 December 2023 RN_E =4
+=—A=+—H = 10 10
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

e MBRRMEE

At 1 January 2023
Additions
Depreciation
Impairment loss (note)
Exchange difference

HERE ()

At 31 December 2023, 1 January 2024 and

31 December 2024

Note: The Group carried out a review of the recoverable amount
of its right-of-use assets in 2023, having regard to the
financial results during the year ended 31 December 2023
of the Group and a 31-month cash flow forecast up to 31
July 2026. These assets were corporate assets and treated as
unallocated assets in segment information. The review led
to the recognition of an impairment loss of approximately
US$1,152,000, which had been recognised in profit or loss.
The recoverable amount of nil had been determined by
referring to a 31-month Group cash flow forecast, which
covered the entire leasing terms of the office and the

warehouse.

15. FREESE
Leased
properties
HEYE
Us$'000
S
F—HF—H 276
1,334
(460)
(1,152)
2
F+=B=+—8-
mMFE—B—HB&
mE+—/8=+—H =
s EEIAEEBHEE_Z_=F+-A4

—t+—BHLEEENMEEEREEC
EXRETAZ+—HM31MERRER
BRI AEER S =4HEGH
BEENTWRESEETED S8
EATESE BROTENDWES
ROEEE-KEL  BIDAEBEDN
1,152,000% 70 BERER PR o o1k
OlEEAT NRSBAEEIIESN
BHE&AREEH RERAEREANEME
e EE-
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15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (conTinueD)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RR M

15. FHESE »®

2024 2023
—ENF “EBT=F
US$'000 Us$'000
FEx FE5T
Depreciation expenses on FRESETERX

right-of-use assets - 460
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEaG MEMX 100 59
Expenses relating to short-term leases f2HAfAEMEA 2 H 15 14

Expenses relating to lease of low-value RBEEEREHERE X H
assets 3 3
Total cash outflow for lease MEREMLAREE 541 537

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
Group leases various office premise and warehouse for
its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for a fixed
term ranging from 2 years to 3 years (2023: 2 years to 3
years). Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the
non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a
contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable. The lease does not include any option to renew
for an additional period after the end of contractual terms.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
entered into a new warehouse lease. Right-of-use assets of
US$1,334,000 and lease liabilities of US$1,334,000 were
recognised at the commencement of the lease. The Group
did not enter into any new leases during the year ended 31
December 2024.

In addition, lease liabilities of US$757,000 (2023:
US$1,175,000) are recognised with related right-of-use
assets of nil as at 31 December 2024 (2023: nil). The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by
the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R A F ¥ EEEBERAE

RBE_Z_NMFER_ZT_=F+2"A
=T—HLEFEE - AEEBEEZERR
EMERBERKERR -BESN
BN 2H8E3F (T2 Z=F 2573
F) NEEHARET L - A EHAR T E @k
0 BB B B VR R A5 5 o 1078
7 0 & AR Kz 5T 1t 1~ AT B 8K RA 8 2 R A
B AEBRASHNZER TEETHS
Mo ARG ITHNER - HEREERS
AR R B E AR (E R B o

REE_E_=F+"B=+—HI%
B AEBUMBERE - EREEE
1,334,000t R E&1E1,334,000E 7T
REERGBRER - RBEE-TNF
+ZAE=+—HIFE  AEEWES]
ERFMEE

s R ZEZWE+=Z/8=+—8"
ERREEaE757,000E T (ZE =
1 1,175,000%7T) > HEAEREEES
T (CEBEI=F D) BRHBARFENH

ﬁ&ﬁ’nﬁsﬁ& 5 5h 0 T8 B 17 e R BT
HEMRE - HEEEFSREEEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B RRME

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16. BR2EE

Patent IP (Deep
(Fortacin™) Longevity) Total
i ER
7] (Deep
(Fortacin™) Longevity) #ast
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
FE5T TE5T FET
Cost D%
At 1 January 2023, RZE_=F—F—H"
31 December 2023, —_E-=F+"H
1 January 2024 and =+—B-ZE-lmE
31 December 2024 —B—HBKRZZEZNF
+-A=+—H 216,000 2,660 218,660
Accumulated amortisation REHBE R R ERSE
and impairment losses
At 1 January 2023 N _E_=%—HF—H 194,196 762 194,958
Amortisation for the year F N 21,804 380 22,184
Impairment loss HEBE - 1,518 1,518
At 31 December 2023, ATET=—F+"H
1 January 2024 and =+—H\-ZE-mE
31 December 2024 —B—HERZZEZNEF
+-B=+—H 216,000 2,660 218,660
Carrying amount ARME(E
At 31 December 2023 and R_EBE_=F+_H
31 December 2024 —t+—HERZIEZME
+-_B=+—H e - _
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

sa

16.

17.

M5 ER R M sE

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (conTiNueD)

IP (Deep Longevity)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2023, the Group assessed the
FVLCOD of the IP (Deep Longevity) using the discounted cash
flow method. The fair value measurement was categorised
in level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The asset was used in
the Group’s Biopharma segment. In assessing the FVLCOD
of the IP (Deep Longevity), the Directors reviewed cash
flow projections based on financial budgets prepared by
management for the four-year period to 31 December 2027
and applied a discount rate of 15%. Having regard to the
financial results of the Biopharma segment during the year
ended 31 December 2023 and the difficult and uncertain
market conditions the recoverable amount of the IP (Deep
Longevity) was determined to be nil and a full impairment
loss of US$1,518,000 was recognised in profit and loss.

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

16. B EE @

K138 E#(Deep Longevity)

REESEE B2 _=F+"_H=+—
HEFEZHGEMBHRERE  ZEEK
FAIRIR & RE AT AR # E#(Deep
Longevity) A REEREE KA AR
BEIEEGEEALABEEANE=
BR-BERARAEBNEYEEEDE
B SR &0 34 2 #(Deep Longewty)E’J’&ﬁ
BEREEMRAR  EXZREEIEREM
RENHEE_Z_tHE+-_B=+—H
IFNEFEERENMEEENRERE
TERETES WA 15%NAIRE-
ERINEE_T_—F+_-_RA=+—H
IFFEEYBESI BN BEEEURT
M EIE R AHEE M M#EE(Deep
Longevity) I B] N C] S REEEEAZ T
I8 P RERR1,518,000E T 2 BRI E
B518 o

17. M—HBE AT Z S

2024 2023
—ZE”MEF e
US$’'000 Us$'000
FET FE5T
Unlisted investment: JELHKE:
Share of net assets ELEEZFE 1 -
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17.

18.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continueD)

Details of the Group's associate at 31 December 2024 and
2023 are as follows:

e MBRRMEE

17. R—RHBE AR ZERD @
R_E-_WNER-_ZE-_=#+-A1
—+—H RERZHEATEIBWNT

Particular of Percentage of

issued and ownership

Name Place of incorporation paid up capital interest

BEITR mEREED

B =E A 32 3th B RS Bt
West China Coking & The PRC Registered capital of

Gas Company Limited RMB319,640,000 25%
HIEABELHHRERAT FEH SEMEAD

Interest in an associate was presented as asset held for sale as
at 31 December 2023. Details are set out in note 23.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

AR #319,640,0007T

RIE_=ZF+_"A=+—H H—M@
BMERB G 2T ARTIFHEEE -
EEIBE A MIEE23 0

18. MARBEFARMEEHRAZ
EMEE

FE LR AEE

Unlisted equity securities

2024 2023
ko 11 - 3 —ET=F
US$'000 US$'000
FE5T FE=7T

* *

* Amount is less than US$1,000.

Equity securities which are not held for trading and which
the Group has irrevocably elected at initial recognition to
recognise in this category. These are strategic investments
and the Group considers this classification to be more
relevant.

i £ EA/DH1,000% 7T ©

REEBSFLIIFFIFEE BXRAEEER
] HB] th 28 2= 50 ) 2 B SR X L 4R Al AR
R IULEBREREAAEBI DX
DERE AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RR M

REMBAR
RS _MER_S_=F+_5

19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 19.

Particulars of the subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024 and

2023 are as follows:

Country/Place of

=+—HB WBABZEHNT

incorporation/ Issued and
continuation/ fully paid Percentage of equity interest
Name operation share capital attributable to the Company  Principal activities
B AT 1
a8 REER M ERTRYRRET sRARAEGERSEZESL FERB
Directly Indirectly
E# %
Deep Longevity, Inc Cayman Islands 1 ordinary share of 100% - Investment holding
US$0.0001 each
HEHE 1REREE REZR
0.0001%T 2 BHER
Regent Coal (Holdings) Limited ~ Cayman Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
each
HEHE \REREEIZETZ REER
EER
Regent Financial Services Hong Kong 5,000,000 ordinary 100% - Provision of management
Limited shares services
BRUBERARAT &8 5,000,000z & A% RHEERH%
Endurance RP Limited Hong Kong 5,000,000 ordinary 100% - Provision of management
shares services
FE 5,000,000 & &% RUEERH
Plethora Solutions Holdings plc  United Kingdom 894,497,686 ordinary 100% - Development and
shares of GBP 0.01 marketing of products
each for the treatment
and management of
urological disorders
Eli 894,497,686/ B R EE ARaRREEMERER
001585 7 BiE R HIm2 EmfER

192
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B RRME

19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (conTinueD) 19. IREMBARE @
Country/Place of
incorporation/ Issued and
continuation/ fully paid Percentage of equity interest
Name operation share capital attributable to the Company  Principal activities
AT 1
g BEER MY ERTRYRRET FAFEGRAEZEALE FERH
Directly Indirectly
E# %
Amerinvest Coal Industry British Virgin Islands 10,000 ordinary shares of - 100%  Investment holding
Holding Company Limited US$1 each
HERUES 10,0008 5 R EE RELZRK
[EPAT ]
Deep Longevity Limited Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares - 100%  Developing Al systems
to track the rate of
aging at the molecular,
cellular, tissue, organ,
system, physiological
and psychological levels
REFFERAT & 10082 & &A% REATEERAS T
yalab¥iil RN Sk AL
B R4 £EMLE
HEHRENRE
Plethora Solutions Limited United Kingdom 152 ordinary shares of = 100%  Development and
GBP 1 each marketing of products
for the treatment
and management of
urological disorders
e 152 EREEIEFZ AR ARREEBRA
EER R EmfER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RR M

19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continueD) 19. REMBRE @
Country/Place of
incorporation/ Issued and
continuation/ fully paid Percentage of equity interest
Name operation share capital attributable to the Company  Principal activities
ML EF
&g REER e BETRYERS FRAREERIEGEAL  FEEH
Directly Indirectly
HiE i
Plethora Pharma Solutions Ireland 100 ordinary shares of - 100%  Development and
Limited EUR 1 each marketing of products
for the treatment
and management of
urological disorders
EmH 100RSRAE BT BRaEREENRER
S RERZ ERMRER
2
The above table contains the particulars of subsidiaries ITREEGHEAERXE BEEHAE
which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of EREAFEZNBRABIER -EERT
the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in A REHMNBEABNFETERR
the opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive BRI L ©
length.
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at 31 R_E_=Z=H2Kkr_ZE_WNE+_H
December 2023 and 2024. =+—BUIERBEASETERMERE
o
20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 20. EBHEZRBARBERIEZS
PROFIT OR LOSS MEE
2024 2023
b o 111 - 3 TET=F
US$'000 US$'000
FEr Fx=7T
Held for trading — overseas, FIEEE— B BAnEE
at fair value
— Listed equity securities — R AES 2 299
— Unlisted club debenture —IE LM EES 19 19
21 318

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R A F ¥ EEEBERAE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B RRME

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 20. EBEmRIEARBERIEZE

PROFIT OR LOSS (continueD) MEE®
Movements in FAFVPL are as follows: ZEEBEnREANEBEREZSTHEE
BEHWT :
2024 2023
—E-mE SES—
US$'000 US$'000
F=7r FE7T
As at 1 January nw—A—H 318 1,097
Disposals HE (297) (7417)
Change in fair value (note 9) ~aBEEEE (i) =* (38)
As at 31 December n+=ZA=+—H 21 318
The carrying amounts of the above financial assets are TMEMEE REEREBESBHMBR
mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss in HERFIRRF B ABRREANEE
accordance with HKFRS 9. FtEo
The above investments represent investments in listed equity T ERELETRAEFESZKRE HBE
securities that offer the Group the opportunity for return BREBARAABEWG S EEERR
through dividend income and fair value gains. They have no HERE T ZEREUEEEIHH
fixed maturity or coupon rate. B SE
The FV of listed equity investments was based on last quoted TR AREZ AABEENRRSHH
market prices at the reporting date. The FV of unlisted club FrREm M migE - FF LmBRESFZA
debenture was determined by reference to the recent market NEESEREHANCHATEEE

price at the reporting date.

i}
~

e Amount is less than US$1,000. v |

\

7

D781,000E 7T ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RR M

21. TRADE RECEIVABLES 21. BB SRR

2024 2023

ke 111 - 3 “EBI=HF

US$'000 Us$'000

FErx FE=7T

Trade receivables FEUNE 5 BR ™R 53 39

The Group applies credit policies appropriate to the particular
business circumstances concerned generally requires
outstanding amounts to be paid within 20 to 30 days (2023:
20 to 30 days) of invoice.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the ageing analysis of
trade receivables, based on the invoice dates, was as follows:

AEBHBEHETEFBERARXBEEN
EEHEK —RBNREZRHE_+E
=+ CE=ZF: Z“+E=+H)R"X%
JREEBRIA

R CETMERZEZZF+"A
=+—H BREZRM (REZHH
B REBOMWT

2024 2023

—E_MF ET=F

Us$'000 Us$'000

FET FE7T

Within 1 month — @B N 53 39

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are
denominated in the following currencies:

AEBERE S RRNEEERUTE
MEEHE -

2024 2023
—E_NFE TECT=F

US$'000 US$'000

FExT F=T

EUR BroT 12 12
US$ ETT 41 27
Total 4ast 53 39

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R A F ¥ EEEBERAE



22.

23.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B RRME

RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH AND 22. ZRHIRITEMUARIRERIRIT

BANK BALANCES LR
2024 2023
—EMEF TEI=fF
US$'000 US$'000
F=r FE7T
Restricted bank balances X IRHIIRITAEER 32 32
Cash and bank balances RERIRITLEER 100 2,097
132 2,129
As at 31 December 2024, a bank deposit amounting to RIE_HWNFE+_A=+—H8 #&17T&E
approximately US$32,000 (2023: US$32,000) is a deposit F#932,000% 7 (ZZE - =£ : 32,0003
held by the bank as security for the corporate credit cards 70) ISHBTREUEAR R WE AR
provided to a subsidiary of the Company. BiIRMEEEARNBERZTFNRC
ASSET CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE 23. PHEAHELHEERE
2024 2023
“EME —B=F
US$'000 US$'000
F=r FE7T
Asset classified as held for sales DRAFEHEERE
— Interest in an associate (note) —RN—RERE AT 2 #m
(%) - 1
Note: M5t -
In October 2023, the Group decided to sell its 25% equity interest RIBZ=F+A AEBRRETHEHNK —MH
in an associate, West China Coking & Gas Company Limited, BERTMBERAELHHERBERATZ25%
therefore, interest in an associate was presented as asset classified BE REgEE_2_=F+_/A=+—H>

as held for sale as of 31 December 2023.

R—EBEAT ZHHEE2I BN EARFHE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

sa

5 M H R M

23.

24,

ASSET CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

(CONTINUED)

Note: (Continued)

On 24 March 2024, Amerinvest Coal Industry Holding Company
Limited (“ACIL"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a sale and purchase agreement with A
BESHERAMRAT (unofficial English translation: Quijing Black
Gold Energy Co., Ltd.) (“Black Gold"”), pursuant to which ACIL
conditionally agreed to sell, and Black Gold conditionally agreed to
acquire, 25% equity interest in West China Coking & Gas Company
Limited at a consideration of RMB8 million (or approximately
US$1.11 million). Details are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 25 March 2024.

On 2 July 2024, Black Gold and the Group have decided not to
proceed with the disposal of the 25% equity interest of West
China Coking & Gas Company Limited as certain conditions were
not fulfilled by the long stop date stipulated under the sale and
purchase agreement, which was 23 June 2024. Details are set
out in the announcement of the Company dated 2 July 2024.
Accordingly, the Group has ceased to present the interest in an
associate under asset held for sale as at 31 December 2024.

TRADE PAYABLES, CONTRACT LIABILITIES,
ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

23.

24,

PHEAFIEHEESE @

MIEE - ()

RIE_WE=B_+HA A EEES
Z M B2 B)Amerinvest Coal Industry Holding
Company Limited( TACIL]) (325 | EHE
REREXKEERAT) BiEREERE
RABN TREFIIIEE R BRI ACLERK
GHREHEMERSERERRWEHIEARE
{EHIHRBRAT Z25% K REAARE
8,000,0007T (8(491,110,000%7T) ° sEiEH IR A&
AEHRRE_ME=A"+HEHZ A

RIZ2TWFELAZH AREFHRAERR
EERSEMIEZEIERR GBI 2 ZmFR
BZ+=H) zriEm RS HAEHBR
EMEEHEMBARELFERAERATZ
25%RE-FRHNARBDARA T _ME
TtAZTHRZAM-EI R ZFE-WE+TA
=+—H FEBEEFLRFFLHEEEET
2R —EE R Bz B

BB R MRM% - SNAaR- Bk
X Bz H fth F& {4 7k 17

2024 2023

—EMEF —B=F

US$'000 Us$'000

FEx FE7T

Trade payables FE(T B Z RN 26 102
Contract liabilities — Deposits received &&#&E—FEWIZS

in advance 52 10

Accruals and other payables FESHARFR K ELfth FE (S 7R 1B 3,095 3,039

3,173 3,151

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R A F ¥ EEEBERAE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

24. TRADE PAYABLES, CONTRACT LIABILITIES, 24.

ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES (conTiNUED)

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the ageing analysis
of the trade payables, based on the invoice dates, was as
follows:

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B RRME

BB BIRMR - 8 E  EETER
R EMETFRIE @

RZE_WNERZZFTEZ=

F+°A8

=+—B BANEZRR (RERB M

B) REOFOT -

2024 2023

—E-MF “EBT=F

UsS$'000 Us$'000

FET FE7T

Within 1 month or on demand R—EA R EEK 19 81
After 1 month but within 3 months HR—EABER=@ER XN 7 18
After 3 months but within 6 months PR =@EABERNEA R - 2
Over 6 months NMEA L = 1
26 102

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables are

FEERRNEZRMIRE B X R E

denominated in GBP. Fo
Movements in contract liabilities: EHEEEE:
2024 2023
—E-NE B4
Us$'000 Us$'000
FExT FE7T
Balance at 1 January R—HB— B0 10 -
Revenue recognised that was included st AFEINEHNEBELERRD
in the contract liabilities balance at B R
the beginning of the year (10) -
Increase in contract liabilities as RAIFAZEERENaEIEM
a result of billing in advance 52 10
Balance at 31 December R+ZB=+—HM4#&er 52 10
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMEE

25. SHARE CAPITAL 25. BR7s
Ordinary shares Undlassified shares" Total
gk FRERH @t
Number of Number of Number of
Note shares Us$'000 shares Us$'000 shares Us§'000
i3 LAl FEn LA FEn LAl ] FEn

Authorised: 3T
At 1 January 2023 RZE_=5-A-H 14,300,000,000 143,000 55,000,000 550  14,355,000,000 143,550
Share Consolidation Rnas (b)  (13,585,000,000) - (52,250,000 - (13,637,250,000) =
Share Subdivision Bt (e)  142,285,000,000 - 547,250,000 - 142,832,250,000 -
At 31 December 2023, RZE_=&

1 January 2024 and +ZB=+-A>

31 December 2024 “ITmE-A-Hk

“EOME
+-A=+-A 143,000,000,000 143,000 550,000,000 550 143,550,000,000 143,550

Issued and fully paid: BEIRSE -
At 1 January 2023 RZE-=F-B-H 2,400,347 881 24,004 - - 2400,347,881 24,004
Rights Issue 1 (@ 2,166,571,194 21,665 - - 2,166,571,19 21,665
Share Consolidation e (b) (4338573,122) - - - (4338573,122) S
Issue of Shares under share awards ~ RERMREXTRG © 46333 9 > > 46,333 9
Capital Reduction IRaHlAE ) S (45,450) = S S (45,450)
At 31 December 2023 and RIE-=F+"A=1-H

1 January 2024 kZE-NE-A-H 228,392,286 228 - - 228,392,286 228
Issue of Shares under share awards ~ RERMREXTRG ] 46,333 = S S 46,333 =
At 31 December 2024 RIE-ME+-A=1-H 228438619 228 - - 228,438,619 228

These are unclassified shares of US$0.001 each, which may
be issued as ordinary shares or as non-voting convertible
deferred shares of US$0.001 each.

& Amount less than US$1,000.

(@ On 12 January 2023, the Company issued and allotted
2,166,571,194 new Shares under the Rights Issue by
way of rights on the basis of one (1) Rights Share for
every one (1) existing share at the subscription price of
HK$0.0785 pursuant to the prospectus documents®.

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R A F ¥ EEEBERAE

FIREE0.0013E T2 R D AR » BT &
TAEREE.001E T EEIGTER
RO PRIRFE AR D

F&ADH01,000% 75 ©

RZEZ=F—HB+ZH &2
BIRBEHREEXHESRE
—(WRBERGEZ —(1RHER
1Dz B2 %0 HEE0.07858 7T
DU g 75 0 AR 1 i A 85 1T R B 2
2,166,571, 1948% #7107 o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25. SHARE CAPITAL (continueD)

(b)

On 5 June 2023, every twenty (20) issued and
unissued shares of par value of US$0.01 each has been
consolidated into one (1) Consolidated Share of par
value of US$0.20 each*.

On 14 July 2023, the Company issued and allotted
46,333 new Shares for the share award granted to
Dr Eric Verdin, MD and Dr Vadim N. Gladyshev, PhD
under the then general mandate pursuant to the
relevant consulting agreements. Full details are set out
in the Company’s announcements dated 14 July 2021,
26 July 2021, 29 March 2023 and 1 June 2023, the
Company’s circular dated 27 April 2023 and the 2023
Annual Report.

On 3 August 2023, the Group completed the Capital
Reduction whereby the par value of each Share reduced
from US$0.20 to US$0.001 by cancelling the paid-up
capital to the extent of US$0.199 on each Share*.

On 3 August 2023, the Group completed the Share
Subdivision whereby immediately following the Capital
Reduction, each of the authorised but unissued
Consolidated Shares with par value of US$0.20 each
be subdivided into 200 adjusted shares with par value
of US$0.001 each. Forthwith the Share Subdivision
becoming effective, the authorised share capital of the
Company be increased to US$143,550,000.00 by the
creation of such number of additional Adjusted Shares
as shall be sufficient to increase the authorised share
capital of the Company to US$143,550,000.00 divided
into (a) 143,000,000,000 ordinary Adjusted Shares and
(b) 550,000,000 unclassified Adjusted Shares*.

On 14 July 2024, the Company issued and allotted
46,333 new Shares for the share award granted to Dr.
Eric Verdin, MD and Dr. Vadim N. Gladyshev, PhD under
the then general mandate pursuant to the relevant
consulting agreements. Further details are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 14 July 2021, 26 July
2021, 29 March 2023 and 1 June 2023, the Company’s
circular dated 27 April 2023 and note 31(2) to the
consolidated financial statements.

e MBRRMEE

25. Bg#ds @

(b)

A —E_=F,BAH =+

(20) E R EE0.01 ETTH B 21T
RABITROBEEHZ —(1)RER
H{E0.20E T & HEAR A" o

RIE_=F+tB+HBE > &A
BIREEAEN R ECER—K
B REFLAEric Verdint®+ > MDRE
Vadim N. Gladyshevi#= > PhD#%
BB B2 BN 35 1T e AL 85 46,3330
Do 2WHEBHNALRBEHEES
T —FtHB+WUH B
tA-+ARAEH-ZE_-_=ZFH=H
“+thEBEZE-_=ZF,A—H
2R~ KABHEAZE =

MEZ+tHZBRUARZZTZ=
FERo

RIEZ=HFNB=H £A&EBEE
SERRAH R BAEERRMG
0N9ETTZHERAMETRE
2 EEB0.20ETHI HZE0.001
EiTte

A _E_—FNB=ZR AEER
A% B 10 3R 4 > 3R UL > X BB B A Y Rk
%> SREEC20ETHNERET
BRETEHRMDIFAE200RE
A EEO0.001E T 2 KR BEERRAD ©
REROIREENRE ARBZE
ERAEBBREZEERUEAR
SEERAIE E143,550,000.00
ETHNBENCHEERMOHMER
143,550,000.00%E 75> 9 %A(a)
143,000,000,0000% & B £ H EE AR
5 Fz(b) 550,000,0000% & 77 #8455
R AD* o

N ZEZNELA+TEE ARE
RIFEFAEE G ZE R —RIRE
FLMEEric Verdintd 4 > MD&Vadim
N. Gladyshevi# 1 > PhDI#% H B9 i&
B EE1T R B85 46,333 AR
RoE—PHEBHEN AR B
b= S o = o 118 = == S
+tB-+XB-ZE_=5£=H
“_t+hBEBRZE_=F,xH—H
ZRM-ARBEHBAZEZ =
WA Z+tHZBRURGEME
HRRMIEE31(2) 0
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMEE

25. SHARE CAPITAL (continuED)

(@) Save as disclosed above, there were no changes in the
authorised and issued share capital of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

i Full details on the above movement and changes in the
share capital during the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2024 are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 26
September 2022, 17 October 2022, 31 October 2022, 24
November 2022, 3 January 2023, 11 January 2023, 29 March
2023, 1 June 2023 and 2 August 2023, the Company’s
circulars dated 31 October 2022 and 27 April 2023, and
the Company's prospectus dated 13 December 2022, if
applicable.

The Group's objectives when managing capital are:

—  To ensure the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it continues to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders;

—  To support the Group’s stability and growth; and

—  To provide capital for the purpose of strengthening the
Group’s risk management capability.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to ensure optimal capital structure and
shareholder returns, taking into consideration the future
capital requirements of the Group and capital efficiency,
prevailing and projected profitability, projected operating
cash flows, projected capital expenditures and projected
strategic investment opportunities. The Group has not
adopted any formal dividend policy.

The externally imposed capital requirements for the Group is,
in order to maintain its listing on the Stock Exchange, it has
to have a public float of at least 25% of the shares.

Based on information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Company is continuing compliance with the requirement of
public float of at least 25% of the shares throughout the
year.

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED Bl & X Fi# BB R AT

25. BR7s @)

(9)

BEXFREEN RBEE-S
—WEF A= +—HIEEE &
AT T R © 8T B A 1
o

ERRARNBE_ZE_=F
KZEZNE+ZAHA=Z+—
HEFEN LB RES
Z2EHEBHENAL2E B E
HBA_E__FABZ+H-
“EHE+R+tH B F
+BA=+—HB -ZZ2ZZF
+—ABAZ+OB-Z2Z=fF
—B=ZRA-Z&%_-_=Z%—AH~
+—B-Z=E2_-_=Z&=ZH
—+h B~ % =%
NAB B R_-ZE - =%
NBZRHzZRM -ARBHEA
2 ZF+B=Z+—8B~&

TEC=FMBZ+tHZBR
URArBHBEA T - _ %
+-HA+=HzHRERER (B
) e

FEEEEEAZERE

BRAEEZFECEED £H
FEsRRRERER R SHEMED
ERMHEMN @D ;

MEAEBZRBREMRER &

HERAERRBREEENREE
o

EREAEBZRAREEBZERRELY
m R RBAEMEND  BAKLER
ThE FRABLAHAXKRBARBRE
B rEERBERRS REERA
ARBURFRTENEARBRRKRERED
o RERERFMERMEXRSERK

FEERNIIMIEFRERE  BERFHEA
BXPrz sl HEEBRD25%M
PHARTERE -

BREBEAATRARNAZENUARME
EFRF A ABRBEEFERN—EHEST
RD25%KRIMNHARFTREEK



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26. BANK BORROWINGS

In May 2020, the Group’s wholly-owned UK based subsidiary
obtained bank borrowings through the Bounce Back
Loan Scheme launched by the Government of the UK,
which was designed to support small and medium-sized
businesses affected by COVID-19. The Government of the
UK guarantees 100% of the bank borrowings. There is no
repayments and interest charges in the first twelve months
of the bank borrowings. The bank borrowings, which is
denominated in GBP, is unsecured, interest bearing at 2.5%
per annum for the following five years and repayable in May
2026.

The amounts payable based on the maturity terms of the
bank loan is analysed as follows:

e MBRRMEE

26. SRITIBE

NZEZETFRA  AEBUREEB
2 EM B A B E B H 5B AT H
TEE#ERtEI(Bounce Back Loan
Scheme)BRRITEE FEEEZ/H=
2019 8RR B R ZR /N b H
BT %A ZERITEEIRBEEEEE R
ERRTEENE T @R ILEERK
MNEER BRRTEENRGEE B
EIRH HBEAFRFMNE2 5% 8
TWER S NERREER-

RIFRITERN AR RIB DA
LI

2024 2023
k- Jed 1 3 e
Us$’'000 Us$'000
FEr F=E57T
Within one year —FR 8 8
More than one year, but not exceeding £ —F B BB M E
two years 3 8
More than two years, but not exceeding ZIMEEFBEAE
five years = 4
1 20
Less: Amount due for BT ZEARR
settlement within 12 months I HAEN Z I8
(shown under current G REa’d
liabilities) HT) (® 8)
Amount due for settlement after +ZEBBIHBEN 2B
12 months 3 12
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMEE

27. SHAREHOLDER'’S LOANS 27. REREMR

2024 2023
—EME TERT=F
Us$'000 Us$'000
FEx FE5T
Loans from Galloway (unsecured) K B Gallowayz Bt GEIEIR) 2,570 -

Shareholder’s loans are repayable as REERNERAOT !

follows:

Within one year —FR 2,000 -
Within one to two years —FEMFNR 570 -
2,570 -

The movements in shareholder’s loans during the year are set

REEMZFREHEHEIINMT :

out below:

2024 2023

—E-mE BT

Us$'000 Us$'000

FET FE7T

At 1 January »—A—H - 13,402
Loan advanced from shareholder REBNER 2,825 =
Repayment TaRIE (255) -
Interest expense (note 7) FIEREZ (f5E7) 71 21
Interest payable FEF] S (71) 21)
Set Off (note 34(a)) 1R (FIEE34()) - (13,402)
At 31 December n+—B=+—H 2,570 -

On 27 March 2024, the Company entered into a loan
agreement with Galloway which made available to the
Company a US$ loan facility in an aggregate amount of
US$2,000,000. The shareholder’s loans were unsecured,
interest bearing at 8% per annum and repayable on 27
September 2025. As at 31 December 2024, the shareholder’s
loans amounting to US$2,000,000 were drawn down from
Galloway. On 20 March 2025, Galloway has agreed to
extend the repayment of the loan of US$2,000,000 and
agreed not to demand repayment of the loan on maturity
date until the Company is in a position to repay.

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R A F ¥ EEEBERAE

RIEBE_NE=RA_++tH A AFH
Galloways] Y EM = A AT IRMHE
#8%8732,000,000E T ETTERRAE ©
REERBRIET RFFE8% B
WER_ZE_HAFNAEZ+LtHEE
A TCEBE_NE+_HA=+—H B8
Galloway#2 BY f% 5 &7 2,000,000 T ©
R-ZE_HE=F_+H > GallowayE [
RIER2,000,000E T ERWIERAR > 0
FBERIPEHAEREEER O BEER
REBRENEEEMR AL



27.

28.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHAREHOLDER'S LOANS (conTINUED)

On 19 November 2024, the Company entered into another
loan agreement with Galloway which made available to the
Company an additional US$ loan facility in an aggregate
amount of US$1,000,000. The loans were unsecured,
interest bearing at 12% per annum and repayable on 18
May 2026. As at 31 December 2024, the shareholder’s
loans amounting to US$570,000 were drawn down from
Galloway.

LEASE LIABILITIES

Undiscounted minimum
lease payments

e MBRRMEE

27. REREH @

RIZEZWNF+—A+hnH xARH
Galloways] I B — M BEMH=E > AEQ
Bl1R {48384 1,000,0003 STV BB SN E TT
ERmME ZEENERIET BERE
2% E WBR_E_XEFHAA TN
HEE-RZZZMHE+ZA=+—H"
B BGallowaylg BNIR R E#570,0003%
e

28. THE&E

Present value of
minimum lease payments

KGR REHAERHE RIEAERIEZRE
2024 2023 2024 2023
—EomE —“TC=fF ZEZNE T =F
Us$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
FErx FET FER FET
Within one year —EEW 519 523 468 422
In the second to fifth years, “EERF (B
inclusive E%ﬁﬁ@ 295 812 289 753
814 1,335 757 1,175
Less: Future finance charges 78 : KRR B & (57) (160) - -
Present value of lease HESERE
obligations 757 1,175 757 1,175
Less: Amount due for AR+ ZEAR
settlement within 12 months ~ EJERE [ 2 318
(shown under current @GR REaE
liabilities) BT (468) (422)
Amount due for settlement + BB B EEERN
after 12 months A 289 753

The incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities
range from approximately 10.6% to 12.4% (2023: 10.6% to

12.4%) per annum.

All finance lease payables are denominated in HK$.

HECEEANEEEENENEESE
#4910.6%F12.4% (ZE-=4% :10.6%
E12.4%) ©

FREMEBEEERARES BT E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMEE

29. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The following are the deferred tax liabilities recognised by the
Group.

29. IRIETRIBEE(E

UTRAEREDZIELERESE-

Fair value adjustments on
recognition of intangible asset
arising from the acquisition of

subsidiaries
2B E AR FREEZ
BEEEZAREERAR
2024 2023
—E-ME B
Us$'000 Us$'000
FEx FE7x
At 1 January »—A—H - 5,387
Credit in respect of amortisation of MEBEEEZ#IH
intangible assets (note) e (5D - (5,176)
Credit in respect of amortisation of MEEEEREBEEIEZ
impairment loss of an intangible asset  ##H 2 I % - 211)
Credit to profit or loss for the year FAFTAER ([H5E8)
(note 8) - (5,387)
At 31 December R+ZRA=+—H - =S

Note:

The amount credited to profit or loss relates to the amortisation
of intangible assets of the patent (Fortacin™) and the IP (Deep
Longevity) for the year ended 31 December 2023.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax
losses of approximately US$118,764,000 (2023: approximately
US$118,683,000) available for offsetting against future profits. No
deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of the unused
tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. The
tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

206 REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED Bl &R K F¥ ERBEMRAF

GEE

STABR ZRIBEB R (Fortacin™) K & # 2=
#(Deep LongevityyREE_Z_=F+_4
=t+—HIEEEZEFEE#REER-

RBESHX 2EEBBEAPTHEANEEEY
118,764,000 7T (ZZT - = : £9118,683,000
%E70) AR HRACET) o R A TRRIR AR

FER > AR RBBNEBE

REE - RIAHKEFEEBREE-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

Obligation to pay Long Service Payment (“LSP")
under Hong Kong Employment Ordinance (Chapter
57)

Hong Kong employees that have been employed
continuously for at least five years are entitled to long service
payments in accordance with the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance under certain circumstances. These circumstances
include where an employee is dismissed for reasons other
than serious misconduct or redundancy, that employee
resigns at the age of 65 or above, or the employment
contract is of fixed term and expires without renewal. The
amount of LSP payable is determined with reference to the
employee’s final salary (capped at HK$22,500) and the years
of service, reduced by the amount of any accrued benefits
derived from the Group's contributions to a Mandatory
Provident Fund scheme (the “MPF Scheme"”), with an overall
cap of HK$390,000 per employee. Currently, the Group does
not have any separate funding arrangement in place to meet
its LSP obligation.

In June 2022, the Government gazetted the Amendment
Ordinance, which abolishes the use of the accrued benefits
derived from employers’ mandatory MPF contributions
to offset the LSP. The Abolition will officially take effect
on the Transition Date (i.e., 1 May 2025). Separately, the
Government of the HKSAR is also expected to introduce a
subsidy scheme to assist employers for a period of 25 years
after the transition date on the LSP payable by employers up
to a certain amount per employee per year.

Under the Amendment Ordinance, the Group’s mandatory
MPF contributions, plus/minus any positive/negative returns,
after the transition date can continue to be applied to offset
the pre-transition date LSP obligation but are not eligible to
offset the post-transition date LSP obligation. Furthermore,
the LSP obligation before the transition date will be
grandfathered and calculated based on the last monthly
wages immediately preceding the transition date and the
years of service up to that date.

As at 31 December 2024, provision for long services
payment amounted to US$125,000 (2023: US$116,000)
is included in accruals and other payables. The current
service cost and net interest expense of US$8,000
(2023: US$14,000) for the year ended 31 December
2024 are included in the employee benefits expenses in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

30.

e MBRRMEE

BAENRE

RIESEEREER (B57%) ZIARIMR
HE ((REARBE)) R

RESBREREEN RETERT  B2&
SEEVEFNEAEEEEENERN
REEZ -ZEBREE  BEERBRERS
TARHEELUMNNRRAWEE; BERN
65 WU LB ; EENREBEN
B B REABES B RERIR
BeMeRIK2ERENREHE (L
fR%22,5008 ) MRFFREBET >
WA ERERFIEATBEE (T34
B HRFMELENTAESER
25> SR EEMNER FRA390,000%8
o HR AEBTBEIMAEBNESR
HBRTERBRZESER-

TEZTERNB BN AMETTERG
EEf B Foatl e HANEE
AR RIARBE ML - BN B
ERR G _E-_HFFERBA—H) EX4E
o lbsh > EEFRITREBFE NG
BB ERKEE —B/mALETE
NERFIFrSFEABLEEZNIAEA
—ERBENEHRR®E S

RBIESTIRG) > REEEE HARATS
HMRBESHEI ML REEMEES
B[R > Al A8 A IR B K B B AT AY
REARBEHERS ETERNIEHES
BB RARGTEZMNER LI 1B
EARRNERHRRBENEBREFRE
WEREZEEARMNREBHREE
ZBBRBERH -

RIZEZNF+ZB=+—H EHRH
S EMESEE125,000E T (CE-_=
116,000 7T) EnJr)\FEDJrﬁETA&EﬂﬂFE
TRE-HEE_SE_WE+_HB=1+—H
IEFEERENEARS A A KA S 358
8,0003 75 (Z&F =4 : 14,000%7T) E
ARG ERAAMERREERNES
A Ao
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30. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continuep)

Pensions - defined contribution plans

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement
plans which are available for eligible employees in Hong
Kong and the UK.

The Group operates the MPF Scheme under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the
laws of Hong Kong) for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of Hong Kong Employment Ordinance (Chapter
57 of the laws of Hong Kong). The MPF Scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and the
employees are each required to make contributions to the
plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a
cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.

For the Group's subsidiaries operating in the UK, pensions
to certain employees are provided through contributions to
individual personal pension plans. A defined contribution
plan is a pension plan under which the UK subsidiaries
pay fixed contributions into an independent entity. The UK
subsidiaries have no legal or constructive obligations to pay
further contributions after payment of the fixed contribution.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
Group had no forfeited contributions under the MPF Scheme
and individual personal pension plans in the UK and which
may be used by the Group to reduce the existing level of
contributions. There were also no forfeited contributions
available at 31 December 2024 and 2023 under the MPF
Scheme and individual personal pension plans in the UK
which may be used by the Group to reduce the contribution
payable in future years.

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R A F ¥ EEEBERAE

30.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RR M

BAREANEE®
BAE—ERAMRETE

FEEABBRADEERBAIEE
BIAUR MBI

REBRBEB EHF485Z @6 ER
BEFERNAZTERBEMANETESD
BEBEAIEEZAZIRETEZEER
RUBBEHE  REETE A —HA
BUSZEAEENEREABRICRASE o
RiERBESHE BEEREEHYAG
EEHEF HREARBREBFRABAZ
5% S ABRUIA LIR%A30,000%

I ©

MEEENAEEEZWBATMES
mETREEXNZERAREHEBARMEA
BRNE TR R M - EBRBREE S
—ERARESE B RERBAT G
BB R TEE R REMELRT
M EEHRE L 82 &P %
ZERNIEEEE-

RB&EE_Z_NFR-_ZT_=ZF+_A8
=+ —HIEFE AEERLEA AR
BAHRTKFR ARS8 R REEA
BRATAIRMER- R T _MER"
ET-F+ A=+ R FxEETE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS

(1) Share Options

The Share Option Scheme (2016) was adopted by the
Company on 10 June 2016, followed by the grant of
listing status of Shares to be granted under the Scheme
by the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange on
10 June 2016.

(a)

()

Purpose of the Scheme

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide the
Company with a flexible means of either
retaining, incentivising, rewarding, remunerating,
compensating and/or providing benefits
to the eligible participant(s) (the “Eligible
Participant(s)”) or such other purposes as the
Directors may approve from time to time, subject
to any necessary consent or approval being
obtained from the Shareholders or any INEDs
or the Stock Exchange as required. The Scheme
may, at the discretion of the Directors, be used in
conjunction with any cash-based compensation,
incentive compensation or bonus plan.

Participants of the Scheme

The Directors may at their absolute discretion,
and subject to such terms and conditions as they
may think fit to, offer to grant to any Eligible
Participant(s) (including any Director (either
executive, non-executive or INEDs), executive,
employee, consultant or service provider (as the
Directors may think fit with reference to their
respective contribution to the Group) of the
Company or of any Subsidiary) an Option at the
option price in respect of such number of Shares
as they may determine.

e MBRRMEE

31. RiEmSERAEMREZS

(1

fRatE
BRESE (CT—7%) HERFRN

-—=
—=

—NERBTBRWM 2 BB

XA ETMEEER ZE—RERA
THRERES SR FRERDZ
Lo

(@)

(b)

g /4 =1:1)

SHEIZENAEARNTER
i B8 ~ BB ~ BB BN GH - 1
B/ HREERANTFEER
20E ((GEB2HRE) =
BEREETHALENEME
BY o 1R R R AR RIB L IF
HITESZFUMRFARENE
Al RS o 5H 8 AT 1%
ESNERESENREE
& RR) S E S TEAL 5T 8 —
BR-

a8 RE

EFT2ENBILIRERS
5045 18 B B B R R R 1
MERNEERSEE (B
TRABHERMNEARBE
HEE MITES -FRTE
ERBUFRTES) \TH
AE~EB BB ARFIR 3
BH(EFE2ERFREY
FEBNERRAIERSE
) REDEEENE @A
KRirBERHZBREBRE
RT sk
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMEE

31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

TRANSACTIONS (conTinuED)

(1) Share Options (Continued)

(c) Total Number of Shares Available for Issue

Under the Scheme

The total number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all Options to be granted under
the Scheme, when aggregated with any Shares
which may be issued upon exercise of Options to
be granted under other schemes of the Company,
shall not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as
at the commencement date of the Scheme (or
such proportion of the issued share capital of the
Company as from time to time specified in the
Listing Rules).

Accordingly, the maximum number of Shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all Options
to be granted under the Scheme shall not exceed
8,686,255 Shares, being:

(i) 10% of the total issued Shares as at the
commencement date of the Scheme (being
10 June 2016);

(i) approximately 3.80% and 3.80% of the
total issued Shares as at 31 December 2024
and the date of this report respectively; and

(i) approximately 3.66% and 3.66% of the
enlarged issued Shares as at 31 December
2024 and the date of this report respectively.

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R A F ¥ EEEBERAE

31. REmSENRMTRRES @

(1

fEhgtE @
(c) FIEIETFAIEZ{THIRIFAES

ERFEE R EH AR
REETEMAIERTZR
PR BERARBEEQTH
et B R G 2 BREETT
EMAEETZERARMNE
stER > NMIBBR St EIRE E
B8 TRHZ10% Gtk
TR AKEEZETAT
BETRAZBRLLA) -

At REBEFEFTFEREZ
FrEEREETERAIES
TZRHEE LIRAEFEBE
8,686,255 Bk 7> BP :

(i) REtEFBEBE=ZE
—RERATR BH#T
IRIDAREZ10%;

(i) PRMRIZZEZOFE+A
—t+—HEREARSHH
ZEETRHEBE YN
3.80%